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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN
DISTRICT OF GEORGIA GAINESVILLE DIVISION

FAIR FIGHT, INC., SCOTT BERSON,
JOCELYN HEREDIA, and JANE DOE,

Plaintiffs, Civil Action No.
2:20-cv-00302-SCJ
V.

TRUE THE VOTE, INC., CATHERINE
ENGELBRECHT, DEREK SOMERVILLE,
MARK DAVIS, MARK WILLIAMS, RON
JOHNSON, JAMES COOPER, and JOHN
DOES 1-10, :

Defendants.

PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiffs Fair Fight, Inc:; Scott Berson, Jocelyn Heredia, and Jane Doe file
this Motion for Summary - Judgement pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 on their sole
claim that Defendants violated Section 11(b) of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 52
U.S.C. § 10307(b). Plaintiffs submit that there are no genuine issues of material fact
and Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The basis for the motion is
more fully set forth in the accompanying Statement of Material Facts and Brief in

Support of Summary Judgment.

Respectfully submitted, this 16th day of May, 2022.
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Since Reconstruction, opportunistic political groups and their affiliates have
raised the specter of “voter fraud” to suppress votes and subvert elections.
Regrettably, the 2020 election cycle added yet another chapter to this familiar story:
True the Vote, a Texas organization trumpeting baseless claims of voter fraud—
while banking millions of dollars—embarked on a nationwide scheme involving
frivolous lawsuits and legal challenges against voters in-Georgia and elsewhere, in
a Hail Mary attempt to change the outcome of the presidential and Georgia runoff
election in favor of Republicans. But the timing of these efforts and the absence of
supporting evidence makes plain they could achieve no lawful objective; they
operated solely to intimidate and harass voters.

A.  True the Vote’s “Validate the Vote” initiative originated from a
scheme to everturn the presidential election results.

Just two days after the 2020 general election, a donor paid True the Vote $2
million to assist in overturning election results. Statement of Undisputed Material
Fact (“SUMF”) 4] 44. True the Vote proposed to achieve this goal through a national
scheme it called “Validate the Vote.” SUMF 949 45-46. Specifically, True the Vote

and its founder, Catherine Engelbrecht,' created a funding proposal that outlined an

! True the Vote and its founder and current president, Catherine Engelbrecht, are
referred to collectively as “True the Vote” unless otherwise specified.

1
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imaginary “[p]roblem” of “Democrat officials” committing “deliberate election
fraud” and “counting illegal votes,” and proposed a solution that would involve True
the Vote filing lawsuits around the country to “nullify the results of” targeted states’
elections—including Georgia’s—"“so that the Presidential Electors c[ould] be
selected in a special election or by the state legislature.” SUMF 9 46. Engelbrecht
even suggested that she had been coordinating efforts with the Trump team, and that
the campaign would pay some of True the Vote’s fees. SUMF 9§ 48.

B. The Validate the Vote scheme transitioned from the presidential
election to the Georgia runoff election.

True the Vote’s scheme to overturn the presidential election failed because it
was unable to produce concrete evidence of voter fraud, even after its funder
repeatedly implored the organization to provide specific evidence. SUMF q 53.
Rather than subject the crganization’s entirely baseless claims to judicial scrutiny,
True the Vote abruptly dismissed all four of its federal court lawsuits challenging
the presidential results (just days after filing them), and turned its “attention([] . . .

towards Georgia” for the Senate runoffs, where it launched its attacks against
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citizens directly; “Validate the Vote” became “Validate the Vote Georgia.” SUMF
9552

To implement “Validate the Vote Georgia,” True the Vote offered a $1 million
“bounty” for reports of voter fraud, SUMF 99 145-148, recruited Navy SEALS to
confront voters and poll workers, SUMF 99 150-151, and, with the help of individual
Defendants and state Republican Party officials, launched the largest mass challenge
effort in Georgia history, targeting hundreds of thousands of voters just two weeks
before the January 2021 runoff election. SUMF 49 58-59, 61. These challenges relied
on data from the U.S. Postal Service’s National Change of Address database
(“NCOA”) and effectively accused every voter who had filed a request to forward
their mail to a different address ‘over the past several years of being unlawfully
registered. SUMF 49 60-61..

But much like True the Vote’s frivolous lawsuits to overturn the presidential
election, Defendants knew their “evidence” was thin from the get-go. True the Vote

admitted it had no way of knowing whether voters who had filed a change of address

% True the Vote’s funder, Fred Eshelman, would eventually sue the organization,
defense counsel James Bopp, the Bopp Law Firm, OpSec, and Gregg Phillips for
breach of contract, fraudulent misrepresentation, and conversion. Eshelman alleged
that True the Vote misspent his donation on efforts he never agreed to fund, like the
“largely baseless challenges to the eligibility of hundreds of thousands of voters in
the 2021 Georgia Senate runoffs.” SUMF n.2.

3
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had moved away permanently, or just temporarily. SUMF 94 69-71. And when one
of True the Vote’s challengers in Taliaferro County opted to investigate further, he
found a list populated with eligible, lawful residents; he was so aghast that he
demanded the challenges be withdrawn. SUMF 99 112-116.

What the Taliaferro County challenger discovered was no one-off problem:
True the Vote prepared its bloated challenge lists as part of their plan to “build
momentum through broad publicity” and “galvanize Republican” support at the
expense of accuracy. SUMF 99 46, 130. Its chailenge lists were riddled with
substantial, obvious errors that would have given pause to anyone remotely
interested in accuracy. Missing data and missing values in key fields suggest that
some voters were misidentified; thousands of entries reported voter addresses near
or on military installations @nd in municipalities with universities, which strongly
suggests that their address changes were temporary (i.e. to attend college or for
military service). SUMF 49 80-104. And the list of problems only goes on. See infra
§ [.LB.1.a.

C. Validate the Vote violated federal law.

Perhaps the most obvious flaw of True the Vote’s scheme is that it asked
county officials to violate well-established federal law. The National Voter

Registration Act (“NVRA”) makes clear that voters cannot be removed from the
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registration rolls and prevented from voting based on a change of address alone
unless the following preconditions are met: either (1) the voter has confirmed in
writing that their residence has changed, or (2) the voter has both failed to respond
to a notice about their change of address and has not voted or appeared to vote in the
last two general elections. See 52 U.S.C. § 20507(d)(1); see also TRO Order at 11-
13, ECF No. 29 (rejecting Defendants’ attempts to distinguish challenges to a voter’s
eligibility from challenges to a voter’s registration).

The NVRA also prohibits states from conducting “any program the purpose
of which is to systematically remove the names of ineligible voters from the official
lists of eligible voters.” 52 U.S.C.-§20507(c)(2)(A). Defendants’ challenges,
however, would have required county officials to do just that, within two weeks of
the runoff election. O.C.G. A § 21-2-230(h) (requiring that “the challenged elector’s
name shall be removed” from the rolls if the challenged is based on the elector’s
qualifications to remain on the “list of electors”). Given the last-minute nature of
Defendants’ launch, they could not have expected the counties to complete the
procedures mandated by federal law—or even to adjudicate each challenge—in time

for the runoff election.



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 11 of 43

D. Defendants’ scheme intimidated Georgia voters.

Defendants’ scheme could achieve no lawful objective in the two-and-a-half-
week period between True the Vote’s public announcement of their mass challenges
and the January 2021 runoff. It was supported not by evidence or law, but rather
True the Vote’s and its donor’s desire to influence election outcomes. By True the
Vote’s admission, the evidence-free allegations of fraud in the Validate the Vote
scheme were written “as a promotional piece,” to buiid public momentum and
galvanize support; the truth was irrelevant. SUMF 994134, 138. And election officials
could not possibly have conducted hearings on approximately 366,000 voter
challenges in two weeks. Thus, the only plausible outcome of Defendants’
challenges and election-subversicn activities is voter harassment and intimidation.

That is precisely what happened as the challenges unfolded and voters were
informed that their eligibility was in question. Plaintiffs and other voters expressed
feelings of fear, anxiety, and in some cases apprehension about voting in future
elections. SUMF 9| 152-174. And Plaintiff Fair Fight, a political action committee
dedicated to securing the voting rights of Georgians, was forced to divert resources
from its get-out-the-vote activities to monitoring Defendants’ challenges and

assisting voters to respond, including by attending Board of Elections hearings on
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the challenges, expending financial and staffing resources to collect and analyze
challenge lists, and assisting voters who had been challenged. SUMF q 1-19.

True the Vote’s actions during the 2021 runoff election are textbook examples
of voter intimidation. As Dr. Vernon Burton, a historian with expertise in civil rights
and the American South, has explained, mass challenges “[g]rounded on
unsubstantiated claims of voter fraud” and “the pretext of purifying elections”
feature prominently in Georgia’s well-documented history of voter suppression and
discrimination in voting. SUMF q 154 & n.9. In‘fact, voter challenge laws were
historically designed to disenfranchise Black voters and were applied with
devastating effect. SUMF 9§ 154 & 1.9. Defendants’ coordinated campaign of
frivolous mass challenges, false accusations of fraudulent conduct, and
encouragement of harassment of voters and election officials are common tools of
voter intimidation and suppression. SUMF q 154 & n.9.

Section 11(b) of the Voting Rights Act (“VRA”) empowers courts to protect
citizens from these types of sweeping attacks, which are objectively likely to
intimidate voters. The undisputed evidence demonstrates that Defendants’ mass
elector challenges and other elements of the Validate the Vote program have
intimidated Georgia voters, and will continue to threaten lawful voters with

disenfranchisement, harassment, and fear of legal repercussions absent judicial relief
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to ensure that Georgians can fully and freely participate in the electoral process. The
Court should grant Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment.

LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material
fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P.
56. The moving party bears the initial burden, but it need not disprove the opposing
party’s claims. Instead, the moving party may point out the absence of evidence to
support the non-moving party’s case. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325
(1986); Marion v. DeKalb Cnty., 821 F. Supp. 685, 687 (N.D. Ga. 1993). In
defending its claims, the non-moving party must do “more than simply show that
there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts.” Matsushita Elec. Indus.
Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986). The non-moving party “must
come forward with significant, probative evidence demonstrating the existence of a
triable issue of fact.” Irby v. Bittick, 44 F.3d 949, 953 (11th Cir. 1995).

ARGUMENT

Section 11(b) of the VRA prohibits all actions or attempts to “intimidate,
threaten, or coerce” any person “for voting or attempting to vote.” 52 U.S.C. §
10307(b). These expansive protections for voters reflect the VRA’s “ambitious aims

of encouraging true enforcement of the Fifteenth Amendment’s promise of
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unencumbered access” to the franchise. Nat’l Coal. on Black Civic Participation v.
Wohl (“Wohl I’’), 498 F. Supp. 3d 457,476 (S.D.N.Y. 2020). The law targets actions
that make voters “timid or fearful,” or that “inspire or affect with fear,” or “threaten”
through “promise [of] punishment, reprisal, or other distress,” regardless of the
perpetrator’s subjective intent. Nat’l Coal. on Black Civic Participation v. Wohl
(“Wohl IT”), 512 F. Supp. 3d 500, 509 (S.D.N.Y. 2021) (quoting United States v.
Piervinanzi, 23 F.3d 670, 677 (2d Cir. 1994)).

Threats or intimidation, moreover, can appear in several forms, and subtler,
nonviolent voter-related harm can give rise tora Section 11(b) violation. TRO Order
at 22; Wohl I, 498 F. Supp. 3d at 477, For instance, “[c]onduct that ‘put[s] [an
individual] in fear of harassment and interference with their right to vote’ is
“sufficient to support [a] § ¥i(b) claim.”” Wohl II, 512 F. Supp. 3d at 509 (citation
omitted). Similarly, accusing voters of criminal conduct or suggesting that they are
otherwise ineligible to vote also likely violates Section 11(b). League of United Latin
Am. Citizens - Richmond Region Council 4614 v. Pub. Int. Legal Found. (“LULAC”),
No. 1:18-CV-00423, 2018 WL 3848404, at *4 (E.D. Va. Aug. 13, 2018). The same
1s true of “actions or communications that inspire fear of economic harm, . . . privacy

violations, and even surveillance,” all of which “constitute unlawful threats or

intimidation under the statute.” Wohl II, 512 F. Supp. 3d. at 509.
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Additionally, actors are “presumed to have intended the natural consequences
of [their] deeds” because “[f]requently the most probative evidence” of what an actor
intended to do is “objective evidence of what actually happened.” Washington v.
Davis, 426 U.S. 229, 253 (1976) (Stevens, J., concurring). Thus, as to voter
intimidation, courts will consider “[d]efendants’ prior conduct and expressed goals,”
taken together with the context of those actions, to identify whether the natural
outcome of those actions is voter intimidation. Wohl I, 458 F. Supp. 3d at 485.

True the Vote’s coordination, execution, and promotion of the largest mass
challenge effort in Georgia history, and the accompanying elements of its Validate
the Vote scheme—including its “bounty-on fraud” and recruitment of former Navy
SEALs to patrol polling stations—fall squarely within the categories of conduct
proscribed by Section 11(b)."Unrefuted testimony from impacted voters confirm that
Defendants’ actions were highly likely to (and did in fact) “intimidate or threaten”
individuals for attempting to vote, in violation of the VRA. Thus, Plaintiffs are

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

I. Defendants engaged in voter intimidation through True the Vote’s
“Validate the Vote” scheme and Ilandmark “Georgia Elector
Challenges.”

Defendants’ actions violate Section 11(b)’s objective test several times over.

For one, their mass challenges directly accused hundreds of thousands of voters of

10
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unlawful activity in a manner reasonably likely to put them in fear of adverse legal
consequences. These allegations were frivolous as demonstrated by numerous,
obvious flaws in True the Vote’s methodology. Nevertheless, consistent with the
“Validate the Vote” scheme, True the Vote pressed forward and publicized its false
accusations in order to build public momentum and galvanize support—particularly
from Republican officials—for unfounded claims of widespread fraud, in a cynical
attempt to undermine the 2020 presidential and January 2021 runoff elections. The
serious allegations lodged against the individual Plaintiffs, along with the 250,000-
plus Georgia voters named in these challenges, intimidated and discouraged eligible
citizens, and will continue to do so in firture elections absent injunctive relief.

A. True the Vote’s ‘“Validate the Vote” program was originally
hatched to overturn the presidential election results.

“Validate the Vote,” the name given to True the Vote’s election subversion
scheme, was launched two days after the November 2020 general election, when
Republican donor Fred Eshelman enlisted True the Vote’s assistance in overturning
the presidential election results in exchange for several million dollars. SUMF 9] 44.
In response, True the Vote prepared a proposal titled “Validate the Vote 2020.”
SUMF 9 45-46. The plan was to highlight the purported counting of “illegal ballots

... in Democrat counties,” which True the Vote claimed was the “result of Democrat

11
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officials [sic] refusal to obey state election laws and counting illegal votes.” SUMF
9 46.

Of course, True the Vote now admits that it did not have any evidence that
this “problem” actually existed. When asked whether True the Vote had evidence
supporting these claims, Ms. Engelbrecht (the organization’s founder, current
president, and Rule 30(b)(6) witness) said: “No, this was a promotional piece that
was written.” SUMF ¢ 49. Nor would Ms. Engelbrecht explain why True the Vote
sought to challenge the results of only the presidential election, even though the
“problem” she identified would affect all ballsts, including races won by Republican
candidates. SUMF 9 49. But her own communications reveal that she was
coordinating efforts with the Trmuimp campaign and even believed at one point that
the campaign would pay Trtc the Vote’s legal fees. SUMF 4] 48.

True the Vote nevertheless launched a comprehensive effort to gin up
evidence of voter fraud in Georgia and several other “targeted states,” with the
ultimate goal of forcing a “special election” where state legislatures, rather than
voters, would select presidential electors, or the next president would be selected

“by the U.S. House of Representatives.” SUMF 49 45-46.

12
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The first step of this scheme was to initiate “federal civil rights lawsuit[s]” in
four “targeted states,” including Georgia.> See Compl., Brooks v. Mahoney, No.
4:20-cv-00281 (S.D. Ga. Nov. 11, 2020), ECF No. 1. In all four complaints, True
the Vote promised to deliver evidence of “illegal votes” by “ineligible voters,” and
sought to overturn each state’s election results. See, e.g., id. 4 45. The lawsuits
specifically foreshadowed “sophisticated and groundbreaking analysis” using,
among other tools “United States Postal Service records”-—the same type of records
True the Vote would use to challenge the voting rights of hundreds of thousands of
Georgia residents. See, e.g., id. And the complaints threw in a raft of radical,
evidence-free claims for good measure.“in the Georgia case, for instance, True the
Vote alleged that over 73,000 “votes were cast for Joe Biden in Georgia by
noncitizens,” id. § 41, a clait that similarly lacked any evidentiary support.

But True the Vote never mustered any proof of ineligible voting in any of the
lawsuits it filed, despite repeated requests from its funder, Eshelman, imploring the
organization to provide “real evidence” supporting their accusations. SUMF 4] 53.
Instead, True the Vote voluntarily dismissed all four cases just days after filing,
prompting its funder to later file his own lawsuit accusing True the Vote of

fraudulently inducing his donation and ultimately using it—not for the presidential

3 True the Vote also filed lawsuits in Michigan, Wisconsin, and Pennsylvania.
13
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challenges as originally earmarked—but to support “largely baseless challenges to
the eligibility of hundreds of thousands of voters in the 2021 Georgia Senate

runoffs.” SUMF n.2.

B.  After its failed attempt to overturn the presidential election results,
True the Vote targeted Georgia’s runoff election.

Following dismissal of True the Vote’s frivolous “election fraud” lawsuits,
True the Vote focused its attention on the runoff election. “Validate the Vote”
became “Validate the Vote Georgia”: True the Vote “simply took the logo and put
the word ‘Georgia’ in the center” but all key elements of the national plan remained.
SUMEF 94 55. To execute this plan, True the Vote enlisted OpSec Group and its
founder Gregg Phillips, who gained national notoriety after the 2016 presidential
election when he claimed, without any basis, that more than three million votes were
cast by non-citizens. SUMF 9 79.* True the Vote also recruited Defendants Mark

Davis and Derek Somerville to serve as collaborators. SUMF 49 58-59. The U.S.

* In direct contravention of this Court’s December 22, 2021 Order that “Defense
Counsel shall not instruct individual and Rule 30(b)(6) witnesses to not answer
questions absent compliance with applicable discovery rules and law”—an Order
that was necessary after Defense Counsel repeatedly violated this rule during other
depositions in this case—Defense Counsel instructed Mr. Phillips not to answer
questions about his 2016 claims. Dec. 22 Order at 2, ECF No. 142; OpSec Tr. 42:3—
44:19. Because these claims predated OpSec’s creation in 2020, they were
necessarily asked in Mr. Phillips’s individual capacity. See Ex. 45, G. Phillips Dep.
Notice.
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Postal Service records that True the Vote alluded to in its prior lawsuits, but failed
to show the courts, became the basis for a slapdash elector challenge effort in which
True the Vote would accuse several hundred thousand Georgians of being registered
illegally.

C. Frivolous challenges and false accusations of unlawful conduct
intimidate voters.

This Court previously recognized that the frivolity of Defendants’ accusations
challenging the eligibility of Georgians to vote “may tend to support Plaintiffs’
contentions that these challenges result only in voier harassment and intimidation.”
TRO Order at 28 (emphasis added). The record establishes that not only were the
elector challenges frivolous as a legal ' matter, but the challenge lists were so hastily
and carelessly constructed that widespread errors were inevitable and obvious.

Undisputed evidence shows that True the Vote knew its challenge lists were
inaccurate and included individuals who were properly registered. SUMF § 66. It
also knew that its challenges would burden registrants. SUMF 9 66. And yet True
the Vote took virtually no precautions to minimize the number of eligible voters on
their challenge lists. It was thus entirely foreseeable that eligible voters would be
included in the challenge lists, would feel intimidated upon receipt of formal notice,
and would reluctantly decide in the future that the safer course may be not to vote at

all. SUMF 99 172-174; Democratic Nat’l Comm. v. Republican Nat’l Comm., 671
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F. Supp. 2d 575, 612 (D.N.J. 2009) (concluding challenged voters “may choose to
refrain from voting rather than wait for the qualifications of those ahead of them to
be verified, especially if the verification becomes confrontational™), aff’d, 673 F.3d
192 (3d Cir. 2012).

1. NCOA data cannot determine eligibility to vote.

A foundational problem with Defendants’ challenges is that they were
constructed from attempts to match the state voter registraiion records to NCOA data
showing individuals who have asked the Postal Seivice to forward their mail to a
different address. SUMF q 60-61. As Defendasts admit, individuals who submit an
NCOA request do not forfeit their eligibility to vote in their home jurisdiction.
SUMEF 99 69- 71. Thus, residency-<based voter challenges “are per se, that is, on their
face, insufficient to cancel an elector’s registration.” Mont. Democratic Party v.
Eaton, 581 F. Supp. 2d 1077 (D. Mont. 2008).

Having started from the false premise that a voter’s eligibility can be
determined from NCOA data alone, Defendants’ search for Georgia voters in the
NCOA registry was disastrously fraught with incredibly poor methodology. Even
OpSec acknowledges that “the import of verifying identity can’t be overstated in this
case.” SUMF ¢ 85. Yet Defendants made no serious effort to do so. Their sloppy,

haphazard attempt to match inadequate and incomplete data fields with no
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meaningful quality control produced exactly what one would expect: a bloated
challenge file rife with errors. Dr. Mayer’s unrefuted expert report reviewed the
challenge file and identified multiple critical errors for which Defendants are unable
to provide any justification. SUMF 9 80-125.

2. Improper matching that misidentified voters.

The databases that True the Vote used to construct its challenge lists do not
allow for foolproof matching. The public voter file that:OpSec relied on includes
only one unique identifier—the voter registration nurnber—for each registered voter.
SUMEF q 81. The file does not include any other potential unique identifiers, such as
social security numbers or driver’s license numbers. SUMF q 81. Instead, the voter
file lists a person’s name, address, birth year, race, gender, registration date, and date
last voted—none of which isnecessarily exclusive to any one person. SUMF ¢ 81.
The NCOA registry, in turn, does not include an individual’s voter registration
number or any other unique identifier. SUMF 9§ 82. Thus, the only common fields
between the voter file and NCOA registry are a person’s name and address, which
cannot—and certainly did not—dependably identify a unique individual. SUMF
82Thus, even if True the Vote had exactly matched all common fields between the

voter file and the NCOA registry, its challenge list still would have been unreliable
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because there is nothing to ensure proper reconciliation across these files to establish
non-residency.

But True the Vote did not even do that much. Instead, it settled for partial
matches between the files. SUMF 9 83. For example, OpSec accepted purported
matches where individuals in the voter file and NCOA registry with the same first
and last names had different middle initials or different name suffixes (e.g., Jr. or
Sr.). SUMF 9 83. And OpSec did not even care to investigate how frequently this
was occurring. SUMF ¢ 83. True the Vote’s challenge file is also missing several
sources of identification found in the State’s voter registration records, including
middle name or middle initial, maidenname, suffix, or birth year, which are critical
when matching individual records from one database to another. SUMF ¢ 86.
Instead, the only fields thatappear to have been matched between the voter file and
the NCOA registry are first name, last name, and address. SUMF 9§ 86. Because
name and address combinations are far from unique in the voter file, this resulted in
obvious errors and false matches, SUMF q 87, with a disproportionate racial impact:
Black voters comprise 27.3% of all individuals in the challenge file, but 40.3% of
instances in which a single NCOA entry matched to multiple voter registration
records. SUMF ¢ 88.

True the Vote and OpSec refused to provide more than vagaries about what,
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if anything, they did to reduce these and other errors. SUMF ¢ 84.

3. Voters on the challenge lists were already registered at their
new address or had not moved at all.

Dr. Mayer found at least five individuals whose registration address and
“moved to” address in True the Vote’s challenge file are identical, meaning that the
voter had not moved at all. SUMF 49 89-90. Mr. Phillips admitted that he knew these
errors were in the challenge file and that they should have been removed—and yet
they were not. SUMF 9 89. Mr. Phillips also admitted that he knew voter
registrations remain valid where a voter moves within the same county, SUMF 9§ 97,
and yet Dr. Mayer found 145 examples whete a challenged individual’s registration
address and “moved to” address were in the same county. SUMF ] 98.

Dr. Mayer also found 6,377 entries where individuals had re-registered at their
new address—where they were challenged for having moved to. In other words,
True the Vote inexplicably challenged the eligibility of voters who were registered
at the very address that True the Vote alleged to be their new home. SUMF 9 99. Mr.
Phillips testified that True the Vote’s approach to this issue was to throw up their
hands and make it someone else’s problem: “[Reviewing for this error] was beyond
our capacity so in that case what we would say is submit the challenge and let the

county figure it out.” SUMF ¢ 123.
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4. Voters on the challenged lists lived near or on military
installations.

Defendants knew that Georgia residents who relocate temporarily for military
service remain eligible to vote in Georgia. SUMF ¢ 105. Indeed, the only consistent
explanation Defendants have provided about how they refined the accuracy of their
challenge file is their claim to have removed military voters. SUMF q 105. And yet,
Dr. Mayer found 22,956 challenged voters who, according to True the Vote’s
challenge file, moved to an address near a military installation, including 397
registrants who are listed as living on a military base. SUMF 9§ 106. When asked
what further analysis True the Vote performed to identify whether military voters
who moved to a base retained their eligibility to vote in Georgia, Mr. Phillips
admitted the obvious: “We didi’t.” SUMF ¢ 107.

5. Challenge lists include addresses in municipalities with
universities.

True the Vote made no attempt to remove from the challenge lists the names
of'individuals who had temporarily relocated to attend a college or university. Again,
Defendants knew that students remain eligible to vote at their home address. SUMF
4 108. Yet they did nothing to screen these individuals from the challenge file.

Dr. Mayer ultimately found 35,056 registrants in the challenge file that were

alleged to have moved to a city containing academic institutions that Georgia

20



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 26 of 43

residents regularly attend. SUMF ¢ 109. In all, 57,534 registrants in the challenge
file—22.9% of the entire list—are alleged to have moved to or near a military
installation, or to a municipality with a college or university. SUMF q 110.

6. True the Vote ignored clear warnings and evidence that its
challenge list was error prone.

True the Vote’s own recruited challenger and two of its close allies warned
the organization of obvious errors in its challenge list to no avail. In Taliaferro
County, recruited challenger Joe Martin—who was also the Chair of the Taliaferro
County Republican Party—became suspicious upon reviewing the list of 37 names
that True the Vote asked him to challenge, and asked: “[HJow did this list come
about? Where did this list come frein? Who generated the list?” SUMF q 113.°
Rather than challenge all 37 individuals on True the Vote’s Taliaferro County list,
Mr. Martin winnowed the list himself and chose to submit letters challenging only
the three registrants on the list who had requested an absentee ballot for the runoff
elections. SUMF ] 114. But Mr. Martin soon discovered that even this small subset

was faulty: the three challenged voters were all elderly individuals who either lived

> True the Vote’s regular practice was to submit challenges under a volunteer’s name
using a True the Vote email account without telling the volunteer who was being
challenged. SUMF 9 112. Mr. Martin requested the list of Taliaferro voters before
submitting the challenge.
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in Taliaferro County or maintained a homestead exemption there, and thus were
properly registered. SUMF q 115.

Upon learning this information, Mr. Martin promptly withdrew all challenges
and informed True the Vote about the problems with its challenge list: “My
experience with the True the Vote data base has not been good,” he wrote in an
email, because of “[c]oncerns with the quality of your information.” SUMF ¢ 116.
After summarizing the relevant events, he repeated again, “Impact of [] challenges.
Not good! Indicates problem with data accuracy and relevance.” SUMF ¢ 116.°
Without telling Mr. Martin it was doing so, True the Vote nonetheless challenged all
37 individuals in the Taliaferro County challenge list under Mr. Martin’s signature,
SUMEF 9 117-118, and was subsequently forced to withdraw these challenges in
response to complaints fronyMr. Martin.

Defendant Mark Davis gave further warnings. While generally supportive of
challenge efforts, Davis “took exception” with True the Vote’s challenge
methodology. SUMF 9§ 120. A smaller, more focused list, Mr. Davis believed, would
have been “more legitimate.” SUMF 9 120. But True the Vote insisted on “including

as many records as possible [in its] challenge.” SUMF q] 121.

6 Notably, Mr. Martin—the only challenger who requested to see the list of
individuals to be challenged in his county—was also the one challenger to request
that his challenges be withdrawn. SUMF n.6.
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Regrettably, Mr. Davis created his own challenge file of nearly 40,000
registrants and failed to heed his own advice by neglecting to perform any other
review of his NCOA match to remove college students or other potentially eligible
voters. SUMF 99 122, 124. While Mr. Davis and True the Vote were each
disinterested in the problems with their own challenge lists, they had no trouble
recognizing the flaws in each other’s. Mr. Phillips (True the Vote’s analyst)
specifically criticized Mr. Davis’s approach for failing to verify the identity of
individuals on the voter rolls before matching tc_the NCOA. SUMF § 125. His
assessment of Mr. Davis’s list was blunt: “This is bad process.” SUMF  125.7

D. True the Vote’s Validate the Vote scheme created an atmosphere
of intimidation.

Apart from its frivolous voter challenges, True the Vote announced—just over
two weeks before the ruiioff election—that the Validate the Vote scheme it had
adapted to Georgia was “the most comprehensive ballot security effort in Georgia

history.” Dec. 15 Press Release. The scheme involved offering “bounties” enticing

" Immediately after Mr. Phillips made this candid admission, counsel for Defendants
went off the record over Plaintiffs’ counsel’s objection and while a question was
pending to coach the witness not so share any further criticisms of Mr. Davis’s
approach. Mid-deposition conferences between counsel and witness are not allowed
for this purpose, see Atta v. Cisco Sys., Inc., No. 1:18-cv-1558-CC-JKL, 2019 WL
12383117, at *3 (N.D. Ga. Apr. 26, 2019), and so the Court should not permit
Defendants to dispute Mr. Phillips’s view that Mr. Davis’s challenge process was
invalid and unreliable.

23



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 29 of 43

Georgians to report their fellow citizens for alleged fraud, and recruiting Navy
SEALSs to monitor polling places and insert themselves in interactions with poll
workers and voters. These actions amplified the atmosphere of intimidation that True
the Vote itself had helped to create.
1. Offering bounties on reports of fraud and recruiting former
Navy SEAL:s to patrol polling places is objectively
intimidating.

Ms. Engelbrecht was concerned that voters would not come forward with
allegations of fraud, ironically, because of th¢ atmosphere of intimidation
surrounding the election. In her own words, she was “troubled” by the intimidation
suffered by electors. SUMF 9 145. Recognizing the “chilling effect” such an
environment could have, SUMF 945, Ms. Engelbrecht decided that she needed to
“put[] a bounty on the fraud.” SUMF q 147-148. So True the Vote announced a
whistleblower fund in excess of $1 million. SUMF 9 146. But as Dr. Burton’s
unrefuted expert report explains, bounties historically have been “used to direct
suspicion around minority voters” by “incentivizing individuals to create or suspect
fraud where there may have been none.” SUMF 9§ 147. Nevertheless, Ms.
Engelbrecht promoted the bounty in press releases and on her podcast, repeating that

“Validate the Vote is about [] putting a bounty on the fraud.” SUMF 9 148.

The bounty encouraged the public to monitor fellow citizens’ voting activities,

24



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 30 of 43

which is yet another form of intimidation. The impact of such activities is readily
apparent when viewed against the backdrop of Georgia’s history of discriminatory
practices rooted in false claims of voter fraud used to disenfranchise Black citizens.
See Wohl I, 498 F. Supp. 3d at 483 & n.23 (assessing the history of discriminatory
practices implicated by the conduct in question, in assessing voter intimidation
claim); SUMF q 154 & n.9. Thus, “in context, it is not difficult to see how” True the
Vote’s monetary exchange for alleged information about voter misconduct “may
cause reasonable Black voters to resist voting out of fear.” Wohl I, 498 F. Supp. 3d
at 483; Turner Decl. 4 11.

True the Vote also promoted a plan to send former combat-trained veterans to
polling places precisely because of their intimidating presence. As Ms. Engelbrecht
described it, polling places “need[ed] people who were unafraid to call it like they
see it,” and if “[y]ou want to talk about people who understand and respect law and
order and chain of command, you get some S[EALS] in those polls,” especially so
those SEALS could “interact with voters.” SUMF 9§ 151,. Courts have long
recognized that these types of “ballot security” measures are likely to intimidate
voters, particularly racial minorities who have all too often been the target of these
schemes. As one court concluded, a Republican National Committee “ballot

security” program that involved “posting off-duty sheriffs and policemen . . . at
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polling places in minority precincts”—which for decades had been prohibited under
a consent decree—would disenfranchise even those voters whose eligibility was not
questioned. Democratic Nat’l Comm. v. Republican Nat’l Comm., 671 F. Supp. 2d
575,579, 612 (D.N.J. 2009). “Some voters—especially in minority districts where
the legacy of racism and history of clashes between the population and authorities
has given rise to a suspicion of police and other officials—may choose to refrain
from voting rather than wait for the qualifications of those ahead of them to be
verified, especially if the verification process becomes confrontational.” /d.

2. True the Vote publicly sinplified false claims and
intimidating conduct:

True the Vote’s press releases and other communications surrounding its
campaign in Georgia were designed to “[b]Juild public momentum through broad
publicity”—a tactic detailed in True the Vote’s Validate the Vote proposal—but
misrepresented facts and exaggerated its already bloated allegations of fraud for
“promotional purposes.” SUMF § 130. In its December 18, 2020 press release, for
instance, True the Vote announced that it had “partner[ed] with Georgians in every
county to preemptively challenge 364,541 potentially ineligible voters” in 159
counties. SUMF 9] 131. Like several other press releases, this one too was part of the
Validate the Vote plan to “[bJuild public momentum through broad publicity,”

SUMEF 9] 46, and was false, SUMF 9 131. True the Vote simply wanted the public to
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believe that it was targeting voters in every county. In reality, it had not yet recruited
challengers in all or even half of all counties by the time it issued that press release.
SUMF ¢ 131.

Ironically, True the Vote’s attempts to foment public support for the Validate
the Vote scheme stoked the very environment Ms. Engelbrecht recognized was
intimidating to voters. She publicly “offer[ed] tips to ordinary Americans to prevent
the Democrat plan to steal the election in 2020,” SUMF 9 134—a plan referenced in
True the Vote’s Validate the Vote proposal. And despite True the Vote’s assertions
that the Georgia Elector Challenges did-'not accuse any voter of “act[ing]
improperly” or seek to “remove people”. . . from the voter rolls,” SUMF q 135, its
public communications did just that. Recruiting emails from True the Vote alleged
that 99.9% of the voters on ¢iie challenged list were incorrectly registered and that if
the challenges had occurred in October, “it is very likely Trump would have won
Georgia.” SUMF 9] 136. Volunteers wrote back that True the Vote could use their
names and signature to “purg[e] the rolls of the deceased, nonexistent and

nonresidents of my county.” SUMF ¢ 137. Unsurprisingly, True the Vote did not

27



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 33 of 43

correct these assumptions or otherwise suggest that these challengers had the wrong
idea.®

3. Defendants encouraged and amplified threats of election-
related vigilantism on social media.

Defendants also used or expressed support for threatening rhetoric on social
media. For instance, Mr. Somerville and Mr. Davis published a Facebook post about
voters registered with UPS store P.O. boxes, and someone commented “I think a
search warrant is in order here,” to which Mr. Davis responded, “great idea!” SUMF
9 140. Another individual commented on this post, “[I]et’s see if any one has the
balls to prosecute to the max or if they will just get a hand slap!” SUMF ¢ 140. Some
comments went even further, expressing a desire to physically harm voters who
allegedly violated the state’s election laws. One individual left the comment, “Hang
that prick!!!” in referenceto a post by Mr. Somerville and Mr. Davis about a voter

who appeared to be registered in Georgia and another state. SUMF 9 140.

8 In keeping with its habit of overstating facts and figures for “promotional” reasons,
True the Vote’s recruitment email stated that the challenge list was “99.9 percent
likely to be incorrectly registered.” SUMF ] 135. The email also stated that True the
Vote had identified over 500,000 people on the Georgia voter rolls “that shouldn’t
be there.” SUMF 9| 135. But in her deposition, Engelbrecht stated that the 500,000
number was incorrect and that True the Vote had no way of knowing whether the
99.9 percent figure was correct. SUMF ¢ 135.
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All of these messages, which promote criminal prosecution of voters or
vigilantism, reflect objectively threatening and intimidating rhetoric supported by
Defendants, especially in the context of the “highly divided—and often outright
dangerous—environment [the] election season ha[d] fomented.” TRO Order at 26;
see also Council on Am.-Islamic Rels.-Minn. v. Atlas Aegis, LLC, 497 F. Supp. 3d
371,379 (D. Minn. 2020) (finding that “[t]he presence of armed ‘guards’ at the polls
with no connection to state government 1is certainly likely to intimidate voters”);
United States v. Clark, 249 F. Supp. 720, 728 (S.D; Ala. 1965) (finding local sheriff
using his law enforcement power “highly-intimidatory and coercive” to Black
voters).

In yet another example, an“organization affiliated with Ms. Engelbrecht and
True the Vote publicly threatened to publish the names of all challenged voters. On
December 20, 2020—shortly after True the Vote submitted the bulk of its Georgia
Elector Challenges—a Twitter account titled “Crusade for Freedom” posted on
Twitter: “We just prospectively challenged the eligibility of 360,000 voters in GA.
Largest single election challenge in Georgia and American history.” SUMF ¢ 141.
Two days later, Crusade for Freedom tweeted: “If the Georgia counties refuse to

handle the challenges of 366,000 ineligible voters in accordance with the law, I plan
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to release the entire list so America can do the QC.” SUMF q 141. Both tweets added
the hashtags #eyesonGA and #validatethevote GA.

Ms. Engelbrecht admitted that these hashtags mirrored the slogans appearing
on several True the Vote documents, an internal invoice between OpSec and True
the Vote, and the phrase “validate the vote” was in fact the slogan recommended to
True the Vote by a private donor’s consultant. SUMF ¢ 56. Ms. Engelbrecht also
admitted that Crusade for Freedom’s logo in its tweeis matched the logo in a
Facebook post from an organization named Time for a Hero—which was founded
by Ms. Engelbrecht and Mr. Phillips—that promised, “Crusade for Freedom coming
soon.” SUMF q 142.°

Only a week after Crusade for Freedom’s threat to publish the names of
challenged voters, Mr. Davis and Mr. Somerville expressed concern that Ms.

Engelbrecht would post complaints and challenges of voters on a website. On

® While a question was pending in Ms. Engelbrecht’s deposition about Time for a
Hero’s social media posts, defense counsel instructed Ms. Engelbrecht to turn off
her video and audio and conferred with Ms. Engelbrecht over Plaintiffs’ counsel’s
objection. Because of defense counsel’s improper conduct, see Atta, 2019 WL
12383117, at *3, the Court should draw all inferences regarding Ms. Engelbrecht’s
involvement in Time for a Hero, Time for a Hero’s relationship with True the Vote,
and the Crusade for Freedom tweets in Plaintiffs’ favor. See United States v. A Single
Fam. Residence & Real Prop. Located at 900 Rio Vista Blvd., Fort Lauderdale, 803
F.2d 625, 630 n4 (11th Cir. 1986) (concluding “[t]he district court drew a
permissible inference” from deponent’s failure to testify “that [deponent’s]
testimony would not have been favorable to the claim™).
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December 30, 2020, Mr. Davis texted Mr. Somerville, “Derek, we need to stop this.
If they publish they will be flooded with defamation complaints.” SUMF ¢ 143.
Further, publishing the names would “literally mak[e] good on one of the ‘Threats’
alleged in [Plaintiffs’] complaint.” SUMF 9q144. The threat of publishing names of
challenged voters and corresponding allegations that they are ineligible to vote is
unquestionably intimidating, as Mr. Davis and Mr. Somerville themselves have
admitted. SUMF q 143-145. Such largescale attempts by Defendants to link voters’
names and personal information to condemnations of unlawful voter registration,
leading to “adverse publicity, intimidation, etnbarrassment, [or] fear of harassment
associated with their participation i the electoral process” constitute voter
intimidation under Section 11(b).5ee LULAC, 2018 WL 3848404, at *1.

E.  True the Vote’s mass challenges and Validate the Vote scheme put
voters in fezi of adverse legal consequences and harassment.

Accusations of illegal conduct are serious. Under Georgia law, a person who
“does not possess all the qualifications” to vote commits a felony by knowingly
casting a ballot. O.C.G.A. § 21-2-571; see also id. § 21-2-573. Punishment can
include imprisonment for up to 10 years and fines up to $100,000. /d. § 21-2-571;
see also id. § 21-2-573. And even if a Georgian does not know the specific
consequences they may face for registering or voting illegally, it is common

knowledge that doing so is a punishable crime.
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Even frivolous challenges to a voter’s eligibility can raise fears of adverse
legal consequences and intimidate voters. As Dr. Mayer explains, “voters whose
eligibility is challenged may perceive a legal risk if they vote, which . . . dramatically
increases the cost of voting and discourages turnout even if the individual is
eligible.” SUMF q 152. This risk is particularly acute for low-information voters or
voters of lower socioeconomic status who may lack the resources to navigate the law
or understand whether they remain eligible to vote despite being formally
challenged. SUMF 9 153. Similarly, Dr. Burton explains that “voters may be
reasonably hesitant to arrive at the polls to ‘prave’ their eligibility if [they have] been
challenged,” particularly in Georgia, witich has “launched numerous investigations
into voters accused of wrongdoing” over the past decade. SUMF 9 154-174.

Voters who were targets of Defendants’ challenges expressed feelings of fear,
anxiety, and outright intimidation. Plaintiff Jane Doe feared that she or her family
would become the target of harassment from Defendants and their supporters if she
voted. SUMF 9 155. Plaintiff Jocelyn Heredia testified that she was ‘“the only
Hispanic” in line at her polling place, and being pulled aside because of the legal
challenge “made [her] feel intimidated.” SUMF 9 158. Ms. Heredia’s name was
publicly listed as a “challenged voter” on Banks County’s website for six months.

SUMEF ¢ 158. Gamaliel Turner found the experience of being challenged to be
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“scary, confusing, and intimidating.” SUMF 9 172. As a Black voter growing up in
the segregation era, thinking about his experience in the January runoff elections
“gives [him] PTSD.” SUMF ¢ 173. Mr. Turner wonders “if it is even worth trying
to vote again given the trouble that the voter challenge has caused [him].” SUMF ¢
174. And the list goes on. SUMF 9 163-166. Defendants’ conduct was not just
objectively intimidated, it struck fear in lifelong Georgia residents and lawful voters.

I1. Defendants’ affirmative defenses lack merit.

When confronted with the obvious consequetices of their election subversion
scheme, Defendants raised several defenses that misinterpret the VRA and misapply
(or ignore entirely) settled precedent, irnciuding that: (1) the First Amendment bars
relief for voter intimidation; (2) that enforcement of Section 11(b) itself violates the
right to vote; and (3) that Section 11(b) would be unconstitutionally vague absent a
requirement that Plaintiffs prove intent. The Court rejected these arguments already,
and there is no reason for it to revisit its decision.

First, Defendants’ free speech argument fails because Defendants’ conduct at
issue is not protected by the First Amendment. As this Court explained, the First
Amendment does not protect “true threats,” TRO Order at 17, and even if it did,

“preventing voter intimidation and election fraud” is a sufficiently compelling state
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interest to survive strict scrutiny under the First Amendment. /d. (quoting Burson v.
Freeman, 504 U.S. 191, 206 (1992)).

Second, Defendants’ argument that the VRA protects their right to keep others
from voting turns the landmark civil rights legislation and decades of settled
precedent on their head. This Court correctly observed that Defendants’ up-is-down
theory is unprecedented in suggesting that those who would prevent others from
voting are the real victims of voter suppression. See ECF No. 111. at 16-17 & n.9.

Finally, this Court concluded that “a plaintift need not show animus or an
intent to harass or intimidate to succeed on a.Section 11(b) claim,” for good reason:
the plain language of the statute imposes no such requirement; courts have
repeatedly interpreted Section 11(b) to require no showing of intent and have
rejected the notion that theterms intimidate, threaten, and coerce are vague. TRO
Order at 23. In other words, this is not a case in which a person “of common
intelligence must necessarily guess” as to whether a specific act is proscribed by
statute—the standard for unconstitutional vagueness. Ga. Pac. Corp. v.
Occupational Safety & Health Rev. Comm 'n, 25 F.3d 999, 1005 (11th Cir. 1994).

The Court should therefore reject Defendants’ affirmative defenses, and grant

Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs are entitled to summary judgment.

35



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 41 of 43

Respectfully submitted, this 16th day of May, 2022.

Allegra J. Lawrence

Georgia Bar No. 439797

Leslie J. Bryan

Georgia Bar No. 091175

Maia Cogen

Georgia Bar No. 832438
LAWRENCE & BUNDY LLC
1180 West Peachtree Street, Suite 1650
Atlanta, GA 30309

Telephone: (404) 400-3350

Fax: (404) 609-2504
allegra.lawrence-
hardy@lawrencebundy.com
leslie.bryan@lawrencebundy.com
maia.cogen@lawrencebundy.com

Dara Lindenbaum

Georgia Bar No. 980780

SANDLER REIFF LAMB
ROSENSTEIN & BIRKENSTOCK,
P.C.

1090 Vermont Avenue, NW, Suite 750
Washington, DC 20005

Telephone: (202) 479-1111

Fax: 202-479-1115
lindenbaum@sandlerreiff.com

36

/s/ Uzoma N. Nkwonta
Marc E. Elias*

Uzoma N. Nkwonta*
Christina A. Ford*

Tina Meng*

Marcos Mocine-McQueen*
Joel J. Ramirez*

Jacob Shelly*

ELIAS LAW GROUP LLP
10 G Street-NE, Suite 600
Washington, D.C. 20002
Telephone: (202) 968-4490
melias@elias.law
unkwonta@elias.law
cford@elias.law
tmeng@elias.law
mmcqueen@elias.law
jramirez@elias.law
jshelly@elias.law

Counsel for Plaintiffs
* Admitted pro hac vice



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 42 of 43

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have this day served a copy of the within and foregoing
Brief in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment with the Clerk of
Court using the CM/ECF system, which will automatically send-e-mail notification
to all counsel of record.

This 16th day of May, 2022.

/s/ Uzoma Nkwonta
Uzoma Nkwonta
Counsel for Plaintiffs

37



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-1 Filed 05/16/22 Page 43 of 43

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to LR 7.1(D), N.D. Ga., I hereby certify that the foregoing Brief in
Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment has been prepared in
accordance with the font type and margin requirements of LR 5.1, N.D. Ga., using a
font type of Times New Roman and a point size of 14.

This 16th day of May, 2022 /s/ Uzoma N. Nkwonta
Uzoma N. Nkwonta

38



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-2 Filed 05/16/22 Page 1 of 51

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
GAINESVILLE DIVISION

FAIR FIGHT, INC., SCOTT BERSON,
JOCELYN HEREDIA, and JANE DOE,

Plaintiffs, Civil Action No.
2:20-cv-00302-SCJ
V.

TRUE THE VOTE, INC., CATHERINE
ENGELBRECHT, DEREK
SOMERVILLE, MARK DAVIS, MARK
WILLIAMS, RON JOHNSON, JAMES
COOPER, and JOHN DOES 1-10,

Defendants.

PLAINTIFFS’ STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS
Pursuant to Rule 56 ¢t the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Rule
56.1, Plaintiffs Fair Fight, Inc., Scott Berson, Jocelyn Heredia, and Jane Doe, by and

through counsel, offer the following undisputed material facts:

I. The Plaintiffs
A.  Fair Fight

1. Plaintiff Fair Fight, Inc. is a is a political action committee with a non-
contribution account, commonly known as a Hybrid PAC, registered with the

Federal Election Commission, the Georgia Government Transparency and
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Campaign Finance Commission, and various state campaign finance regulators. Ex.
15, Fair Fight Declaration (“Decl.”) q 3.

2. Part of Fair Fight’s mission is to secure the voting rights of Georgians,
which includes advocating for voter engagement and voter turn-out, particularly
among young people and people of color. /d. § 4.

3. Fair Fight’s voter engagement activities include efforts to support and
elect pro-voting rights progressive leaders. To encourage voter participation, Fair
Fight also conducts programmatic activities -including the preparation and
sponsorship of digital advertising, mailings, phone banks and calls, and text
messaging. Id. 4| 5.

4. Fair Fight also raises inoney and provides funding for voter engagement
activities. /d. 9 5.

5. For the 2020 general election and the runoff election conducted on
January 5, 2021, Fair Fight engaged in voter participation work including educating
voters about the voting process, engaging in get-out-the-vote activities, monitoring
long lines at polling locations, and helping voters navigate the absentee ballot
process. Id. § 6.

6. On December 14, 2020, the first day of early voting, Fair Fight learned

from a True the Vote press release that True the Vote and the Georgia Republican
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Party were partnering to engage in what they termed as “the most comprehensive
ballot security initiative in Georgia history.” Id. § 7

7. On December 18, Fair Fight learned from a True the Vote press release
that True the Vote, and groups of individuals working in concert with True the Vote,
including the other Defendants in this case, intended to mount challenges to the
eligibility of hundreds of thousands of Georgians to cast their votes in the runoff
election. /d. 9 8.

8. Upon learning about Defendants’ challenges, Fair Fight was forced to
redirect efforts of its staff and volunteers to combat Defendants’ actions targeted at
limiting ballot access. /d. 9 10.

0. Specifically, Fair Fight reallocated staff from its voter mobilization
activities described above te'instead monitoring Georgia’s 159 counties to determine
which counties received challenges that Defendants were supporting. That
monitoring included in some instances physically attending the Board of Elections
hearings on Defendants’ challenges, attempting to learn which voters were being
challenged, advocating against those challenges, reporting back to Fair Fight the
results of those challenges, and, through a phonebank, and then attempting to inform
challenged voters of their rights. /d. § 11.

10.  During this time, Fair Fight expended additional financial resources in
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promoting the Voter Protection Hotline so that voters could obtain assistance if they
were challenged, and but for Defendants’ actions, Fair Fight would not have
expended as many financial resources to this effort and otherwise could have
allocated these funds to its get out the vote program. /d. 9 12.

11.  Fair Fight also expended significant financial and staff resources to
collect and analyze the challenge lists, some of which they obtained only from
attending these Board of Elections challenge hearings. /a9 13.

12.  In addition to committing Fair Fight’spaid staff to track and respond to
Defendants efforts, Fair Fight also redirected its volunteers’ time. Fair Fight had
organized a large group of volunteers to gather information about general voting
logistics, including confirming with counties their early voting locations, dates, and
hours for runoff elections:- During this time, Fair Fight volunteers were also
advocating for extending early voting opportunities, but because of Defendants’
challenges, Fair Fight was forced to redirect the above-described efforts of its
volunteers to, instead, reaching out to voters on Defendants’ challenge lists and
attending Boards of Elections meetings, some in-person, across the state. That re-
direction of effort required extensive Fair Fight staff involvement coordinate

volunteers and took staff away from their voter engagement activities. /d. q 14.
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13. Because True the Vote and other Defendants in this action have
indicated they will continue to file similar challenges in the future, after the Runoff
Election, Fair Fight turned its challenge tracking effort into an operational program
called Democracy Watch, in order to respond to unlawful voter challenges if and
when they are filed, advocate on the voters’ behalf, and educate voters about their
rights if they are challenged. Id. q 15.

14. Democracy Watch is now operational inc31 Georgia counties. By
August 2022, it will be operational in 50 counties. 7. 9 16.

15. Democracy Watch is monitored.and overseen by Fair Fight’s Research
and Voter Protection Staff, and it reguires a substantial number of Fair Fight
volunteers to operate. To run Democracy Watch, Fair Fight has had to hire two
additional staff members and has fully allocated five staff members to oversee the
program. These staff hires command a significant portion of Fair Fight’s resources.
1d. | 17. If Fair Fight’s Research Staff did not have to oversee the Democracy Watch
program, Fair Fight would allocate their time to educating voters about election
administration changes, researching better methods to turn out voters, and
counteracting election disinformation efforts. /d. 9 18.

16. Similarly, if Fair Fight’s volunteers were not asked to participate in

Democracy Watch, Fair Fight would be able to redirect their time to more traditional
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voter engagement activities, such voter mobilization and voter education. To date,
Fair Fight has limited its voter education efforts to the State of Georgia due to limited
volunteer capacity. Absent the drain on its resources caused by Defendants’
challenges, Fair Fight would expand its voter education efforts to other states. /d.
19.

17.  Fair Fight has also been forced to direct additional funds to promote
and educate the public about the Voter Protection Hotlinc, which voters can call if
they find themselves the subject of a voter challenge. This promotion has cost Fair
Fight hundreds of thousands of dollars. If Fair Fight did not have to expend these
funds on directing voters to resources, should they be challenged, they would have
allocated them towards their get out the vote program. /d. 4| 20.

18.  Unless and until this litigation is successful, Fair Fight will continue to
divert significant staff resources, volunteer time, and money combatting True the
Vote and its cooperators’ efforts to intimidate voters and restrict access to the polls.
Id. 9 21.

19. The actions that Fair Fight has to take to counteract Defendants’
challenges and intimidation are not actions Fair Fight has taken in the past, and as
described above, such actions are necessitated by, Defendants’ wrongdoing at the

center of this case. See supra 9 1-18.
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B. Jocelyn Heredia

20.  Plaintiff Jocelyn Heredia is a resident and registered voter in Banks
County Georgia. Ex. 8, Jocelyn Heredia Dep. Tr. (“Heredia Tr.”) at 11:19-25.

21. InJanuary of 2020, Ms. Heredia submitted a change of address form to
USPS when she moved temporarily from her residence in Banks County to be closer
to Atlanta for a job. /d. 12:17-25.

22.  She returned to her Banks County residence in March 2020, where she
has resided ever since. /d.

23.  Ms. Heredia learned that her vote was being challenged when she went
to cast her in-person ballot for the runoff election in January 2021. She felt
intimidated that she was being targeted in this way, particularly as a person of color
in a predominantly white county. Id. 44:12-45:8.

24. When Ms. Heredia was pulled aside at her polling location because of
Defendants’ challenge, she was one of only two persons of color in polling place
line, and the second person of color was pulled aside as well. Id. 44:21-45:8.

25. Ms. Heredia was also listed as a “challenged voter” on Banks County’s

website for at least six months. /d. 31:24-32:3; 61:17-62:20.
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26. Ms. Heredia felt intimidated throughout her voting experience both
because the legal implications of being challenged were unclear to her, and she also
felt she was being targeted as a person of color. Id. 44:12-45:8.

27. According to the challenge list obtained from the Banks County
website, Ms. Heredia was challenged by both Jerry Boling and Dan Gassaway. Ex.
30, Banks County Challenge List. Jerry Boling was True the Vote’s challenge
volunteer for Banks County, see Ex. 31, True the Vote County Challenger List, and
Dan Gassaway was a volunteer challenger who submitted Mr. Davis and Mr.
Somerville’s challenge lists. Ex. 32, Davis and Somerville County Challenger List.

C. Jane Doe

28.  Plaintiff Jane Doe is<a resident and registered voter in Clarke County,
Georgia. Ex. 16, Jane Doe Decl. §| 2.

29.  While Jane Doe’s permanent residence is in Georgia, and Jane Doe is
presently located in Georgia, in 2020, Jane Doe split her time between Georgia and
another state where her spouse had accepted a short-term career opportunity. /d. § 3.

30. To ensure she would not miss any mail while she was away, Jane Doe
completed a USPS change of address form to forward her mail to her spouse’s out-

of-state address. /d. 4| 4.
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31. Jane Doe never intended to give up her residency in Georgia—she still
owns a home there, pays taxes in Georgia, and worked in Georgia. Id.

32.  Jane Doe’s name and address appeared on a challenge list prepared by
True the Vote and submitted by one of its volunteers named Gordon Rhoden. /d.
5.

33. When Jane Doe learned of the challenge, she was extremely upset
because it felt like someone was trying to deprive her of her right to vote—in a very
public way. Id.

34. Because Defendants claimed that Jane Doe is not eligible to vote, and
because Defendants’ list containing-Jjane Doe’s name and address had been
published online, Jane Doe feared that Defendants and their supporters would
subject her to harassment for voting. This fear was based on her own observations
of events that occurred in Georgia following the November 2020 election, including
reports of the state’s election workers getting harassed, threatened, and doxed. /d. 9
7-8.

35. Even though Jane Doe was able to vote in the Runoff Election, the
experience of being challenged was stressful. She feared that she could—or her
family could—become the next target of harassment from True the Vote and

their supporters for having voted, especially because her name and address had
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been published online and she had been publicly identified as a challenged voter.
Id. 9 9.

36.  Although Jane Doe has been fully settled back in Georgia since July
2021, even today her name can be found online as a challenged voter in Clarke
County, and she thus fears that she will be challenged again in future elections and
that her eligibility to vote will be questioned. /d. 99 10-11.

37. Jane Doe believes that she should not have to worry about being
targeted or facing retribution for exercising her right to vote. /d. 9 12.
II. Defendants collaborated with True the Vote to implement its Validate the

Vote scheme in Georgia, and coordinated the largest mass challenge
effort in Georgia history.

38. True the Vote is a Texas-based organization founded by Catherine
Engelbrecht, who is also its current president. Ex. 12, True the Vote / Catherine
Engelbrecht Dep. Tr. (“TTV/Engelbrecht Tr.”) 22:17-20. True the Vote describes
itself as a 501(c)(3) organization, but has frequently collaborated with Republican
party officials to monitor polling places and challenge voters, among other activities.
See, e.g., TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 112:2-13. True the Vote has been accused of voter
intimidation dating back to 2012, including members of Congress Ex. 33, Elijah

Cummings 2012 Letter.

10
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39. Derek Somerville is a resident of Georgia who, in the weeks leading up
to Georgia’s January 2021 runoff, was also involved in analyzing voter address
information and coordinating efforts to challenge the eligibility of tens of thousands
of voters across the state of Georgia. Ex. 10, Derek Somerville Reopened Dep. Tr.
(“Somerville IT Tr.”) 68:3-16. Over several weeks, Mr. Somerville participated in
around a dozen calls with True the Vote, and participated in two or three calls with
Ms. Engelbrecht. Id. 91:5-12. Mr. Somerville also personally met with Ms.
Engelbrecht on at least one occasion, and had half a dozen conversations with Ms.
Engelbrecht on the phone on a one-on-one basis. Id. 91:9-15. Mr. Somerville also
admits that he had, on at least one occasion, told Ms. Engelbrecht that he thought
True the Vote’s challenge strategy was broad, id. 94:11-16, and had copied Ms.
Engelbrecht on emails he seiit out about voter challenges in an attempt to influence
True the Vote’s tone on this topic, id. 122:8-10.

40. Mark Davis worked collaboratively with Mr. Somerville in analyzing
voter data and coordinating efforts to challenge the eligibility of tens of thousands
of voters. Id. 68:3-16; Ex. 6, Mark Davis First Dep. Tr. (“Davis I Tr.”) 45:1-8. At
some point, Mr. Davis had a phone call with Mr. Gregg Phillips where Mr. Davis
provided Mr. Phillips with a primer on voter data in Georgia and gave Mr. Phillips

information to “get started” with analysis into challenges. Davis I Tr. 49:12-50:21.

11
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41. Mark Williams is also a Georgia resident who assisted with the printing
of challenge letters that True the Vote would then send to individual counties in
support of True the Vote’s voter challenges. Ex. 3, Mark Williams Dep. Tr.
(“Williams Tr.”) 19:4-12. In particular, True the Vote would send Mr. Williams
compiled lists of challenged voters, and Mr. Williams would print individual letters
for the challenges. Id. 22:4-13. Mr. Williams also introduced True the Vote to other
individuals who collaborated on the challenges, including Ron Johnson and James
Cooper. Id. 22:19-23:2.

42.  Ron Johnson was previously the Georgia GOP chairman for all counties
with less than a population of 80,000 people, and also assisted True the Vote with
its efforts in Georgia, specifically in forwarding the names of individuals to True the
Vote that could serve as pgiential challengers in various counties across the state.
Ex. 5, Ron Johnson Dep. Tr. (“Johnson Tr.”) 35:13-17; 42:18-43:2. Many of these
challengers were chairmen of their respective county Republican Party. /d. 41:6-8;
42:16-21; 43:6-9.

43.  James Cooper, who previously served as the 3rd Vice Chair for the 10th
District of the Georgia Republican Party, Ex. 2, James Cooper Dep. Tr. (“Cooper
Tr.) 11:9-17, was similarly involved in recruiting challengers for True the Vote

across the state. Id. 28:2-15; 31:12-17.

12
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A.  True the Vote’s “Validate the Vote” initiative started as a
coordinated scheme to overturn presidential election results in
Georgia and other battleground states.

44.  Shortly after the November 2020 election, conservative donor Fred
Eshelman contacted Catherine Engelbrecht seeking True the Vote’s assistance in
overturning the results of the presidential election. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 266:11-15,
285:21-286:4, 292:20-293:3.

45.  True the Vote hatched a plan to identify illegal voters and illegal
votes,” “build public momentum” and “[g]alvanize Republican legislative support
in key states,” including in Georgia, “to have the state’s election results overturned.”
Ex. 1, Eshelman v. TTV- Validate the Vate 2020 (“Validate the Vote 20207") at 582.
A consultant for True the Vote funder, Fred Eshleman, recommended the name
“Validate the Vote,” which True the Vote adopted. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 66:12-
67:20.

46. On November 5, 2020, two days after the general election, True the
Vote shared a proposal summarizing its strategy for implementing the “Validate the
Vote” scheme and overturning the presidential election results. The proposal sought
to highlight the purported “[pJroblem” of “Democrat officials” and ‘“deliberate
election fraud” resulting from the “counting [of] illegal votes,” and included a five-

part plan:

13
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= Solicit whistleblower testimonies from those impacted by or involved in
elections fraud;

* Build public momentum through broad publicity;
= Galvanize Republican legislative support in key states;
= Aggregate and analyze data to identify patterns of election subversion; and

= File lawsuits in Federal Court with capacity to be heard by the Supreme
Court of the United States.

Validate the Vote 2020 at 1.

47.  The proposal also identified OPSEC Group, LLC, and its founder and
President, Gregg Phillips, as the Data and Research team. /d.

48. True the Vote even assured iis donor that the Trump campaign would
“cover” True the Vote’s legal fees'TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 305:3-305:8.

49.  True the Vote did not have any evidence that the “problem” described
in its proposal existed; rather, Ms. Engelbrecht repeatedly described the language
used in the Validate the Vote proposal as “promotional.” See TTV/Engelbrecht Tr.
269:17-271:13. Nor could Ms. Engelbrecht explain why True the Vote wanted to
challenge the results of only the presidential election, despite promoting that voter
fraud was widespread. Id. at 285:13-20. However, Engelbrecht had been engaged in
conversations with the Trump campaign, Ex. 41, Email from F. Eshelman, and as

noted above, she believed at one point that the campaign would pay True the Vote’s

14
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fees. See, e.g., Ex. 40, Email from C. Engelbrecht.

50. Consistent with its Validate the Vote scheme, True the Vote launched
anationwide effort to gin up evidence of voter fraud with the ultimate goal of forcing
one of three scenarios: (1) a “special election” in which voters would choose new
electors, (2) state legislatures, rather than voters, would select presidential electors,
or (3) the next president would be selected by the U.S. House of Representatives.
Validate the Vote 2020 at 1. The organization also enlisted OPSEC to “aggregate
and analyze data to identify patterns of election subversion.” 1d.

51.  One of the first steps in the plan-was to pursue litigation in battleground
states. Days after the 2020 election ‘Tiue the Vote filed lawsuits in Michigan,
Wisconsin, Georgia, and Pennsylvania in which they promised to deliver to the court
evidence of, among other offenses, “votes by ineligible voters.” See, e.g., Compl. q
45, Brooks v. Mahoney, No. 4:20-cv-00281-RSB-CLR (S.D. Ga. Nov. 11, 2020);
Compl. § 73, Bally v. Whitmer, No. 1:20-cv-01088-JTN-PJG (W.D. Mich. Nov. 11,
2020); Compl. 9 34, 44, Langenhorst v. Pecore, No. 1:20-cv-01701-WCG, (E.D.
Wisc. Nov. 12, 2020); Compl. § 26, Pirkle v. Wolf, No. 4:20-cv-02088-MWB, (M.D.
Pa. Nov. 10, 2020).

52.  True the Vote promised a “sophisticated and groundbreaking analysis”

using, among other tools “United States Postal Service records”; the same type of

15
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records True the Vote would use when challenging the eligibility of hundreds of
thousands of Georgia voters. See Brooks, Compl. § 45; Bally, Compl. § 73;
Langenhorst, Compl. 9 34, 44; Pirkle, Compl. § 26. But True the Vote never
provided the courts with any such evidence. Days later, on November 16, 2020, True
the Vote filed motions to voluntarily dismiss all four the cases.!

53.  None of the promised research or evidence—including the analysis of
Postal Service records—materialized, even after its funder repeatedly implored the
organization to provide “real evidence.” Ex. 39, Email from N. Howard;

TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 288:11-290:9.2 Just days after filing these four lawsuits, True

! True the Vote was not alone in bringing such suits and some even depended on
Postal Service records. None of the'suits challenging Georgia’s election results were
deemed meritorious. Wood v. Raffensperger, No. 2020-CV-342959 (Ga. Super. Ct.,
Fulton Cnty. Dec. 8, 2020){dismissing case alleging tens of thousands of out-of-
state residents illegally~ voted in Georgia’s General Election); Boland v.
Raffensperger, No. 2020-CV-343018 (Ga. Super. Ct., Fulton Cnty. Dec. 8, 2020)
(dismissing case and finding plaintiffs’ claim that tens of thousands of people
illegally voted in Georgia based on the National Change of Address registry was
based on “speculation rather than duly pled facts™); Pearson v. Kemp, No. 1:20-
cv04809-TCB, ECF No. 74 (N.D. Ga. Dec. 7, 2020) (dismissing case alleging the
National Change of Address registry showed over 20,000 ineligible voters cast
ballots in Georgia’s general election).

2 True the Vote’s funder, Fred Eshelman, would eventually sue the organization,
defense counsel James Bopp, the Bopp Law Firm, OpSec, and Gregg Phillips for
breach of contract, fraudulent misrepresentation, and conversion. Eshelman alleged
that True the Vote misspent his donation on efforts he never agreed to fund, like the
“largely baseless challenges to the eligibility of hundreds of thousands of voters in
the 2021 Georgia Senate runoffs.” Ex. 42, Mar. 19, 2021 Verified App. for Temp.

16
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the Vote abandoned them, voluntarily dismissing the cases. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr.
290:10-16.
54. In connection with the Validate the Vote scheme, True the Vote also

b

planned to “[g]alvanize Republican legislative support in key states,” including
Georgia. Validate the Vote 2020 at 1. Indeed, Ms. Engelbrecht had previously called
for “more collaboration among conservative groups, suggesting that participants at
the meeting work with groups like the Republican National Lawyers Association to
formulate plans to challenge registrations and disauialify voters.” Ex. 14, Dr. Vernon

Burton Expert Report (“Burton Rep.) at 23 {citation omitted).

B.  As the Georgia runoff elections approached, “Validate the Vote”
became “Validate the Yote Georgia.”

55. When “attentions turned towards Georgia” for the Senate runoff
election, “Validate the Vote” became “Validate the Vote Georgia.”
TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 69:4—7. True the Vote “simply took the logo and put the word
‘Georgia’ in the center of the logo. TTV then made all the resources [it] had available
for the national election available in Georgia for the Run-off Election.” Ex. 19, TTV
Resp. to Interrogatory No. 3 at 17. But Validate the Vote Georgia remained part of

True the Vote’s national effort. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 69:4-7.

Inj. 99 42-43 (emphasis added).

17
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56. The donor’s consultant, who originally proposed the name “Validate
the Vote,” also coined the phrase “Validate the Vote Georgia” for True the Vote’s
activities directed toward the runoff election. /d. at 264:12—16.

57.  True the Vote enlisted OPSEC for its efforts in Georgia as well. The
invoice that OPSEC issued to True the Vote listed only a single item—“Eyes on
Georgia”— an umbrella project which included both OPSEC’s analysis for True the
Vote’s Georgia Elector Challenges and its work to gather and analyze data to
overturn the presidential election, id. at 182:6—183:20; see also Def TTV 288; Ex.
21, Dec. 14, 2020 True the Vote Press Release.

C. Defendants launched mass voter challenges.

58.  On December 18, <2020, True the Vote issued a press release
announcing that it had “partner[ed] with Georgians in every county to preemptively
challenge 364,541 potentially ineligible voters.” Ex. 22, Dec. 18, 2020 True the Vote
Press Release. The press release also touted that True the Vote was “working
alongside patriots across the Peach State,” including Defendants Somerville, Davis,
Williams, Johnson, and Cooper. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. at 251:18-252:14.

59. The press release also stated that True the Vote had “probable cause”
to suspect that the 364,151 individuals being challenged did “not meet the

qualifications legally required to cast a ballot.” Ex. 22, Dec. 18 Press Release.
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60. The challenge lists were constructed by matching the Georgia voter
registration database of all registered voters (“voter file”) to the USPS’s National
Change of Address (“NCOA™) registry, which lists the names and addresses of
individuals who have requested the United States Postal Service to forward their
mail to a different address. See Ex. 20, TTV Am. Resp. Pls’ First Req. for Admission
(“TTV RFA”) Nos. 12-13; Williams Tr. 114:10-115:5; Ex. 13, Dr. Ken Mayer
Expert Report (“Mayer Rep.”) at 16.

61. Defendants Mark Davis and Der¢k Somerville used a similar
methodology to prepare 39,141 challenges. against Georgia voters. Mark Davis
Reopened Dep. Tr. (“Davis II Tr.”) 41:20-17; Davis I Tr. 22:9-23:3; Sommerville II
94:18-20;

62. Ron Johnson and James Cooper—Georgia Republican Party officials—
recruited Georgia Republican Party county chairs to lend their names to True the
Vote’s mass challenges. See Cooper Tr. 31:13—17, 57:17-58:9; Johnson Tr. 34:4-8.
Ron Johnson also volunteered to be a challenger himself. Johnson Tr. 91:13-21;
TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 144:9-15.

63. Defendant Mark Williams was referred to True the Vote by David

Shafer, “the Chairman of the GOP,” Ex. 34, Dec. 12, 2020 M. Williams Email; see
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also TTV/Engelbrecht 141:13-142:2,% and printed True the Vote’s challenges and
assisted with finalizing the challenge lists, see TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 222:8-19,
252:9-14.

64. True the Vote and Mr. Davis and Mr. Somerville also had significant
contact and collaboration throughout this whole time period. See Somerville II Tr.
91:1-15 (Mr. Somerville admitting having several conversations with True the Vote,
and around half a dozen one-on-one conversations withi Ms. Engelbrecht); id. at
94:11-16 (Mr. Somerville admitting he shared with-Ms. Engelbrecht concerns about
the broadness of True the Vote’s challenge list strategy); id. at 104:3-15 (Mr.
Somerville admitting he “definitely spcke on the [December 20] call” hosted by True
the Vote to update volunteers about the challenge efforts); id. at 115:17-116:11 (Mr.
Somerville admitting he copied Ms. Engelbrecht on emails about challenge lists to
“try to influence their tone”).

65. True the Vote ultimately submitted challenges against 250,783

registrants across 65 counties. Mayer Rep. at 1, 14.

3 David Shafer is also the GOP official with whom True the Vote spoke before
announcing it was partnering with the GOP to bring its Georgia Elector Challenges.
See TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 141:19—-142:2; see also Dec. 14 Press Release.
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1. Defendants’ challenges were frivolous.

66. Defendants knew their challenge lists included eligible Georgia voters
who were properly registered, and they knew that their challenges would burden
registrants. See, e.g., Ex. 11, OPSEC Group, LLC / Gregg Phillips Dep. Tr.
(“OPSEC/Phillips Tr.” 147:20-22, Ex. 9, Davis II Tr. 35:21-37:1; TTV/Engelbrecht
Tr. 208:18-209:2 (explaining the importance of not challenging military voters).

67. “NCOA data are not error-free, and the companies that conduct NCOA
matching note that false positives occur “on a regular basis,” which will invariably
produce errors in the challenge list. Mayer Rep. at 33.

68. Even where the NCOA eritries are accurate, the NCOA registry does
not provide sufficiently specific or unique information to reliably match NCOA data
to a voter file because the NCOA registry does not include any unique identifier, like
a social security number or other identification number that is unique to each voter.
Mayer Rep. at 6.

69. Even where it is certain that a registered voter submitted a change of
address request, that does not mean the individual changed or abandoned their prior
residence. The registrant may be forwarding their mail to a friend’s house, or they
may need access to their mail while on vacation. Voting eligibility is not affected,

of course, where no move occurred. /d. at 14.
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70.  Individuals who submit a change of address request do not thereby
forfeit their eligibility to vote. See, e.g., TTV RFA at 1; Ex. 7, Derek Somerville
First Dep. Tr. (“Somerville I Tr.”) at 125:16-126:3 (“There are literally thousands
of individuals that legitimately used NCOA to forward their mail out of the
county/state but remain legal residents.”).

71.  Defendants had no way of knowing whether voters who had filed a
permanent change of address had moved away permanently, or just temporarily for
a period longer than 12 months. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 209:17-211:8; Davis II Tr.
26:2-27:5.

72. True the Vote’s goal was to create a presumption that all voters
identified in its challenge lists would not be permitted vote absent further evidence
proving their eligibility.

73. Defendants also fundamentally oppose the NVRA’s safeguards; they
view the NVRA as “antiquated.” Davis [ Tr. 112:16-22.

74.  True the Vote explained to its volunteers the challenge process that it
hoped to see implemented: “[w]hen the challenge letter is received at your election
office[, election officials] are required by G[eorgia] law to not let a ballot be cast or

counted until the individual that has been challenged comes in and proves they are
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not dead, or they still live in the same location.” Ex. 28, Email from M. Williams to
A. Holsworth.*

75. Ms. Engelbrecht confirmed this understanding, testifying that if the
challenge process had gone the way she envisioned it, all 360,000-plus voters on its
challenge lists would be required to show proof of their residency before being
allowed to vote in the runoff election, see TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 158:1-159:5.

76.  True the Vote’s voter challenge list did “not come anywhere close to
what would be required for valid practices irt academic studies of election
administration.” Mayer Rep. at 2.

77. True the Vote’s own aliies—Defendants Mark Davis and Derek
Somerville—warned that the scope of the challenge program was entirely too broad.

See Davis I Tr. 61:19-62:7;:5omerville II Tr. 88:17-89:13.

4 Mr. Cooper testified that this explanation was “basically . . . the script” used to
educate volunteers about the basis for True the Vote’s challenges and the challenge
process. Cooper Tr. 42:20-43:21. Yet Ms. Engelbrecht admitted that this script
contains “a number of things . . . that are not correct” and omits critical nuances
about True the Vote’s challenges. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 231:20-232:5.
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2. The data used to construct the challenge file, and the methods
used to identify registrants who have allegedly moved, were
unreliable and generated tens of thousands of obvious errors.

78.  True the Vote retained and collaborated with OPSEC Group, LLC and
its founder, Gregg Phillips, to review data files and prepare lists of voters to
challenge in each county in Georgia. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. at 125:22-126:11.

79.  Mr. Phillips gained notoriety after the 2016 presidential election when
he claimed, without any basis, that more than three million votes were cast by non-
citizens. OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 41:6-10; Ex. 29, G. Phillips CNN Interview Tr. at 8.
But this allegation was obviously fabricated, as it came before statewide voter
records were even available for review, and Mr. Phillips steadfastly refused to
provide his data or methodology fer outside verification. See Phillips CNN Interview
Tr. at 8.

80. Dr. Mayer’s review of the challenge file prepared by OPSEC and True
the Vote uncovered missing data, missing values in key fields, anomalous values
and obvious errors, lack of adequate data preparation, challenge file addresses near
or on military installations, challenge file addresses in municipalities with
universities, and other inadequate data practices for which Defendants are unable to

provide any justification. See infra 9 -.
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i Mismatches between data files

81.  The databases Defendants used do not allow for foolproof matching, as
the Georgia voter file contains only one unique identifier—the voter registration
number—for each registered voter. Mayer Rep. 16. The remaining information
included in the voter file—a person’s name, address, birth year, race, gender,
registration date, and date last voted—is not necessarily exclusive to any one person.
Id. at 16. And the voter file does not include any other poiential unique identifiers,
such as social security numbers or driver’s license numbers. /d. at 15-16.

82. The NCOA registry also does not include a person’s voter registration
number or any other unique identifier. /d. at 16-17. Nor does a person’s voter
registration number appear in any other database that could have been matched to
the voter file to establish nen-residency. /d. Thus, the only common fields between
the voter file and NCOA registry are a person’s name and address, which cannot—
and certainly did not—dependably identify a unique individual. /d. at 16.

83. In preparing the challenge lists, OPSEC accepted partial matches,
where individuals in the voter file and NCOA registry had the same first and last
names but different middle initials or different name suffixes (e.g., Jr. or Sr.).

OPSEC/Phillips Tr. at 117:5-9, 17-19.
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84. True the Vote and OPSEC refused to provide concrete information
about how these matching errors were reduced or identified. See Mayer Rep. 20-23;
OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 109:9-12.

85. As OPSEC admits, “the import of verifying identity can’t be overstated
in this case.” OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 136:14-16; see also Davis I Tr. 21:2-5.

i. Missing data

86. True the Vote’s challenge file does not include several sources of
identification found in the voter file, including middie name or middle initial, maiden
name, suffix, or birth year. Mayer Rep. at 24.-instead, the only fields that appear to
have been matched between the voter fiie and the NCOA registry are first name, last
name, and address. /d. at 24-25.

87. Because name-and address combinations are far from unique in the
voter file, this resulted in obvious errors. /d. at 25. Dr. Mayer found that there were
85,219 records in the Georgia voter file that had at least one duplicate entry with the
same first name, last name, street address, apartment number, city, and zip code. /d.
Dr. Mayer also found 1,375 entries in True the Vote’s challenge file, where one entry
in the NCOA database was linked to multiple individuals who share the same name
and address, meaning that at least some of those individuals from the voter file were

misidentified and had not submitted a change of address form at all. /d. at 26.
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88. This error, moreover, had a disparate racial effect: Black voters
comprise 27.3% of all individuals in the challenge file, but among the individuals in
duplicated records, 40.3% are Black. /d.

ili.  Missing values in key fields

89.  Dr. Mayer found 15,360 records in the challenge file that failed to show
any street address in the “moved to” address fields. Mayer Rep. at 26-27. Another
27 records show the “moved to” street address as “generai delivery,” id. at 27, which
Mr. Phillips admitted could mean “dozens” of things, including that the voter “didn’t
have an address when they moved” or was homeless. OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 141:10-
16.

90. The lack of a “moved to address” is important because this means the
challenge lists included thousands of Georgia votes who may not have permanently
moved out of their county—indeed, who may not have moved at all. Mayer Rep. at
26-27.

iv. Anomalous values and obvious errors

91. Apart from fields that were entirely missing from the challenge files,
there were also fields that were completed incorrectly and inconsistently,
exemplified by all of the 9,270 records in the Henry County challenge list containing

erroneous zip code data. Mayer Rep. at 27.
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92. Additionally, city spellings and abbreviations differ arbitrarily—for
example, Dauphin Island, Alabama is only sometimes abbreviated to “Dauphin Isl,”
and San Juan Capistrano, California is only sometimes abbreviated to “San Juan
Capo.” Id. at 28.

93. None of these errors or abbreviations exist in the voter file, further
confirming True the Vote settled for approximate matches in putting together their
challenge files. /d.

94.  Dr. Mayer also found 263 examples where the name of the registrant in
the challenge file does not match the name in the voter file under the voter
registration number provided. /d.

95. Dr. Mayer found five examples where the registration address and
“moved to” address in the challenge file were identical, indicating that the voter had
not, in fact, moved at all, “rais[ing] further questions about the validity of the NCOA
matching process used, as well as the lack of quality control in reviewing the results
(to the extent they were reviewed at all).” /d.

96. Gregg Phillips (OPSEC) admitted that he knew these errors were in the
challenge file and that they should have been removed. OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 140:14-

22.
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97.  Mr. Phillips knew that registrations remain valid where a voter moves
within the same county, but nonetheless, voters who changed their address to another
address within the same county were still included in the challenge lists. /d. at
120:22-121:2.

98. Dr. Mayer found 145 instances where a targeted individual’s
registration address and “moved to” address was in the same county. Mayer Rep. at
28.

99.  Dr. Mayer also found 6,377 examples where individuals had already re-
registered at their “new” address, indicatinig that True the Vote inexplicably
challenged the eligibility of voters who were registered at the address that True the
Vote believe to be their home. Mayer Rep. at 29.

100. Mr. Phillips admitted that “[reviewing for this error] was beyond our
capacity so in that case what we would say i1s submit the challenge and let the county
figure it out.” OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 146:8-14.

101. Finally, Dr. Mayer found 336 examples where challenged individuals
were not registered to vote in Georgia at all, meaning they were wrongfully accused

of being registered or voting unlawfully. Mayer Rep. at 29.
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V. Lack of adequate data preparation

102. Because True the Vote use any unique identifiers conduct its match, it
was especially important to regularize the fields that were matched so that they have
a common format. Mayer Rep. at 29.

103. But the address fields in the challenge file do not match the address
fields in the voter file. Id. The challenge list provides two fields for a street address
and apartment or unit number, while the voter file provides four separate fields for
house number, street name, street suffix, and apartinent or unit number. /d.

104. Dr. Mayer found that of the 41,691 records in the challenge file that
have a value in the apartment or unit number field, several are not valid: five are
recorded as missing rather than blank, one is recorded as either a spreadsheet cell
reference or a typographicaterror (“=gl16”), one is recorded as an en dash (“-”), and
another is recorded as “Null.” /d.

vi.  Challenge file included addresses near or on military
installations

105. Defendants knew that Georgia residents who temporarily relocate due
to military service remain eligible to vote in Georgia. See, e.g., TTV Resp. to First
Interrogatories No. 7 at 24; OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 120:14-20.

106. Dr. Mayer found 22,956 registrants who, according to the challenge

file, moved to an address on a military installation, including 397 registrants who
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are listed as actually living on a military installation. Mayer Rep. at 30. For example,
the challenge list includes 41 registrants with an address on Fort Knox, KY; 35 on
Fort Bragg, NC; 29 on Fort Campbell, KY; 23 on Joint Base Lewis McChord, WA;
16 on Fort Stewart, GA; 15 on Fort Meade, MD; 14 on Eglin Air Force Base, FL;
13 on Fort Irwin, CA; 12 on Camp Lejeune, NC; and nine at the United States Air
Force Academy, CO. /d.

107. Gregg Phillips (OPSEC) was aware that voters who submit even a
permanent change of address form to USPS listing their new duty station remain
eligible to vote in the state where they regisiered. OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 126:2-11.
However, when asked what further aiialysis was performed to identify whether
military voters who moved to a base retained their eligibility to vote in Georgia, Mr.
Phillips admitted “[w]e didi’t.” Id. 126:12-15.

vii. Challenge file included addresses in municipalities
with universities.

108. Defendants also knew that students remain eligible to vote at their
original residence when attending school out of state (or out of county). See, e.g.,
TTV Resp. to First Interrogatories No. 7 at 24; OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 120:14-21.

109. Dr. Mayer found 35,056 registrants in the challenge file with a “new”
address in a city containing academic institutions that Georgia residents regularly

attend. Mayer Report at 31. As one example, the small town of Dahlonega is home
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to the University of North Georgia, as well as the Army base Camp Merrill. /d. at
50. From this town of 7,500 people, True the Vote challenged 273 individuals. /d.

110. In all, 57,534 registrants in the challenge file—or 22.9% of the entire
list—are alleged to have moved to or near a military installation, or to a municipality
with a college or university. /d. at 32.

111. Dr. Mayer concluded that the “matching process ostensibly used by
True the Vote does not adhere to standard practice in poiitical science.” Id. at 32.
Because Defendants did not “ensure that data fields were conforming, that missing
and anomalous values were identified and corrected, and that implausible matches
(such as duplicates and name changes) were either removed or investigated further
to identify possible errors,” their validation process was “wholly inadequate.” 1d.

viil. Veiunteer challengers and fellow defendants warned
‘True the Vote of obvious errors.

112. True the Vote’s regular practice was to submit challenges from a True
the Vote email account under a volunteer’s name without telling the volunteer who
was being challenged. See Cooper Tr. 75:3-76:4. However, when Joe Martin, Chair
of the Taliaferro County Republican Party, was identified as a registered voter
willing to submit True the Vote’s challenge list in his county, Ex. 4, Joseph Martin
Dep. Tr. (“Martin Tr.”) 20:17-22, he requested the challenge list for Taliaferro

County to submit himself. /d. 43:19-44:2.
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113. After receiving True the Vote’s list of 37 names, Mr. Martin asked:
“How did this list come about? Where did this list come from? Who generated the
list?” Martin Tr. 38:19-20. Martin expressed that he believed standard practice
required providing two sources for the allegation that a voter had changed residency,
and nothing about the challenge lists reflected that multiple sources had been
consulted. /d. 46:20-47:5.

114. Martin was “not comfortable” that the list he received “was valid,” id.
38:17-19, and so rather than challenge all 37 individuals on True the Vote’s
Taliaferro County list, Mr. Martin winnowes the list himself and chose to submit
letters challenging only the three registrants on the list who had requested an
absentee ballot for the runoff elections. Id. 55:7-12.

115. But Martin scon discovered that even this limited subset was faulty.
According to county elections officials: (1) the first person he challenged did not
live in New Jersey, as his challenge letter alleged, and instead was a 100-year-old
woman living in Taliaferro County, (2) the second person he challenged lived in a
nursing home and maintained a permanent residence in Taliaferro County, and (3)
the third person he challenged also lived in a nursing home. Martin Tr. 61:12—-66:7.

116. Asaresult, Martin promptly withdrew all of his challenges and updated

True the Vote about the issues he encountered: “My experience with the True the
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Vote data base has not been good,” he wrote in an email, because of “[c]oncerns
with the quality of your information.” Id. 87:4-8, 87:16—18. After summarizing the
relevant events, he repeated again, “Impact of 3 challenges. Not good! Indicates
problem with data accuracy and relevance.” Id. 77:6-78:9; 83:20-84:9.°

117. Shortly after Martin shared that his desire to withdraw his challenges,
Defendant Cooper emailed Ms. Engelbrecht that he would immediately look for a
replacement challenger in Taliaferro County to resubmit the list. Cooper Tr. 105:14-
20.

118. True the Vote also proceeded with challenges to all 37 individuals on
the Taliaferro County challenge list under Martin’s name but without telling Martin
it was doing so. Martin Tr. 56:4-57:9.°

119. Defendant Mark Davis also took “exception” to the logic of True the
Vote’s challenge methodology. Davis I Tr. 60:15-18.

120. Mr. Davis specifically objected that he “was not on board with the

philosophy surrounding [TTV’s] challenge,” as he “felt it was too broad,” and that

> Notably, Mr. Martin—the only challenger who requested to see the list of
individuals to be challenged in his county, Cooper Tr. 75:3—76:4—was also the one
challenger to request that his challenges be withdrawn. See TTV/Engelbrecht Tr.
328:4-13.

6 Mr. Martin was “shocked” when he later learned from open records requests that
True the Vote had done this. Martin Tr. 57:5-15, 62:21-63:3.
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he wanted his challenges to “be more legitimate, more smaller.” Id. ; Davis II Tr.
94:14-17.

121. Ms. Engelbrecht and True the Vote, however, were intent on “including
as many records as possible within [True the Vote’s] challenge.” Engelbrecht/TTV
Tr. 149:20-150:1.

122. Mr. Davis also recognized that many registrants who file a “permanent”
change of address form with the postal service only intend to relocate temporarily,
and filing a “permanent” change of address form daes not indicate that the individual
has moved permanently. A “permanent” change of address form is required for mail
forwarding that lasts longer than a year; thus, if the registrant is a student or member
of the military whose temporary reiocation is expected to last longer than one year,
they must complete a permeanent change of address form to ensure mail forwarding
for the duration of their temporary relocation. Davis I Tr. 26:14-27:5.

123. True the Vote did not conduct any such investigation to determine
whether voters who filed a “permanent” change of address were students or
otherwise away temporarily; instead, Mr. Phillips spent “an hour maybe” reviewing
the challenge file to ensure the number of errors looked “reasonable” relative to his

expectations, and he deemed that sufficient. OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 140:8-141:10.
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124. Unfortunately, Mr. Davis himself also failed to perform the necessary
analysis on his own challenge file of 40,000 registrants. He asked Mr. Somerville to
manually remove names with addresses that might be affiliated with military bases,
but not remove college students or other potentially eligible voters. Davis 1 Tr.
149:18-150:1.

125. While Mr. Davis and Mr. Phillips (OPSEC) were each disinterested in
the problems with their own challenge lists, they had no trouble recognizing each
other’s flaws. See OPSEC/Phillips Tr. 103:13-16. Mr. Phillips specifically criticized
Mr. Davis’s approach for failing to verify the identity of individuals on the voter
rolls before matching to the NCOA, and assessed Mr. Davis’s methodology bluntly
by stating: “This is bad process.” 7d.

3. True the Vsie made good on its call to collaborate and
galvanize support from Republicans by coordinating its

Validate the Vote scheme with Georgia Republican Party
officials.

126. True the Vote also partnered with and “galvanize[d] support” from
Republicans in Georgia. In a December 14, 2020 press release, True the Vote
announced that it was “partner[ing]” with the Georgia Republican Party to help them
“implement the most comprehensive ballot security initiative in Georgia history.”

Dec. 14 Press Release.
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127. For its mass elector challenges, True the Vote recruited challengers
solely through two Georgia Republican Party officials, Defendants James Cooper
and Ron Johnson, who in turn relied on Republican Party contacts to recruit
challengers, several of whom were GOP party officials themselves. Cooper Tr. 33:3—
13; 36:11-37:19; 115:15-22; Johnson Tr. 34:4-8; TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 239:22—
240:15; see also Cooper Tr. 139:8-14.

128. Mr. Cooper testified that True the Vote ran its recruitment process from
the Georgia GOP spreadsheet, recruiting Republican county chairs, and then
recruiting a different challenger if a current.or former Republican county chair did
not want to be a challenger. See Cooper ir. 58:3-9; 129:22-130:4.

129. Joe Martin—the volunteer who ultimately requested that his challenge
be withdrawn (and Chair ofthe Taliaferro County Republican Party)—even thought
that Mr. Cooper had recruited him on behalf of the Georgia Republican Party, as
Cooper signed his True the Vote recruitment email as coming from the “3rd Vice

Chair 10th District Republican Party.” Williams 0377.”

7 Although True the Vote denied Plaintiffs’ Request for Admission No. 17 that it
reached out to the Georgia Republican Party before reaching out to the Democratic
Party of Georgia, that denial was false. As Ms. Engelbrecht testified in her deposition
on behalf of True the Vote, she reached out to and partnered with the Georgia
Republican Party before attempting to contact the Democratic Party of Georgia. See
TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 166:14—-167:4.
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130. True the Vote’s press release announcing its partnership with the
Georgia Republican Party was just one of many designed to further the Validate the
Vote scheme—specifically, the plan to “[bJuild public momentum through broad
publicity.” Validate the Vote 2020 at 1; TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 274:16-275:12.

4. Defendants’ public statements stoked fears, accused hundreds
of thousands of Georgians of acting unlawfully, and

exaggerated its efforts to build momentum for its Validate the
Vote scheme.

131. True the Vote’s December 18, 2020 press release announcing its mass
challenges stated that it had “partner[ed] with Georgians in every county to
preemptively challenge 364,541 potentially ineligible voters,” Ex. 22, Dec. 18 Press
Release. In fact, it had not. See TYV/Engelbrecht Tr. 252:18-22. Instead, Ms.
Engelbrecht testified that this‘language was intended to signal “willingness” to
partner with Georgians inevery county. /d. 251:14-17.

132. Ms. Engelbrecht testified that the point of the press release was “more
to show just support for the engagement of citizens,” id. 252:16—17, i.e., to build the
public momentum necessary to accomplish Validate the Vote’s goals.

133. The press releases had another goal: to elicit donations. Ms.
Engelbrecht hoped that as awareness of the Validate the Vote program and its other
efforts increased, so too would financial support or donations to True the Vote. See

TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 81:2-9. Indeed, True the Vote anticipated having its “legal
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fees . . . covered by the Trump campaign” because the campaign was going to use
its research collected from the Validate the Vote scheme. /d. 305:3-8, 306:18-21.

134. Ms. Engelbrecht has also publicly “offer[ed] tips to ordinary Americans
to prevent the Democrat plan to steal the election in 2020,” see id. 323:15-324:3—
a plan referenced in True the Vote’s Validate the Vote proposal that Ms. Engelbrecht
admits was “promotional,” id. 269:17-271:13.

135. Despite True the Vote’s assertions that the Georgia Elector Challenges
did not accuse any voter of “act[ing] improperly” or seek to “remove people . . . from
the voter rolls,” TTV Resp. to Interrogatories.No. 5 at 22, its recruitment email stated
it was 99.9 percent certain that over-500,000 people on the Georgia voter rolls
shouldn’t be there. Williams 0375 But in her deposition, Ms. Engelbrecht stated that
the 500,000 number was incorrect and that it had no way of knowing whether the
99.9 percent figure was correct. See TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 232:5-234:15.

136. One of the recruiting emails for the True the Vote challenges claimed
that if the challenges had occurred in October, “it is very likely Trump would have
won Georgia.” Williams 0389.

137. True the Vote’s volunteers also believed they were removing people
from the voter rolls and that the challenged voters were violating the law. Volunteers

responded to recruiting emails stating that True the Vote could use their names and
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signatures to “challenge the illegal votes.” See, e.g., Ex. 35, Dec. 15, 2020 Dodge
County Challenger Email; Ex. 36, Dec. 18, 2020 Jones County Challenger Email;
Ex. 37, Dec. 15, 2020 Barrow County Challenger Email; Ex. 38, Dec. 19, 2020
Calhoun County Challenger Email; see also TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 236:6-243:19.

138. True the Vote did not correct these responses: they furthered its mission
of building “public momentum” and were consistent with True the Vote’s assertions
that “illegal” voting was rampant and those votes were being counted due to the
malfeasance of Democratic officials. Validate the Vote 2020 at 1.

139. On November 29, 2020, Defendants Mark Davis and Derek Somerville
published a Facebook post about a scerario in which a voter dubbed “Dave” was
alleged to have illegally voted in Georgia despite living in New York. In response,
one individual wrote: “[c]an-we start turning people in for election fraud? I have a
list of a few people who should be made sorry they voted in two states,” Ex. 25, Nov.
30, 2020 Davis Facebook Post at 1, of which Mr. Davis expressed support by
“liking” the message.

140. Several days later, on December 4, 2020, Mr. Somerville and Mr. Davis
published another post about voters registered with UPS store P.O. boxes, and
someone commented “I think a search warrant is in order here,” to which Mr. Davis

responded, “great idea!” Ex. 26, Dec. 4, 2020 Davis and Somerville Facebook Post
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at 3. Another individual commented on this post: “[I]et’s see if any one has the balls
to prosecute to the max or if they will just get a hand slap!” Id. at 4. Yet another
individual commented: “Hang that prick!!!” Ex. 27, Dec. 5, 2020 Davi and
Somerville Facebook Post at 6.

141. On December 20, 2020—shortly after True the Vote submitted the bulk
of its Georgia Elector Challenges—a group called “Crusade for Freedom” posted:
“We just prospectively challenged the eligibility of 360,000 voters in GA. Largest
single election challenge in Georgia and American history.” Ex. 23, Crusade for
Freedom Tweets. Two days later, Crusade for Freedom tweeted: “If the Georgia
counties refuse to handle the challenges of 366,000 ineligible voters in accordance
with the law, I plan to release the entire list so America can do the QC.” Id.;
TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 264:17-265:3. Both tweets contained the hashtags #eyesonGA
and #validatethevoteGA. /d.

142. Ms. Engelbrecht admitted that these hashtags mirrored the slogans
appearing on several True the Vote documents, an internal invoice between OPSEC
and True the Vote. See TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 264:7-16. Ms. Engelbrecht also
admitted that she was not aware of any groups other than True the Vote that
challenged the eligibility of approximately 366,000 voters in Georgia during the

runoff elections. /d. 264:2—6. And she admitted that Crusade for Freedom’s logo in

41



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-2 Filed 05/16/22 Page 42 of 51

its tweets matched the logo in a Facebook post from an organization named Time
for a Hero—which was founded by Ms. Engelbrecht and Mr. Phillips, id. 37:4-6—
that stated, “Crusade for Freedom coming soon,” id. 261:10-11.

143. About a week later, on December 30, 2020, Mr. Davis texted Mr.
Somerville, “Derek, we need to stop this. If they publish they will be flooded with
defamation complaints.” Davis II Tr. 129:3-10; 129:11-19 (Mr. Davis describing his
concern that complaints were going to be made public),

144. Mr. Davis further explained that publishing the names would “literally
mak[e] good on one of the ‘Threats’ alleged an [Plaintiffs’] complaint.” Somerville
371. Mr. Davis texted Ms. Englebrecht to implore her not to publish the names.

D.  True the Vote threatened to place a bounty on fraud and SEALS
at polling places.

145. True the Vote also created a “hotline,” which it used to gather
information or data that OPSEC would aggregate for use in overturning electoral
results. TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 70:11-14. Yet Ms. Engelbrecht was “troubled” by the
“intimidation” suffered by electors who received threats to themselves and their
businesses, TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 330:4-10, and recognized the “chilling effect”
such an environment could have. /d. 75:13.

146. True the Vote then announced a whistleblower fund in excess of $1

million, TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 315:20-316:2.
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147. Historically, bounties in the voting context have been “used to direct
suspicion around minority voters” by “incentivizing individuals to create or suspect
fraud where there may have been none.” Burton Rep. at 26.

148. Nevertheless, Ms. Engelbrecht promoted the bounty in press releases
and on her podcast, stating that “Validate the Vote is about [] putting a bounty on
the fraud.” Ex. 43, Engelbrecht Podcast Transcript; TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 70:6-7.

149. True the Vote did not report any of the tips submitted to the Validate
the Vote Georgia hotline to state authorities for‘action or investigation. See id.
94:17-95:3.

150. With respect to the Georgia‘Senate runoffs, True the Vote characterized
its Validate the Vote scheme as ‘part of “the most comprehensive ballot security
effort in Georgia history.” I2¢c. 14 Press Release.

151. That “ballot security” effort also involved soliciting Georgia voters to
act as “citizen watchdogs” by reporting “election fraud, manipulation or illegal
action taking place.” Id. True the Vote targeted specific citizens to serve as
“watchdogs”: it launched a “Continue to Serve” initiative that recruited veterans and
first responders, including Navy SEALS, to monitor polling places. See Ex. 24, Seals
at the Polls Podcast Tr. As Ms. Engelbrecht explained, polling places “need[ed]

people who were unafraid to call it like they see it,” and if “[y]Jou want to talk about
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people who understand and respect law and order and chain of command, you get
some S[EALS] in those polls.” Ms. Engelbrecht explained how the SEALS could
“interact with voters,” TTV/Engelbrecht Tr. 63:18-21, and election officials: “no,
no, that is not—this is what it says and this is, this is how we’re going to play the
show,” id. 62:9-12.

E. Defendants’ actions were objectively intimidating, and, in fact,
intimidated voters.

152. “[V]oters whose eligibility is challenged may perceive a legal risk if
they vote, which again dramatically increases the cost of voting and discourages
turnout even if the individual is eligible.” Mayer Rep. at 41.

153. This risk is particularly acute for low-information voters or voters of
lower socioeconomic status who may lack the resources to navigate the law or
understand whether they are still eligible to vote. Mayer Rep. at 39-41.

154. “[V]oters may be reasonably hesitant to arrive at the polls to ‘prove’
their eligibility if it has been challenged,” particularly in a state, like Georgia, that

has for the past decade “launched numerous investigations into voters accused of

wrongdoing,” particularly minority voters. Burton Rep. at 17-20, 25.%

8 Georgia’s “Elector Challenge” provision, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-230, was enacted over
100 years ago, the Elector Challenge provision was, like True the Vote’s Validate
the Vote scheme, “[g]rounded on unsubstantiated claims of voter fraud” and “the
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155. When Plaintiff Jane Doe first learned that her eligibility to vote had
been challenged by Defendants by reading a local paper that publicly disclosed her
name, she feared that she or her family could become the target of harassment from
Defendants and their supporters if she voted. Jane Doe Decl. 9 5, 7, 9.

156. Jane Doe was especially concerned because she had seen reports of
Georgia’s elections workers being harassed, threatened, and doxed after the general
election. Id. 9 7.

157. Jane Doe’s information still remains publicly online to this day, and she
fears she will be challenged again in future eiections and that her eligibility to vote
will be questioned again. Id. § 11.

158. Similarly, Plaintiff Jocelyn Heredia testified that she felt intimidated
when she was challenged by Defendants. Heredia Tr. 44:21-45:8. Heredia was also

publicly listed as a “challenged voter” on Banks County’s website for six months.

pretext of purifying elections.” Burton Rep. at 8. Designed to disenfranchise Black
voters, it was used with devastating effect for decades in mass challenges to suppress
Black voting power and steal elections for white supremacists, most famously
Eugene Talmadge and Marvin Griffin in 1946. See id. 8—14. The Talmadge and
Griffin mass challenges were the largest in Georgia history—until True the Vote’s.
See id. 24-25. The Talmadge and Griffin challenges were brought shortly before
election day and curbed the ability of Black Georgians, who had just gained access
to vote in primaries, the ability to exert influence over the primary process. See
Burton Rep. at 24. Likewise, True the Vote brought its mass challenges not months
before the election, but mere days before Georgia elected its first Black Senator to
the United States Congress. See id. at 24-25.
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Id. 31:24-32:3, 61:17-62:21. For Ms. Heredia, the challenge was an intimidating
experience, both because of the unclear legal implications and because she felt she
was being targeted as a person of color in a predominantly white county. /d. 44:12-
45:8.

159. Stephanie Pfeiffer Stinetorf is another voter who experienced anxiety
about her ability to participate in the Georgia runoff elections in January 2021 after
she was challenged by Defendants. See infra 9 160-166.

160. Stinetorf moved to Georgia in 2018, and registered to vote at the time.
Ex. 17, Stinetorf Decl. § 2. She is a civilian employee of the United States
Department of Defense, and as part of iier job, received military orders to move to
Germany in August 2020, at which time she submitted a change of address form to
ensure she would continue {6 receive mail. Id. 9 3-4.

161. When Stinetorf learned that her absentee ballot for the January 2021
runoff election had been challenged, she became “very confused and concerned.” /d.
99 6-8.

162. Stinetorf immediately emailed and called the county registrar to get
more information about the challenge, and her “anxiety grew” when she did not hear

back for several days. Id. 9 10.
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163. Given the demands of Ms. Stinetorf’s job and the time difference
between the U.S. and Germany, she was not sure that she could remedy the problem
or participate in any challenge hearings to protect her right to vote, which caused her
significant amount of stress. /d. § 9.

164. Several days after Stinetorf initially found out her ballot had been
challenged, she learned that a court order prevented her county from discarding her
ballot unless the challenger was able to present furthcr information about her
ineligibility. /d. q§ 11.

165. Even though these issues were eventually resolved, Stinetorf found the
process of trying to figure out why she had been challenged and how she could prove
her eligibility to vote in Georgia was “difficult and confusing,” and she is not sure
she could have personally re¢solved the issue if not for the intervening order allowing
her ballot to be counted. /d. 4 12.

166. Stinetorf is also concerned about the impact on her and her husband,
who is also a Georgia voter stationed in Germany, of any future challenges and the
time and energy it would take for them to defend their right to vote. /d. 4 13.

167. Another voter, Gamaliel Warren Turner, Sr., 1s a 68-year-old retired
veteran and lifelong Georgia resident who is registered to vote in Muscogee County.

Ex. 18, Turner Decl. q 2.
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168. Turner registered to vote when he was 18 and has voted in almost every
election over the past 50 years. Id. 9 2.

169. Turner is employed as a government contractor with the United States
Navy, and in October 2019 had to temporarily relocate to Camarillo, California for
his job. Id. 9 3. Turner thus submitted a postal service change of address form to
avoid missing mail deliveries while away on temporary work assignment; however,
he always intended to return to Georgia and thus never registered to vote in
California or changed his citizenship or residence from Georgia to another state. /d.
19 3-4.

170. Turner voted by absentce ballot in the 2020 primary and general
election, and requested that the registrar mail his ballot to his California address for
the runoff election. /d. 9 6.

171. However, Turner was one of 4,000 voters who had been challenged by
Defendants in Muscogee County. Id. § 7.

172. As aresult of the challenges, Turner became worried about the legality
of his participation in the January runoff elections. And while he successfully sued
the Muscogee County Board of Elections to ensure his ballot would be counted, the

“entire experience was scary, confusing, and intimidating,” as he did not know how
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he would resolve the situation in time to vote. /d. 49 8-9. Turner also had to pay an
extra charge to send his ballot via FedEx for expedited delivery. /d. q 10.

173. As a Black voter and veteran growing up in the segregation era, he
found the challenge process discouraging, and “[t]hinking back to the senseless
difficulty of [his] voting experience in the January runoff elections gives [him]
PTSD.” Id. q 11-12.

174. Turner wonders “if it is even worth tryirig to vote again given the

trouble that the voter challenge has caused [him].”Jd. 4 11.

Respectfully submitted, this 16th day of May, 2022.
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Validate the Vote 2020

Goal

To ensure the 2020 election returns reflect one vote cast by one eligible voter and thereby protect the

right to vote and the integrity of the election.

Problem

There is significant evidence that there are numerous instances of illegal ballots being cast and
counted in the 2020 general election. Most of these illegal votes are being counted in Democrat
counties and are suppressing legitimate resutts.

This is a result of Democrat officials refusal to obey state election laws and countingillegal votes. Itis
also the result of deliberate election fraud. This situation has been aided by the Democrat’s deliberate
effort to radically expand mail-in balloting, creating myriad opportunities for voter fraud that does
not exist with in-person voting.

Furthermore, this flood of illegal votes viofates the U.S. Constitution's right to vote by diluting the
votes of legitimate voters.

Plan

e Solicit whistleblower testimonies from those impacted by or involved in election €raud - True the
Vote

e Build public momentum through broad publicity - Truethe Vote

¢ Galvanize Republican legislative support in key states - True the Vote

o Aggregate and analyze data to identify patterns of election subversior™ OPSEC Group

e File lawsuits in Federal Court with capacity to be heard by SCOT!US~ True the Vote

Tactical Organizing: National, State, with micro-targeting inkéy counties

Key States: Arizona, Nevada, Georgia, North Carolina;Fennsylvania, Michigan, Wisconsin

Legal Strategy

Jim Bopp, True the Vote General Counsei; fead attorney in Bush v. Gore and Citizens United, will file
federal suits in the seven closest battleground states to investigate voter fraud, expose it, and to
nullify the results of the state's election, so that the Presidential Electors can be selected in a special
election or by the state legislature.

Step 1: A federal civil rights lawsuit will be filed in each targeted state. This will provide the vehicle to
serve subpoenas on state election officials to produce critical election data.

Step 2: Along with publicly available data, the produced election data will be analyzed toidentify both
illegal voters andillegal votes.

Step 3: If sufficient election fraud is proven, making the results of the election doubtful, the lawsuit
will seek to have the state's election results overturned, leading to a special election, to selection of
Presidential Elector by the state legislature, or to the selection the President by the U.S. House of
Representatives.

TEAM

True the Vote

Catherine Engelbrecht
President

Legal
Jim Bopp
True the Vote General Counsel

Public Affairs
David Polyansky
Principal
Catherine Frazier
Principal

Data and Research
OPSEC Group
Gregg Phillips
President

Funding Estimate
Whistleblower Campaign
$2,000,000

Data and Research
$1,750,00

Litigation

District Courts $2,500,00
Appeals $375,000

US Supreme Court
$700,000

Total Effort
$7.325,000

Funding Vehicles
True the Vote
Non-Profit 501c3

OPSEC Group
Limited Liability Corp.

Engelbrecht

Exhibit 1

582

WWW.DIGITALEVIDENCEGROUP.COM

Eshelman 00025
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TRUE
THIE

VOTE

True the Vote is a nonpartisan organization recognized under section 501(c)3 of the Internal Revenue Code,
Federal Tax ID #27-2860095. Contributions or gifts to the True the Vote are tax-deductibte as charitable
contributions for federal income tax purposes to the fullest extent permitted by law. Donors do notreceive

any goods or services in exchange for any part of their contributions..

Donations to True the Vote may be made in a variety of forms:
Physical Delivery: True the Vote
PO Box 3109 #19128, Houston, TX 77253-3109

Wire Transfer: Wells Fargo Bank NA 420 Montgormiery St
San Francisco CA 94104
ABA# 121000248
FBO True the Vote Account # 2144597214

Online/Credit Card: www.truetheyite.org

Stock transfer; Fidelity'Investments
FB0 True the Vote
Account # 39900000747965121
Routing # 101205681

For more information, please contact:

Catherine Engelbrecht catherine@truethevote.org | 832.444.7701

CONFIDENTIAL 583 Eshelman 00026
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9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 9
1 answer the question, I will assume that you
2 understand it. Does that sound good?
3 A Yes.
4 Q Okay. If at any point you want to

5 take a break, let me know. I'll try to find a

6 good place to stop.

7 The one exception is that if I'm
8 asking a question, then we have to finish
9 answering that question before we can take the

10 break. Does that sound good?

11 A Unless I need advice from the counsel.
12 Q Sounds good, okay. And as you know,
13 today a court reporter will be recording this

14 session. The court reporter can only record

15 audible responses, so I will ask that you answer

16 with an audible yes or no.

17 A head shake, for instance, won't come
18 out on the transcript, so we need audible

19 responses. Does that sound good?

20 A Yes, sir.

21 Q Okay. And finally, if you could

22 please wait until I'm finished asking a question,

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646
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9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 10
1 that would be great, because otherwise we'll be
2 talking over each other; that way we have a clear
3 record for the Court. Does that sound good?
4 A Yes.
5 Q Okay, great. All right, so let's dive

6 right in. So first, what did you do to prepare

7 for today's deposition?

8 A Nothing.

9 Q Nothing. Did you.meet with anyone
10 regarding this deposition?

11 A Counsel yesterday.

12 Q Okay, vésterday. And have you

13 discussed this d=position with anyone other than
14 your attorneys?

15 A No.

16 0 Okay. All right, so first I want to

17 get a little personal background.
18 How long have you been a resident of

19 Walton County?

20 A 1998.
21 Q Since '98. And are you a registered
22 voter in Walton County?

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646
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9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 11
1 A Yes.
2 Q How long have you been a registered
3 voter there?
4 A Since I moved in 1998. I don't recall

5 the exact date.

o 0 That's fine.

7 And what i1s your occupation?

8 A Own a trucking company.

9 Q Do you also serve.as the 3rd Vice

10 Chair for the 10th District of the Georgia

11 Republican Party?

12 A No longer serve as the 3rd Vice Chair.
13 Q No Ionger. When did you serve as the

14 Vice Chair?

15 A From the convention of 2019 to the
16 convention of '21.
17 Q '21, great. And during that time,

18 what were your duties as the Vice Chair?

19 A Under our district rules, we have no
20 specific list of duties as a 3rd Vice Chair.
21 Q Okay. So then what did you do like on

22 a daily basis when you fulfilled that role?

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646
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9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 12
1 A You're going to have to ask that
2 again. I'm sorry.
3 Q Sure, no problem.
4 So there were no set duties. On a
5 daily basis while you were serving as the

6 Vice Chair, what did you do?

7 A I did anything that was requested of
8 me by the Chair of the district, as provided in

9 our rules.
10 0 And who was the Chair of the district

11 at the time?

12 A The Chair of the district at the time
13 was Karen Schwirnn.
14 Q Can you give me Jjust a few examples of

15 the sorts of things that Karen Schwinn asked you

16 to do as the Vice Chair?

17 A Developed a GOTV for the January

18 runoff and for the November election, general

19 election last year.

20 I reorganized counties that fell into
21 the unorganized category.

22 Q Okay. Did you say GOTV?

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646
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9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 13
1 A Yes, "Get Out The Vote."
2 Q Okay, thank you.
3 Can you describe what that is?
4 A It is plans that we do to turn out
5 Republican votes for Republican nominees.
6 Q And you mentioned two different kinds
7 of counties in the second part of your answer.
8 Can you remind me what those are?
9 A I'm sorry?
10 0 You mentioned two different kinds of
11 counties, I believe, in the second part or your
12 answer. Unorganized I think was one of them.
13 Can ‘you describe what that is?
14 A Unorganized county is when a county
15 does not have a local county party. They are
16 considered unorganized within the party structure.
17 Q Okay. And part of your role is to get
18 them organized?
19 A Yes.
20 Q Okay. So how long have you been
21 involved 1n Georgia politics?
22 A Since 2010.

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646
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9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper

Page 26
1 use to develop this belief?

2 A There's publications out there from

3 places that show voters that have voted that no

4 longer live in the state of Georgia.

5 There's just been a multiple -- I

6 mean, I can't recall all the places that I have
7 been able to pull information from over that

8 period of time, but in my gut, I helieve there was
9 fraud in the state of Georgia.
10 Q Okay. And just to clarify then, these

11 things that you read about the people who no

12 longer live in the state of Georgia, none of these
13 sources contained any discussion of the NCOA?

14 A I“couldn't recall that specifically.
15 I mean, this was last November.

16 Q Okay. Did Mr. Williams know that you

17 held this belief?

18 A I do not know the answer to that.

19 Q Do you have a sense of why he called
20 you then to invite you to this meeting to discuss
21 the Georgia elector challenges?

22 A As I had said earlier, we worked -- we

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646
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9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
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22

Page 27

have used each other's services for many years.
We are members of the Republican Party here in
Georgia, we have a long-standing relationship, and
most of the time we tend to agree.

Q Before getting involved with the
True the Vote's Georgia elector challenges, were
you acquainted with any of the challengers that
ultimately submitted changes through

True the Vote?

A Some.
Q Some. How (did you know them?
A You would have to ask specifically --

I mean, some of ‘them were county chairs, some of
them I knew._ through the party, some of them I did
not know.

Q Okay. Any of these people that you
Jjust referenced, had you worked with any of them

on elections or political matters before?

A Political matters, some of them, yes.
Q Are those were the county chairs?

A Correct.

0 And what sorts of political matters,
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1 Just a list that you can give?
2 A Well, there would be nothing in

8 during that time.

18 mean also on the phone or text?

3 particular. As a 3rd Vice Chair, I'm in and out

4 of counties within our district, and just talking
5 in general to the county chairs and the members of
6 their party. No specific work relation there,

7 unless I actually had organized their county

9 Q Got it. So for any of the challengers
10 that you ended up recruiting, did you discuss with
11 them what the challenges were based on?

12 A Based on the National Change of

13 Address Registry. Some I talked to, some I didn't

14 talk to. Everything I did was virtually through

15 email, which y'all have a record of.
16 Q All right. So when you say
17 "talked to" then, do you mean email, or do you

19 A Well, I would make -- I would -- it
20 just depends on who it was. You know, there was
21 text messages, there was emails, there were some
22 phone calls. I mean, I can't recall who and when
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1 and where.

2 Q Okay, but you said it depends on who

3 it was. Were there certain people in particular,
4 then, that you chose to call as opposed to email?
5 A There were -- there were -- there

6 were --— 1f I had an email address, I emailed. If
7 I didn't have an email address and could get a

8 phone number, I would talk.

9 Q And how did you have this information,
10 either the email or the phone, beforehand?

11 A FEmails typically were people that I

12 already knew, or eitlier were sent through a mutual
13 contact.

14 Q And phones?

15 A Phones were people that I already

16 knew; or they would forward emails out that had my
17 contact on it, they'd call me.

18 Q Okay. And who are these mutual

19 contacts that connected you with some of the
20 challengers?
21 A County party chairmen, people just I
22 know in general. I can't recall specific
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1 individual names.
2 Q When you say county party chairman, do
3 you mean one county in particular, or several
4 counties?
5 A No, there would be -- like I would
6 send -- I would send an email, and basically they
7 would forward it.
8 Q I'm sorry, can you repeat that last
9 part?
10 A When I would send emails sometimes,
11 the people would forward the email.
12 Q And you‘re talking about county chairs
13 specific here? “If you sent them an email, they
14 would forward it?
15 A I don't -- no, not all the county
16 chairs would forward the email.
17 Q Okay. But some of them did?
18 A Some. Yes, I would think some of them
19 did.
20 Q Okay. You don't know for sure?
21 A I do not know for sure.
22 Q Did any of these county chairs that
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you emailed, did you have any sort of
correspondence with them about the email that you
had sent, or any calls, any sort of subsequent
communication?

A I don't recall. All my emails were
turned over.

0 All of them?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. So sometimes there were no

responses to the emails?

A Right.
Q Okay, s& it's a good time to ask this
then. So just g=nerally speaking, what was your

role in True the Vote's Georgia elector
challenges?

A To attempt to recruit people to
challenge the voters in the county.

Q And were any of the challengers that

you recruited suggested to you?

A I don't recall if any were actually
suggested.
Q I believe you mentioned -- did you
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know all of the people that you reached out to

recruit?
A No, sir.
Q No. The ones you did know, other than

the county chairs, we discussed that part, but
other challengers, how did you know them?

A Some through the party, some just
acquaintances. Some would be party members, some
would be just general acquaintances.

Q All right. And did you work with
anyone else to recruit ¢hallengers?

A Me persornally, did I work with anyone
to recruit chall=engers? 1Is that the gquestion?

0 Yes, sir.

A I'm sorry.

MR. BOPP: Yeah. Jim, if you don't
understand the question, don't rephrase it, just
tell him you don't understand the question. He'll
be happy to rephrase it so you'll know what it is.

THE WITNESS: So could you rephrase

the question for me, please, sir?
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1 BY MR. RAMIREZ:
2 0 Surely, sure.
3 So when you were recruiting
4 challengers, were you doing that solo? Were you
5 doing that with any other people?
6 A Myself and Ron Johnson were recruiting
7 challengers.
8 Q Okay. Like separately at the same
9 time, or together?
10 A Separately at tlie same time.
11 Q Okay, got it.
12 A He took<basically North Georgia, I
13 took South Georgia.
14 Q Got it. And over what period of time
15 did you recruit challengers for the
16 True the Vote's voter challenge effort?
17 A I don't recall the exact amount of
18 time.
19 Q Do you have a general sense that you
20 can give me?
21 A A week and a half to two weeks.
22 ) Yeah, so end state, start date, if you
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1 can recall?
2 A I can't recall exact dates.
3 Q Generally, would the start be before
4 or after the general election?
5 A It was after the general election.
o 0 Okay. And the end dates -- let's see,
7 two or three weeks. Would that be before or after
8 Christmas?
9 A It was before Christmas.
10 0 Before Christmas.
11 You didn't (recruit anyone after
12 Christmas?
13 A No, ‘sir.
14 Q Ckay. And, Kenzie, are you my
15 hot seater?
16 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Yes, I am.
17 MR. RAMIREZ: Okay. If we could pull
18 up Tab 1 and mark it as Exhibit 1.
19 (Cooper Exhibit 1 was marked
20 for identification.)
21 BY MR. RAMIREZ:
22 Q Okay, can you see this, Mr. Cooper?
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1 A Yes, sir.
2 0 And the font might be a little small
3 for you, it is on my screen, but hopefully you can

4 read it.

6 between the pages?

16 scroll.

18 time bigger, if that's what you want.

19 go back to one page?

5 Kenzie, is there a way to scroll

7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Yeah. Do you want
8 side by side, or Jjust one by one?

9 MR. RAMIREZ: Let's see it side by
10 side, see if it's too smalil, if that works.
11 MR. BOPP: (I'm sorry, but that is very

12 difficult for me to‘see. It's just too small.

13 MR. RAMIREZ: Can we make it bigger,
14 Kenzie? And if we can't, then let's go back to
15 one page and make it larger, and then we can

17 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: I can make one at a

You want to

20 MR. RAMIREZ: I think that looks good.
21 Can you see that, Mr. Bopp?
22 MR. BOPP: I can, thank you.
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1 MR. RAMIREZ: Mr. Cooper, can you see
2 that?
3 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
4 BY MR. RAMIREZ:
5 Q Okay. So, Mr. Cooper, do you
6 recognize this email?
7 A I do.
8 0 Did you write this email?
9 A I did.
10 Q And to whom did you send it?
11 A This was generic that I sent out to

12 the people that I had the email contact

13 information for;< that would have been to some

14 county chairs, I believe, and general

15 acquaintances and whatnot, as I could obtain email
16 addresses.

17 Q And this list of people to whom you

18 sent it, that list you developed yourself? You

19 did not have anyone suggest names to whom to send
20 this email?

21 A The state party had a PDF -- not a

22 PDF, an Excel spreadsheet on the state website
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1 that was a list of the county chairs. That had
2 contact information for all the county chairs, and
3 I used that as a resource.
4 Q All right. So I know we covered this
5 to some extent, but I don't think I've asked this
6 specific question.
7 This particular email, did you know
8 every person to whom you sent it?
9 A No.
10 Q The people you<did not know to whom
11 you sent it, how did you obtain their contact
12 information?
13 A Most<of the ones that got this that I
14 did not know were on the state website as county
15 party chairmen.
16 Q And the people you did know, these
17 were affiliates of yours either through the
18 party or through personal connection?
19 A Yes, sir.
20 Q Did you know whether each person to
21 whom you sent this email was a registered Georgia
22 voter?
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1 A Yes, sir. As far as the county, to
2 hold a county party office or a state party
3 office, you're required to be a Georgia voter, so
4 I did know that they were all registered voters.
5 And my acquaintances that were sent
6 this, yes, I knew they were registered voters.
7 0 Got it. One second.
8 Kenzie, can we see the higher part of
9 this email where it says To and From and that
10 information? Awesome, thank you.
11 Okay, just to clarify, Mr. Cooper,
12 your email address tliere, does ".gop" stand for
13 Republican party?
14 A No, sir, that's a personal gmail
15 address that I used when I was —-- when I got
16 elected as the 3rd Vice Chair, I created that to
17 keep my business and my activity politically
18 separate.
19 0 Okay. So what does GOP stand for in
20 the email address?
21 A Grand 0Old Party.
22 Q Sorry, can you repeat that?
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1 you know, party correspondence as well.
2 Q Okay. Would you say that every person
3 to whom you sent this email in this exhibit was a
4 registered Republican voter?
5 A Could you rephrase? Could you restate
6 the question, please?
7 Q Sure. Actually, it might be easier
8 to -- Kenzie, can we take down the blowup?
9 Thanks. So now you can see the whole email again,

10 Mr. Cooper.

11 My question ‘was, this email that you
12 sent, was it sent only to registered Republican
13 voters?

14 A I“can't confirm that.

15 Q Okay. You knew that every person to

16 whom you sent the email was a registered Georgia

17 voter; 1s that correct?

18 A The people I sent the email to, I did
19 not confirm they were a registered voter, but if

20 they're on our state's list as county chair,

21 they're required to be -- one of the requirements

22 to hold an elected office in the Georgia
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1 Republican Party is to be a registered voter in

2 the county in which you reside.

3 0 Okay. So then is it fair to say that
4 every person to whom you sent this list -- sorry,
5 every person to whom you sent this email that

6 appeared on that list, all those people would have
7 to be registered Republican voters in Georgia?

8 A I'm not sure that I'm.understanding

9 exactly what you're asking, sir.

10 Q Okay, I can reprrase.

11 So you stated that the one requirement
12 to be on this state<list you have for the Georgia
13 Republican Party; to be on that list, you have to
14 be a registered voter in Georgia; 1s that correct?
15 A Yes. To be a county party officer or
16 a state party officer, you have to be a registered
17 voter in the county in which you reside.

18 Q Okay. So is it fair to say then, on
19 that list in particular, all those registered
20 voters are registered Republican voters?
21 A In the --
22 Q In Georgia.
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1 A Georgia 1s an open primary state. I
2 don't know if they're registered Republican or
3 not.
4 Q Okay. Helpful, thank you.
5 People not on the list that you knew
6 through personal connections, I want to clarify

7 that's the case.

8 If you sent an email to someone -- if
9 you sent this email to someone, and that person's
10 name wasn't on this state ¢ounty list, you knew
11 about that person because you knew them

12 personally; is that<correct?

13 A Yes,“unless this was forwarded to

14 someone from- someone else.

15 Q Right, right. So anyone to whom you

16 sent this email that wasn't on the list, did you

17 know whether those people were registered

18 Republican voters in Georgia?

19 A I couldn't confirm that, no.

20 Q Okay. This email that you sent -- and
21 I'm sure you can see 1t, it's the bottom of this
22 chain of emails in this exhibit.
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1 A Mm-hmm.
2 0 Is that the first contact you had with
3 each of the prospective challengers that you
4 recruited or attempted to recruit?
5 A The initial email -- that would be the
6 initial email that I would send, yes.
7 Q Any person to whom you sent the email,
8 did you have any prior contact with them about the
9 Georgia elector challenges?
10 A There were some that I only had a
11 phone number for that I ‘had to call to get an
12 email address.
13 Q Okay< And in those conversations, did
14 you discuss . the elector challenges at all?
15 A Basically I would outline what we was
16 doing, just like this initial email, and then get
17 the email address and send them the email.
18 Q Okay. Did you have a script for any
19 of these calls?
20 A Basically you're looking at the
21 script.
22 Q Okay. Other than the people who
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1 forwarded this email, and other than yourself, did
2 anyone else send this email to prospective
3 challengers?
4 A I do not know the answer to that.
5 Q How many people replied to your email?
6 A I couldn't recall the answer to that.
7 Q I'm sorry, just making sure you were

8 finished.
9 Is there a tracker or perhaps a
10 document that would help refresh your memory on

11 that topic?

12 A I'm sorgy?

13 Q If you can't recall, is there a

14 tracker or is there a document that would help
15 refresh your memory on that topic, the number of

16 people that responded to this email?
17 A I mean, I turned over all of the

18 emails that I had.

19 Q Did anyone call or text you in

20 response to receiving this email?

21 A I do not recall. I mean, I don't -- I
22 simply just don't remember.
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1 Q Okay. Then maybe a more useful
2 question would be, after you sent this email, sort
3 of what happened next as part of your recruitment
4 process?
5 A When I sent this email, if they
6 replied -- if they replied back that they wanted
7 to challenge, I would then forward the email to --
8 oh, my goodness, I can't recall all of the emails,
9 but it was a group of emails. . One was to
10 Mark Williams, one was —-- I mean, I'd cc
11 Mark Williams in sending it.
12 Because<what I'd do is, once they sent
13 in what True the:Vote needed as far as their
14 voter ID, their signature, and statement that they
15 could -- you know, they would challenge the voters
16 or the electors in their county, I would then
17 forward that back to Mark Williams, Ron Johnson,
18 Catherine, there was two other gentlemen, and Amy,
19 a lady named Amy, and I believe that was it.
20 So if they replied back to it with
21 permission, I would forward or send their reply,
22 the whole chain, to that group of individuals.
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1 So your recruitment work in this case

2 for True the Vote, other than the Defendants in

3 this case, did you discuss that with anyone else?
4 A I'm unsure about what you're actually
5 asking.

6 Q So you were involved in helping to

7 recruit challengers for True the Vote during the
8 runoff, right? Is that correct?

9 A Yes.

10 Q Did you discuss that, your role in

11 recruiting challengers (for this effort, did you
12 discuss that with anybody -- with anyone?

13 A With< the folks that I was trying to
14 recruit, yes.

15 0 Okay. And I assume also with the

16 other Defendants in this case?

17 A Yes.

18 0 Anyone else?

19 A No, not that I'm aware of.
20 Q Got it. Okay, give me one moment.
21 Kenzie, can we take this one down and

22 pull up Tab 2 and mark it as Exhibit 27?
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(Cooper Exhibit 2 was marked

for identification.)

BY MR. RAMIREZ:

Q So this one is a little bit longer.

It's a few pages. Could we blow this up a bit,
just the whole page? 1Is there a way to do that?
Yeah, great, okay.

Mr. Cooper, I'll give.you a
few minutes here to look over this document.
There are a few pages here; so I'm not sure if you
can scroll. Looks like I cannot, so, Kenzie, you
might have to do that for him.

Mr. “Cooper, go ahead and review this
document, and let me know when you're ready.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: And you can just
let me know when you're done reading, and I'll
scroll down for you.

THE WITNESS: Okay, this is starting
at the end. Can we go to the beginning first?

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the last
page of this little bit, and then this is the next

to last.

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-5 Filed 05/16/22 Page 27 of 51

9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 57
1 MR. BOPP: You're going to have to
2 make that bigger because I can't possibly read
3 that. I'm sorry. Thank you.
4 THE WITNESS: Okay, can we go to the
5 bottom of this, please?
o (Witness reviewing Exhibit 2
7 on zZoom screen.)
8 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: I believe this 1is
9 the first page.
10 MR. RAMIREZ: That's right.
11 Okay, can we blow up the first half of
12 the page? Yeah, above that, actually. I want the
13 first email. Yeah, thank you.
14 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: You're welcome.
15 BY MR. RAMIREZ:
16 Q Okay. All right.
17 So Mr. Cooper, do you see where you've
18 written, "I have not updated any shared files with
19 the counties I have sent in"?
20 A I have not updated -- I have not
21 updated any files with the counties I have sent
22 in, vyes.
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1 0 Yes. So what are those shared files

2 that you're referring to?

3 A That would be the -- that would be

4 that spreadsheet that was downloaded from the

5 state party's website that would go in, and if it
6 was the county chair that was going to challenge,
7 their information was already there. And if it

8 was not the county chair, Amy would put in the

9 name of the person that was challenging.

10 Q And what do youw mean by the counties
11 that you have sent in?

12 A Well, if you go in the order of this
13 email, you will ‘have seen that I had Clarke,

14 Hancock, Dodge, and I don't recall the other

15 counties listed in the email at the beginning of
16 this, but none of those counties were updated, and
17 that's what this email was referring to.

18 Q Okay. So "sent in" refers to updating
19 the shared file?
20 A Correct.
21 Q Got 1t. So this email dated
22 December 17 at 9:40 a.m., do you see that?
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1 A Yes, sir.

2 Q Okay. By this time, had you finished
3 recruiting challengers for the Georgia elector

4 challenge?

5 A I don't remember.

o 0 Can we exit out of this, Kenzie?

7 Thanks. And then let me see if we can see it.

8 Can we blow up the next email in this thread?

9 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Starting with "Good
10 morning everyone'?

11 MR. RAMIREZ: Yeah. Great, thank you.
12 Okay.

13 BY MR. RAMIREZ:

14 Q Mr. Cooper, do you see where

15 this email from James Williams references

16 "final files"?

17 A Let me move this out of the way so it
18 doesn't cover it up. Yes.

19 0 So what does that mean, "final files"?
20 A I do not know exactly what "final
21 files" mean. Mr. Williams was the one that was
22 doing the printing of the letters, so I really
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1 don't know what his final files would be -- would
2 mean.
3 Q Does it perhaps mean the shared files
4 that you reference in the next email?
5 A I do not know.
6 Q Okay. Did you send Mr. Williams any
7 information regarding the voter challenges after
8 he sent you this email?
9 A I do not remember,
10 0 Okay. Can we take this one down,

11 Kenzie? Thanks. And can we actually pull this

12 one down and put Exhibit 1 back up? Okay.

13 And ‘then can we blow up the last piece
14 of this email”where it says "On Wednesday," there
15 to the end? Great, thanks.

16 Okay, Mr. Cooper, do you see where you
17 write we have identified over 500,000 people in

18 the state of Georgia?

19 A Yes.

20 Q How did you come up with that 500,000
21 number?

22 A That is -- that is what in the meeting

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-5 Filed 05/16/22 Page 31 of 51

9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 73

1 Q Okay. You never called him?

2 A I didn't call him, I don't believe.

3 Honestly, I couldn't -- I couldn't swear to that.
4 I really can't remember.

5 Q Okay. All right, Kenzie, can we take
6 this one down and put up Tab 3 and mark it as

7 Exhibit 37

8 (Cooper Exhibit 3 was.marked

9 for identification.)

10 BY MR. RAMIREZ¢

11 Q How are you  ‘doing, Mr. Cooper? Do you
12 need a break, or wefire doing good?

13 A I'm ‘good.

14 0 A1l right, great. Okay, let's see if
15 we can blow this up. Is this just one page? Two
16 pages.

17 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Do you want side by
18 side again, or just pull up the first one?

19 MR. RAMIREZ: Can we blow up the
20 second one, actually.
21 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Okay.
22 MR. RAMIREZ: Great, okay.
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1 BY MR. RAMIREZ:
2 Q Okay, so Mr. Cooper, the last
3 paragraph, I suppose, of the last email that
4 starts "Another question," do you see that?
5 A Which -- you're talking about the
o bottom one, the one that I sent, or the top one
7 where it says, "Mark, can you extract the names
8 for this request?"
9 0 The bottom one.
10 A Yes.
11 0 Okay. This 1s another gquestion that
12 you refer to in that paragraph that you're getting
13 from folks. How:are you getting that question?
14 How are they ‘communicating with you?
15 A This was in reference to Mr. Martin
16 there in Taliaferro County wanting to see the list
17 of names before he agreed to challenge.
18 0 Just him?
19 A Yes, sir.
20 Q Okay. And you say afterwards --
21 A Yeah, I went ahead and read that. Go
22 ahead and ask your question.

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021

202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-5 Filed 05/16/22 Page 33 of 51

9/22/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. James Cooper
Page 75
1 0 Yeah. So what does that mean,
2 "afterwards"? After what?
3 A I was -- I had some people ask if they
4 could get the 1list that they challenged after the
5 challenges were made so that they would know if
6 they was to be asked a question who they had
7 challenged.
8 Q How many people about.would you say
9 asked you for this afterwards?
10 A I don't know the exact number of
11 people that had asked.
12 Q Ballparik figure?
13 A Maybe three or four.
14 Q Ckay. So then for those three or four
15 people, does that mean that the challenges were
16 submitted in their names before they saw the
17 lists?
18 A Yes.
19 Q Was that true of all the people you
20 recruited?
21 A No. Mr. Martin wanted to see the list
22 before he agreed to challenge.
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1 Q Right. And is he the only one that

2 actually saw the list before submitting

3 challenges?

4 A To the best of my memory, yes.

5 Q Okay. So this first paragraph in the
o email you sent, "I have one chair in the 10th,"

7 that refers to Mr. Martin?

8 A Yes, sir.

9 Q Okay. And forgive me if this is a

10 stupid question, but what is he the chair of?

11 A Taliaferro (County Republican Party.

12 0 Okay. Which is in the 10th --

13 A 10th< Congressional District.

14 Q Ckay, got it.

15 And did you know Mr. Martin previously
16 before communicating with him about the Georgia

17 elector challenges?

18 A I did.

19 0 How did you know him?
20 A I was the 3rd Vice Chair of the
21 10th District, and he was the Chair in the
22 10th District.
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1 0 Okay. So does that mean he —-- let me

o was the Chair.

7 0 She was the District Chair
8 10th?

9 A She was the District Chair
10 10th.

11 0 And Mr. Martin was?

12 A He was thie County Chairman

13 Taliaferro County.

14 0 Got it, okay.

15 When did you first contact
16 about the Georgia elector challenges?

17 A I do not recall the exact

18 0 Was that initial outreach

19 we pulled up before in Exhibit 1, was

20 first contact you made, or did you con
21 before sending that email?

22 A I don't recall, honestly.

2 just clarify. I got a little confused.

3 I think you mentioned a Karen Sweeney,
4 is that correct, earlier?
5 A Chairman Schwinn, Chairwomen Schwinn

of the

of the

Mr. Martin

date.

email that

that the

tact him
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1 0 If you had contacted him, would it

2 have been by email or phone?

3 A I don't recall how I contacted him

4 initially.

5 Q Okay. But your subsequent

6 communications with him, they were all email?

7 A Yes, to the best of my recollection.

8 0 When did Mr. Martin first ask you to

9 see the list of names that he.was challenging?

10 A I don't recallg

11 0 So this email was dated December 16.
12 Do you sge that?

13 A Yes,<“sir.

14 Q I's it fair to say that he asked you to
15 see the list of names before you sent this email?
16 A Yes, sir.

17 Q Okay. This 1is at 3:25 p.m.

18 Kenzie, can we take this down for a

19 second and put Exhibit 1 back up? And then can we
20 blow up the last email which starts "On
21 Wednesday"? Okay.
22 Do you see the date on this email as
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1 challenge list?
2 A Not that I recall.
3 Q What was the extent of your
4 communication with Ms. Engelbrecht as part of this
5 challenge effort?
6 A Email.
7 Q What did you discuss with her?

8 A Instances like this where I forwarded
9 the challenge -- this request . of Mr. Martin, and
10 all of the challenges that<-- or challengers that

11 agreed to challenge, she received the cc's.

12 Q How oftérn did she respond to the --

13 like this, like =email. How often did she reply by
14 email to the emails that you had forwarded to her?
15 A I don't remember.

16 Q Was it for more or less than 50% of

17 the challengers you recruited?

18 A Honestly, I don't remember.

19 Q Did you ever have a phone conversation
20 with Ms. Engelbrecht about the elector challenges?
21 A I don't remember.

22 ) You mentioned at least one, the
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1 meeting at Mr. Williams' house where you said she
2 was on the phone.
3 A Yes, she was on conference call in the
4 initial meeting.
5 Q Right. Were there any other instances
6 where Ms. Engelbrecht spoke to you over the phone
7 regarding the elector challenges?
8 A Not directly, no.
9 Q What do you mean, .niot directly?
10 A I believe there was one Zoom meeting
11 after the -- with the attorneys.
12 Q Okay. After what?
13 A After we received the lawsuit.
14 0 Got it, okay.
15 So in this email from Ms. Engelbrecht,
16 do you see where she refers to putting together a
17 one-pager to support challengers?
18 A Yes, sir.
19 Q Did she ever send that one-pager to
20 you?
21 A I don't remember. I don't believe so.
22 Q Were you ever provided anything from
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1 True the Vote to send to the challengers you

2 recruited?

3 A Say that one question one more time,

4 please.

5 Q Sure. Were you ever provided anything

6 from True the Vote to send to the challengers you

7 recruited?

8 A No.

9 Q No. So all the communications you had
10 with the challengers, those were -- that wasn't a
11 script or anything? That was something that you
12 yourself drafted, wtote, sent to them?

13 A Correct.

14 Q Ckay. And then do you see in your

15 email here where you state, "I'll look for someone
16 else in Taliaferro county"?

17 A Yes.

18 Q Are you referring to another

19 challenger?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Did you find another challenger?

22 A No.
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1 Q No. So to your knowledge, were any

2 challenges submitted in Taliaferro County after

3 you sent this email?

4 A I do not know.

5 Q When you were looking for someone

6 else, as it says in this email, what were you

7 doing?

8 A In looking for a challenger, I

9 basically go back to a list of acquaintances that
10 I know personally, and at tlie same time that this
11 was going on, I was alsc recruiting for the

12 other -- the other south portion of the state.

13 So to the best that I can recall, I

14 didn't even_ attempt to reach out to anyone else in
15 Taliaferro County.

16 Q Okay. So if you weren't reaching out
17 to anybody, what were you doing when you were

18 looking for someone else, as that sentence says?
19 A Well, the sentence states that I will
20 look for someone else. It didn't say I was going
21 to get someone else. So I basically focused on
22 other counties.
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1 0 Got it, okay.
2 So after you sent this email, you did
3 not attempt to recruit someone else in Taliaferro

4 County?

5 A Not that I can remember, no.

6 Q Okay. The end of this email that you
7 sent, you wrote from having talked to individuals
8 over the weekend. Do you see that?

9 A Yes.

10 Q Were these people that you talked to

11 challengers?
12 A These people that I was talking to, I

13 was trying to recruit as challengers.

14 Q Ckay. So they were not challengers
15 yet? They had not yet given permission?

16 A Correct.

17 Q Okay. Why would those people have

18 been contacted by the counties to make their case?

19 A It was in the news here in the state
20 of Georgia about the elector challengers, and it
21 was widely known that county election offices was,
22 you know, trying to -- was making people make
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1 but I don't know.
2 Q Yeah, just to be clear, I'm not asking
3 you to make assumptions, Jjust anything that you
4 were told in these conversations. Did these
5 people explain to you why they didn't want to make
6 their case?
7 A Not that I remember.
8 0 No one did? Did Mr. Martin explain --
9 well, let me take a step back.
10 So you say that -- do you see where
11 you say, "Now that's not the case with Joe"?
12 A Right. “Mr. Martin's reason for
13 wanting to withdraw is in his email.
14 Q Ckay. But that means that he
15 didn't -- the reason why he wanted to withdraw is
16 different than the other people you reference in
17 this email; is that correct?
18 A Correct.
19 Q Okay. And when you say that's not the
20 case with Joe, do you mean that he is not running
21 off?
22 A No. It means that the reason that he
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is wanting to withdraw 1s different than the folks
that I was trying to recruit.

Q Okay, meaning that Mr. Martin was fine
making his case?

A Correct.

Q Okay. So I'm going to ask a few more
questions about this one, but I want to refer back
to a different exhibit that we have, Mr. Cooper.

So, Kenzie, can we pull this down and
put Exhibit 1 back up? Thanks. And then just the
first half of this exhikit up until -- let's go
down to where it says, "Best, Caesar Gonzalez."
Yeah, that's great, thanks.

S50 I know we've already seen this
exhibit, Mr. Cooper, but I want to just confirm
that you recognize this first email as well
because I don't think we've talked about it yet.

A Yes.

Q Okay. So how did you know
Mr. Gonzalez?

A He was -- Mr. Gonzalez was referred to

me. T don't remember who he was referred by.
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1 Q I just want to make sure I understand.
2 So some of the people you reached out
3 to were referred to you to reach out to?

4 A Yes.

5 Q And who referred them to you?

6 A I don't remember who referred

7 Mr. Gonzalez.

8 Q Do you have a sense of who it might

9 have been? Would it be -- would it be one of the
10 county chairs perhaps?

11 A I don't remember who referred

12 Mr. Gonzalez.

13 Q Okay< And you don't know -- how do I
14 phrase this?

15 Any referrals you would have received,
16 would they have been from your professional

17 network, so your capacity as a business owner?

18 A No.

19 Q Would it have been through people that
20 know you through your involvement in GOP politics
21 in Georgia?
22 A Yes.
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1 0 Okay. So in this email to Mr. Cooper,
2 Mr. Gonzalez said he got a call from Douglas

3 County asking how he wants to handle the

4 challenged ballots. Do you see that?

5 A Yes.

o 0 Is this an example of the kind of

7 conversations that you were having in the last

8 exhibit we looked at?

9 We can pull that back up if you need
10 to see it again.

11 A Yes, I can't remember exactly the

12 call, but he was beirig requested to come in and
13 present his case.

14 0 CUkay. So this is after his challenge
15 was submitted?

16 A Yes.

17 Q Okay. And he asks you, "How do I

18 handle this?" Do you see that?

19 A Yes.
20 Q So what did you tell him?
21 A Yes, I see that now.
22 Q Okay. And what did you tell him?
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1 A That was -- when I spoke with him, I

2 told him basically the same thing that Catherine

3 had referred in the past email, is that it is not
4 required.

5 Q Okay. And did you reply to this email
6 to tell him that? Did you call him? How did you
7 tell him that?

8 A I don't remember.

9 Q Okay. Did you ever reply to this

10 email?

11 A I do not remember.

12 Q Okay. 80 you said you told him

13 essentially what<Catherine Engelbrecht told you,
14 that he was not required to show up to make his

15 case; 1s that correct?

16 A I'm pretty sure that that's what was
17 told to him.

18 Q Okay. Did you give similar advice to
19 the other challengers who talked to you about
20 their concerns that the county is contacting them?
21 A I don't remember.
22 o) Well, would it have been the same
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Did True the Vote instruct you to

reach out to those chairs?

A No.

Q Did anyone instruct you to reach out
to them?

A No.

0 So at this initial meeting we
discussed where -- at Mark Williams' -- I think

you said place of business; 1is that correct?

A Correct.

Q At that meeting, did they ask you to
recruit challengers?

A They<asked 1f I would be willing to

help recruit ‘challengers, yes.

Q And why did they ask you that?
A I don't know.
Q Did they indicate why they thought you

would be a good person to do recruiting?

A I do not know. Mark Williams called
me and asked me to come to the meeting.

Q Did he say why he thought you should

be involved in the meeting?
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1 A He thought that I would be interested
2 in what they was going to discuss.
3 Q Okay. But he didn't suggest to you
4 that you should do recruiting?
5 A Prior to the meeting, no.
o 0 And at the meeting --
7 A At the meeting, I was asked if I would
8 be willing to recruit.
9 0 And who asked you.that?
10 A It would have begen -- I can't remember
11 the gentleman's name again. Oh, Gregg Phillips
12 and Catherine Engelbrecht.
13 Q And when they asked you to recruit,
14 did they say why they thought you should be the
15 one to do that?
16 A No. They just asked if I would be
17 willing to help them in recruiting.
18 Q Did they -- do you know if they -- did
19 they mention, other than yourself and Ron Johnson,
20 whether they were looking to enlist anyone else to
21 help with the recruitment part of the challenges?
22 A I don't remember the exact whole
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1 conversation that evening.

2 0 How long was the conversation?

3 A I don't remember exactly.

4 Q Were you aware of any other similar

5 conversations that True the Vote was having with

6 the volunteers in Georgia?

7 A No.

8 Q Did you recruit any democratic county
9 chairs to be challengers?

10 A Not that I'm aware of.

11 Q Did you attempt to reach out to any of
12 them?

13 A No. “I do not have access to Democrat
14 Party chairmen's list.

15 Q Do you know who they are or their

16 contact information?

17 A I do not.

18 0 No. So that's not like on a website
19 where the information for the GOP chairs is?
20 A I do not know.
21 Q Do you know i1f any of the individuals
22 you recruited were registered Democrats?
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1 A I do not know. Georgia is an open

2 primary state, so there's no requirement of

3 registration by party affiliation.

4 Q Okay. Kenzie, can we take down this

5 exhibit and pull up Exhibit 1 again? Great. And
6 then can we blow up the last email starting "On

7 Wednesday." Yeah, thank you. Give me a second

8 here.

9 Okay, Mr. Cooper, -do you see at the

10 end of the second paragraph here, starting the

11 sentence, "If this very type action had been taken
12 in October it is very likely Trump would have won
13 Georgia! We can’t look back now we must look

14 forward and.save the senate!"

15 A That's correct.

16 Q This email comes from your .gop

17 address; is that right?

18 A Yes.

19 Q So did you send this email to -- you
20 said you don't know, that Georgia is an open
21 primary state, but do you know specifically
22 whether any individual to whom you sent this email
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1 was a Democratic voter?
2 A Do not know.
3 Q Okay. What do you mean by "save the
4 senate" here?
5 A I am a Republican, I vote Republican,
6 and by "saving the senate," I meant exactly save
7 the senate.
8 Q I'm not sure what you.mean, though, by
9 "save the senate." Can you elaborate?
10 A Republicans control the senate at this
11 time. If we lose the two Republican senate seats
12 in the state of Georgia, we lose the senate as
13 Republicans.
14 Q Ckay. Is it safe to say that one of
15 the goals that you wanted to forward with getting
16 involved with the True the Vote project was to
17 make sure that Republicans won the runoff
18 election?
19 A Wanted to make sure that the election
20 was fair.
21 Q Even i1f that meant that Democrats won?
22 A Even if that means Democrats win.
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1 this e-mail?
2 A. No.
3 MS. KRAMER: Counsel, can you guys
4 please zoom in to this e-mail. Even on my
5 laptop, it's kind of hard to see, 1f you
6 don't mind. That's much better. Thank you.

7 BY MS. TAYLOR:
8 Q. Mr. Williams, can you still see the

9 exhibit?

10 A. Yes, I can read it fine on my phone.
11 Q. Great.

12 It looks like, from your reply, that
13 Catherine Engelbrecht was cc'd on the e-mail.

14 Did you know who she was before this
15 e-mail?

16 A. No.

17 Q. Okay. And had you heard of True the

18 Vote before this e-mail?

19 A. No.

20 Q. Okay. So this was your first contact
21 with them or with anyone at True the Vote?

22 A. Let me clarify that answer. The
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1 chairman of the GOP told me that he had given them
2 my number. And that's the first I've heard of them.
3 So this was -- this was a follow-up e-mail to that,
4 but that was the first I've heard of them.
5 Q. Okay. And who is the chairman of the
6 GOP that's being referenced here?
7 A. David Shafer.
8 Q. And is he the chairman of the Georgia
9 state GOP or county?
10 A. State.
11 0. And how d¢ you know -- how do you know
12 Mr. Shafer?
13 A. We:do a lot of printing with them and
14 things like that, so he knows me as a printer.
15 Q. Okay. And do you know what his
16 relationship with True the Vote is?
17 A. I have no idea.
18 Q. He just reached out to you and put you
19 in touch -- or let you know that they would be
20 reaching out to you, rather?
21 A. Correct.
22 Q. Okay. And we'll get into this a
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1 little bit more a little later on, but can you just
2 describe for me at a very high level your
3 involvement with True the Vote after this e-mail.
4 A. I met with Gregg. And he explained
5 that they were trying to -- they needed to print the

6 letters and explained the job to me. And I told him
7 what we can do and things along those lines. So

8 they were bringing that to me.

9 Q. When you say "letters," are you

10 referring to the challenge<letters that True the

11 Vote issued in the January runoff election?

12 A. Correckt.
13 Q. Arid who did you generally
14 communicate ~= during the scope of this printing

15 project that you were doing with True the Vote, who

16 did you communicate with?

17 A. I believe it was almost always Gregg.
18 I believe that's correct.

19 Q. Did you have any other interactions

20 with Catherine Engelbrecht?
21 A. I spoke with her on the phone a few

22 times, but I think that's about it.
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1 Q. What about with James Cooper; did you

2 work with him at all for this project?

3 A. Vaguely. Very vaguely.

4 Q. When you say "vaguely," Jjust so that
5 we're clear, what do you mean by that?

6 A. I introduced them -- James Cooper to
7 them. And so -- and so I didn't work with him in
8 any capacity, but I did introduce.them.

9 Q. How do you know . James Cooper?

10 A. I've known hin many years through

11 mostly Republican party stuff.

12 Q. Did you work with a Ron Johnson at
13 allz

14 A. In the same capacity.

15 Q. Did you know him previous?

16 A. Yes, I've known him for a long time,
17 too.

18 Q. Through your printing company?

19 A. Through Republican party mostly.
20 Q. Okay. And what about Mark Davis?
21 A. Yes, I know Mark Davis.

22 0. And Derek Somerville?
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1 A. Met Mark [inaudible] Derek Somerville,

2 I think.

3 Q. Do you recall working with anyone else
4 at True the Vote during this time?

5 A. Not -- no, I don't.

o 0. How about anyone else at OPSEC?

7 A. At where?

8 Q. OPSEC, which was Gregg Phillips'

9 company.
10 A. No. No, not<at all.
11 Q. When you (were generally communicating
12 with these people, you said mostly you were

13 interacting with< Gregg Phillips for this project,

14 was that mostly over e-mail? Or how were you

15 communicating?

16 A. It was almost all phone calls just
17 about. And we didn't have a lot of interaction,
18 just -- it was basically just a customer/vendor

19 relationship.

20 Q. Okay. What -- can you broadly
21 describe what those -- what types of customer/vendor
22 interactions you're talking about?
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1 A. Well, they brought the project here
2 and we discussed it. And then once we did, then we

3 produced the job and got it to them.

4 Q. So what did True the Vote ask you to
5 do with regard to compiling these challenge lists?
6 A. They sent us lists and we printed

7 them. They sent us the list -- well, they sent us
8 the individual letters, is what they sent us, files

9 with the individual letters, and we printed them and
10 gave them the copies.
11 Q. So you printed the letters and then

12 gave them back to TLue the Vote?

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. Did you do anything else?

15 A. Not that I recall.

16 Q. Okay. Why did you agree to work with

17 True the Vote?

18 A. Well, as I said, it was a
19 customer/vendor relationship. And when they told me
20 that they were trying to -- that they had intentions

21 of working to challenge a lot of the votes and

22 things, I introduced them to a couple of people,
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1 which was Ron Johnson and James Cooper. And then it
2 went from there, so that was it.
3 Q. Okay. Did you reach out to anyone to
4 ask them to become a challenger on behalf of True

5 the Vote?

6 A. Not that I recall.

7 Q. Okay. But you did reach out to James
8 Cooper and to Ron Johnson?

9 A. Correct, to introduce them to Gregg

10 and his group.

11 Q. Okay. And do you know what Ron
12 Johnson and James Cooper did for True the Vote?
13 A. I wasn't involved in that part, so not

14 really.

15 0. You have no idea?

16 A. No idea.

17 Q. When you introduced them, what were
18 you —- what did you think you were introducing them
19 for?

20 A. For their connections to people all

21 across the state, that they might be able to help

22 them make connections across the state.
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1 0. Connections for what?
2 A. To -- I guess to do the challenges. I

3 just knew that both of these guys were real big in

4 the party and stuff and held positions and things

5 like that. So I just assumed that they would be

6 able to help them be introduced to people and

7 things. So I introduced them to them.

8 Q. Did True the Vote -=- or did Gregg ask
9 you to reach out to anybody you might know who might
10 be able to do that?

11 A. No. He described what they were

12 doing. And I thought there was a couple people that

13 might be able tochelp him, so I just introduced

14 them.
15 Q. So how did you reach out to Mr. Cooper
16 and to Mr. Johnson in order to introduce them to

17 Mr. Phillips and True the Vote?
18 A. To the best of my recollection, it was

19 phone calls.

20 Q. What did you tell them?
21 A. That I had somebody that they probably
22 should meet and have a discussion with.
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1 0. No other details?

2 A. Not that I recall.

3 Q. Did you tell them anything about the

4 project True the Vote was working on?

5 A. I don't recall.

6 Q. Okay. So you just asked them to come
7 meet this guy you knew?

8 A. Yes. That they were working on

9 something they might be interested in, I think is

10 what I said.

11 MS. TAYLOR: Kenzie, can we pull up

12 0759.

13 (Exhibit 2, Bates Nos. Def Williams

14 0759-780, E-mail Chain, received and marked.)
15 BY MS. TAYLOR:

16 Q. Mr. Williams, this is a wvery long

17 e-mail thread, unfortunately. And you're more than
18 welcome to scroll through the whole thing, but I can
19 represent to you today that it's a series of
20 forwarded e-mails that all end up with you at the
21 end.
22 And I'd like to turn your attention to
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1 did you believe were the problems with this
2 election?
3 A. Well, I do believe that there was a
4 lot of votes that were placed that were not -- that

5 shouldn't have been placed. And the NCOA is the

6 place that it was showing up and exposing that. And
7 I felt like we were the -- and that's why I agreed

8 to do the Gwinnett County challenge or I chose to do
9 the Gwinnett County challenge, because I felt like
10 it was —-- there was some things going on and I

11 wanted it exposed.

12 Q. Just 50 that we're clear, are you

13 referring to this happening with the general

14 election in lNovember or with the runoff election in

15 January or both?

16 A. I would say both.
17 Q. And did this -- did this feeling you
18 have inform your decision to work with True the Vote

19 for this challenge project?

20 A. Yes -- well, not for the printing
21 project. It gave me the -- the want to be the
22 challenger in my county, but as far as working with
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1 the project, the project itself here was Jjust a

2 printing project. So that was -- it's almost like
3 two different issues.

4 MS. TAYLOR: Can we pull up

5 Document 0855 and mark it as the next

6 exhibit.

7 (Exhibit 19, Bates Nos. Def Williams
8 0855, 12/17/20 Letter, received and marked.)
9 BY MS. TAYLOR:

10 0. Do you recognize this, Mr. Williams?
11 A. Hold on 7Just a second. Let me see.
12 (Document review.)

13 THE WITNESS: Yes.

14 BY MS. TAYLOK:

15 Q. Is this your challenge letter or one
16 of them?

17 A. Yes.

18 Q. And is this what all of the challenge
19 letters you would have helped print for True the
20 Vote looked like?
21 A. Mostly so, yes.
22 Q. When you say "mostly so," what were
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1 the variations?
2 A. I don't know that there was any
3 variations. I'm just leaving that out there. But,

4 yes, this should have been what the letters looked

5 like.

6 Q. Okay. Save for the name and -- the

7 names of who's being challenged and who's issuing

8 it; correct?

9 A. Correct.

10 0. In this letter, you write, "Based on
11 available data from the ‘United States Postal Service
12 and other commercially available sources."

13 Thie "data from the US Postal Service,"

14 is that referring to the NCOA registry?

15 A. Yes.

16 Q. And what are the other commercially

17 available sources?

18 A. I believe that's just encompassing. I
19 don't believe that there was -- and I say this -- I

20 don't know because I didn't actually compile the
21 data myself, but I believe that was just

22 encompassing.
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1 Q. So your understanding was the
2 challenges were based solely on the NCOA registry;

3 is that right?

4 A. I was comfortable with that being the
5 source of the information.

6 Q. Okay. What did you hope the effect of
7 these challenges would be, the ones that you issued?
8 A. Well, I wanted to -= and my personal

9 view was to expose this. If there was wrongdoing, I
10 wanted to expose it and take it from there.

11 Q. Can you elaborate on what you mean by
12 "wrongdoing."

13 A. I believe that a lot of votes were

14 voted in a place where -- in a district where people
15 didn't actually live and weren't allowed to vote.

16 Q. And you said you challenged roughly

17 32,000 voters; is that right?

18 A. I believe that's correct.

19 Q. How do you think your challenges to
20 those voters would have affected those voters?

21 A. I have no idea how it would have

22 affected them.
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1 Q. Well, if your challenges had been

2 accepted, they wouldn't have been eligible to vote;
3 is that right?

4 A. Yes. And that was the -- that was the
5 thought there, was that these people voted in an

6 election they're not supposed to be voting in. Did
7 they vote twice? Did they vote illegally? What was
8 the story here? That was the thought process there.
9 Q. And do you know.what would have

10 happened had the Board of Elections in Gwinnett

11 County at that hearing voted to actually consider

12 your challenges? Do you know what would have

13 happened to the woters who had been challenged?

14 A. Well, it would have been vetted. By
15 the laws set up, it would have been vetted out the
16 way 1t should have been and it would have been found
17 out 1f each one had been eligible to vote or not.

18 And if they weren't, their vote would have been

19 pulled out.

20 Q. What's your understanding of that
21 vetting process?
22 A. To verify where they lived and where
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1 they -- and where they were eligible to vote at the

2 time, to verify that and if they did actually vote

3 in an improper place.

4 Q. Do you know how that would have been
5 verified?

6 A. I don't know.

7 Q. Given the chance, would you issue

8 these challenges again?

9 A. Absolutely.

10 Q. Is there anythiing that you would have

11 done differently?
12 A. As far as the challenges, no.
13 Q. What's the qualification as far as the

14 challenges?

15 A. What are you asking there? What do
16 you mean?
17 Q. You qualified your answer that you

18 wouldn't have done anything differently as far as
19 the challenges.

20 Are you implying that you would have
21 done something differently as far as something else

22 related to this?
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1 who they might contact.

2 0. Okay. Just to make sure

3 I understand this. Does that mean that --

4 say —-- let me use an example so we're
5 understanding each other.
6 Say there was someone named

7 Bob. And you thought Bob might potentially
8 be a challenger. Does that mean you called
9 up Bob to ask, "Will you be a.challenger?"

10 Or did you just give True tlie Vote Bob's

11 name?

12 A. I just<gave True the Vote Bob's
13 name.

14 Q. Okay. Thank you. That's

15 helpful.
16 When were you approached about

17 helping with this project?

18 A. Actually, I don't recall when.
19 It was sometime after meeting Gregg.
20 Q. Okay. And it was -- was it

21 after the 2020 general election?

22 A. No. It was before.
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1 Q. It was before. Okay.
2 Does that mean at the time you

3 started talking about this, you already had
4 the idea in mind to challenge people in the

5 2021 runoff election?

6 A. Yes, I already had the idea to
7 challenge some of them in Jackson County
8 because of the woman that was registered at

9 my house and didn't live there.
10 Q. Okay. So what was your

11 understanding of the goal of the challenges

12 for the runoff election?
13 A. As ‘a matter of fact, my opening
14 statement to the Jackson County Election

15 Board is, "I'm not here to drop anybody off

16 the voter rolls. What I'm here for is to

17 make sure the people vote in the county they
18 legally live in."

19 Q. Okay. So what were you hoping

20 that the challenge would accomplish then?

21 A. That we would get the people

22 legally registered in their own counties; and
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1 the ones that live out of state, not to be
2 registered in Georgia.
3 Q. Okay. All right.
4 How many names did you forward

5 to True the Vote?

6 A. How many names did I?

7 Q. Yes.

8 A. Probably 15.

9 Q. Okay. And when you were coming
10 up with names, were you logking for any

11 particular kind of person?

12 A. No. TI<was looking for an

13 American.

14 Q. What do you mean by that?

15 A. That anybody that lived in

16 America that was legally able to vote. It
17 didn't matter who they were.

18 Q. Okay. And were you given any
19 sort of instructions as to who you should
20 look for?

21 A. No.

22 Q. Okay. Do you remember who
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1 explicitly asked you to send names over from

2 True the Vote?

3 A. No, I can't recall that name.

4 Q. Okay. Were you asked to send
5 names for any specific counties?

o A. No, I was not.

7 Q. Okay. And how did you reach

8 out to these -- actually, I'm sorry.

9 So you said you personally did
10 not reach out to any of these potential

11 challengers?

12 A. No, I did not.

13 Q. Okay. So all you did was

14 forward a nawme to someone at True the Vote
15 and provided contact information for that

16 person?

17 A. Yes.

18 Q. Okay. So at that point, was it
19 then True the Vote's responsibility to go

20 contact that person to see if they would be
21 willing to be a challenger?

22 A. Yes.
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1 0. Okay. And, to your knowledge,

2 did True the Vote do that?

3 A. I'm not -—- I don't recall that
4 because I wasn't involved with that part of
5 the process.

6 Q. Okay. When you sent True the

7 Vote information of the names, how did you

8 forward that information?

9 A. I believe I texted it to them.
10 0. Okay.

11 A. To the person I was dealing

12 with.

13 Q. And< who was that person?

14 A. I've already told you numerous
15 times: I don't recall that person's name.
16 Q. After you had done that, did

17 any of the people who you forwarded their
18 information contact you to ask about the

19 challenge program?

20 A. No, they did not.
21 Q. Okay. So just to make sure I'm
22 clear and I understand: You forwarded these
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1 names to True the Vote, but you never had any
2 conversations with any of these -- any of

3 these individuals about participating in the
4 challenge program?

5 A. That's correct.

o 0. Okay.

7 MS. FORD: Dan, can we pull up

8 Exhibit B.

9 (Ford Exhibit B, .E-mail string,
10 top e-mail to James Cooper from Amy

11 Holsworth, 12/17/20, Bates Def

12 Williams 0745<to -749, was marked for
13 identification, as of this date.)

14 MS. FORD: Can we scroll down

15 to page 2. Scroll down just slightly
16 further to where -- right here is

17 great. Actually, can you scroll up

18 just a little bit more? Perfect.

19 BY MS. FORD:
20 Q. Mr. Johnson, I believe, before,
21 you said -- and I might have misheard you --
22 you recruited, you think -- sorry, not
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1 said that if it wasn't true?
2 A. I might have had a list coming
3 to her that had that many on there, names,
4 Jjust names and phone numbers --
5 0. Okay.
6 A. -- of challengers. I think...
7 MS. FORD: Dan, can we actually
8 keep this up here for just a second.

9 BY MS. FORD:
10 Q. Mr. Johnson, ¢an you explain

11 what you meant by "What 'I need is the last of

12 the counties that weé are actually going to
13 have challenges™?

14 A. (Document[s] reviewed.)

15 I wanted to get a list of the

16 counties that they already had challenges
17 from, not the challenge -- not the list of

18 the people, the list of the people that I had

19 given their names.
20 Q. So, Mr. Johnson, when I read
21 this, this sounds to me like you were asking

22 True the Vote for what counties they plan to
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1 do a challenge in.
2 Is that not your understanding?
3 A. (Document[s] reviewed.)
4 What I wanted to get with them

5 at the time was the list of the counties that
6 they thought they already had that they were
7 going to challenge in because I wanted to

8 make sure the people I was giving.them were

9 getting contacted.

10 Q. Okay. Okay. <S50 does that mean
11 you understood that there was some kind of

12 list of counties that True the Vote wanted to
13 put a challenge “n?

14 A. No, no. I knew True the Vote

15 was doing 159 of them. At the time, I was

lo the chairman of all the counties under 80,000
17 in population. And I wanted to know 1f the
18 chairmans of those counties were actually

19 doing anything.
20 Q. Can you explain what you mean
21 by that?

22 A. By what?
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1 Q. "If the chairmans were doing
2 anything."

3 A. If the chairmans of those

4 counties were actually going to do the

5 challenges.

6 Q. Okay. And when you say

7 "chairmans," you mean chairmen of the GOP?
8 A. Chairmen of the county GOPs.
9 Q. Okay. Does that . mean that if

10 the county GOP was not planiing to do their
11 own challenge, that True the Vote would step
12 in and do the challerige in that county?

13 A. Absolutely not. They're not

14 allowed to by law. It has to be somebody in
15 that county, a registered voter in that

16 county.

17 Q. Sorry.

18 What I meant by True the Vote
19 is: Would True the Vote take it upon itself
20 to prioritize finding a challenger for that
21 county if the county GOP was not going to do

22 it?
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1 MS. KRAMER: Objection.
2 Speculation.
3 A. Yeah, I have no idea what their
4 organization does.

5 BY MS. FORD:

6 Q. Okay. All right. So when you
7 were working on recruiting names -- sorry,
8 finding names to forward, was it your

9 understanding that True the Vote planned to

10 submit a challenge in all 159 counties in
11 Georgia?
12 A. I have<rio idea what they were

13 going to do. I ‘assumed that they were
14 probably going to do the big counties, but

15 they might want to do the small counties.

16 And I wasn't recruiting

17 anybody. I was giving them a name that was
18 the county chairman of those counties. I was
19 the chairman of the counties that were

20 under -- that are under 80,000 in population

21 for the Georgia GOP. I was that chairman.

22 And what I was doing was I forwarded those
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1 names and how to contact them to True the
2 Vote.
3 Q. Understood.
4 So —-
5 A. I didn't recruit anybody.
6 Q. Every name that you forwarded,

7 then, was that person that county's GOP

8 chairman --

9 A. Yes.
10 0. -— Oor -woman?
11 Yes. Okay.
12 Is it your understanding today

13 that True the Vote did not challenge --

14 submit a challienge in all 159 counties?

15 A. I have no idea what they

16 submitted. I knew they submitted one to

17 Jackson County. And I know they submitted a
18 couple in other counties because I know those
19 GOP chairmen.

20 Q. Okay. Going back to what you

21 said a minute ago, you assumed that True the

22 Vote would submit them or would prioritize
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1 the big counties.
2 Why did you assume that?
3 A. Because that's where we have

4 the most problem with voting fraud.
5 Q. Can you explain what you mean

6 by that?

7 A. Yeah. We have ballots that

8 show up three days later to the election

9 office.
10 Q. What do you mean by "three days

11 later"?

12 A. Like, 1 mean, three days later,
13 after the polls ‘close.

14 Q. And are you telling me that you
15 think that those votes are counted

16 improperly?

17 A. Actually, that's what T

18 believe. It doesn't take three days to go

19 from a precinct to the election office

20 anywhere in this state.

21 Q. And do you think that's less of
22 a problem in the small counties?
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1 A. Oh, ten years or more.
2 0. And you do that for all kinds
3 of texts that you receive?
4 A. Yes. It doesn't matter who.
5 Q. Okay. So does that mean by the
6 time you received this lawsuit, which
7 I believe would have been right before

8 Christmas, you had already deleted all

9 communications about --

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. —-— these chiallenge efforts or
12 forwarding names?

13 A. Yes

14 Q. Okay. Did anyone instruct you
15 to delete any communications you had about
16 this?

17 A. No, they did not.

18 Q. Did anyone instruct you to

19 preserve any communications related to this?
20 A. No, they did not.
21 Q. Okay. All right.
22 I just have a few more
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1 questions. Mr. Johnson, do you believe that
2 voter fraud occurred during the 2020 general
3 election?
4 A. Yes, I believe there was. I

5 don't believe anything happened with the

6 machines. I believe it was in the absentee

7 ballot area and harvesting of ballots.

8 I believe that people in other

9 states got ballots. Our ballots did not have
10 a watermark on them. Anybody could have
11 printed them up in any (print shop in the
12 world. So I believe that that's what's

13 happening.

14 And I'm working on a bill with
15 some other people and state legislators and
16 state senate with the chain of custody. So

17 we're going to try to stop that problem from
18 happening.

19 I'm not a conspiracy thinker

20 about the machines or any of that, but I do

21 think something happened with those ballots,

22 SO...
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1 Q. And was that part of the

2 motivation of submitting the challenges that
3 you did submit, that you thought there

4 was ballot harvesting?

5 A. No. I submitted them

6 beforehand.

7 Q. Right. Were you worried

8 about -- were you worried about the potential

9 for ballot harvesting?

10 A. Absolutely.

11 Q. Okay. Just one moment.

12 (Pause?)

13 All“right. And I think maybe

14 my last question is: For the challenges that

15 you did submit to Jackson County before the

16 general election, do you remember how that
17 was submitted? Was it sent by mail? Was it
18 e-mailed?

19 A. I believe it was -- I really

20 don't know. I don't know how it was done.

21 I think it was done by e-mail.

22 Q. Okay. But someone else sent it
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1 for you?

2 A. Yes.

3 Q. Okay. And someone affiliated

4 with True the Vote sent it for you?

5 A. Yes.

6 Q. Okay. But you just can't

7 remember who precisely?

8 A. No.

9 Q. Okay.
10 Mr. Johnson, are you continuing
11 to delete your text messages and e-mails

12 every other day?

13 A. Yes

14 Q. All right. So you've continued
15 that practice?

16 A. Yes. I will continue to do

17 that practice.

18 Q. Okay. And, Mr. Johnson, during
19 the break, did you discuss any of your

20 answers with your counsel?

21 A. No, I did not. She actually

22 had to go to the ladies' room.
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1 0. Okay.

2 MS. FORD: All right,

3 Mr. Johnson. Those are all the

4 questions that I have for you today.

5 THE DEPONENT: Okay. Thank

6 you.

7 MS. KRAMER: I don't have any

8 questions, Counsel.

9 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: - All right.

10 So if there's no further statements

11 for the record, we're going to go off.
12 The timeg is 11:27 a.m.,

13 September 29th, 2021. We're going off
14 the record, completing today's

15 video-recorded session.

16 (Time noted: 11:27 a.m. EDT)
17

18

19
20
21
22
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1 A. Yes, I believe so.
2 Q. Okay. We may cover some things today

3 that are included on that, and it's totally fair if

4 you don't recall, you can -- you can say you don't

5 know or you don't recall. But, I do want to cover

6 some things that may touch on those discovery

7 responses that you've already submitted responses to,

8 all right?

9 A. Do you want me to dig up a copy of
10 that so that I can quote that precisely? I mean, I
11 don't think its --

12 0. There's no need, Mr. Martin. I

13 actually have a ¢copy of that.

14 A. I mean the dates and even the times
15 on all of those are in that package, somewhere.

16 0. That's fair. And, I actually have a
17 copy of your responses here, that if we need to

18 reference them today, I can mark those as an exhibit

19 and pull them up.
20 I want to return quickly to the call
21 you received from Mr. Cooper. Can you give me a

22 ballpark estimate around roughly that may have been

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-8 Filed 05/16/22 Page 2 of 49

9/28/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Joseph Martin
Page 19

1 just, for the record? It doesn't have to be precise.
2 MS. KRAMER: Counsel, can I just

3 clarify for my client real fast?

4 MS. TAYLOR: Sure.

5 MS. KRAMER: Joe, if you don't

6 recall, that's -- it's okay to say that. It's okay.

7 You don't need the papers in front of you right now.

8 Just whatever you remember right now, during this

9 deposition, that's how you should answer.
10 THE WITNESS:  Well, I want to be
11 precise. And, it's written down, you have the -- I
12 believe you have a gpecific timeline of any
13 interactions that I had with James, James Cooper.

14 It's, you know.
15 Q. Mr. Martin, Jjust to be clear, I'm not

16 asking for a precise date. Just roughly the month,

17 year, even, that you may have spoken with him. And
18 you mentioned that this was a phone call, for

19 example.

20 A. It was during the election cycle.

21 Q. Okay. And, when you say "election

22 cycle" are you referring to the general election, or
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1 the runoff election, or both?

2 A. I believe it was the runoff election.
3 Q. Okay. So, the runoff election was in
4 January of 2021. Would you say you spoke with Mr.

5 Cooper that month? Or, the month before, perhaps?

6 Roughly speaking. It doesn't have to be precise.

7 A. Now, again, it's in the written -- I
8 believe there's a complete timeline in the written

9 documentation.

10 Q. Okay. And it's okay if you don't

11 remember, Mr. Martin.

12 A. I mean 1if you want to ask me -- if

13 you want to quot=s what I said in the written

14 documentation, I'll verify that.

15 0. Understood, Mr. Martin. We can move
16 on.

17 Did -- can you explain to me what

18 you —- what that phone conversation with Mr. Cooper
19 entailed?
20 A. I believe our initial conversation
21 was he asked me to find a voter who would be willing
22 to challenge out-of-state/out-of-county voters.

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-8 Filed 05/16/22 Page 4 of 49

9/28/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Joseph Martin
Page 21

1 Q. And by "voters" you mean, voters who
2 are registered in the state and in the county?

3 A. No, someone who is registered in

4 Taliaferro County.

5 Q. Okay. But was actually out of state
6 or out of the county?

7 A. No. Someone who was a registered

8 voter, living in Taliaferro County, who would be

9 willing to challenge voters who presumably did not
10 live in the county or in the state.

11 Q. Okay. I think we were saying the

12 same thing there, 1dust a little bit differently.

13 When Mr. Copper reached out to you

14 asking you to identify a voter, did he represent to
15 you that he was affiliated with True the Vote in any
16 way?

17 A. No.

18 Q. Okay. In what capacity did he reach
19 out to you, with this request?
20 A. I was under the impression he was
21 reaching out to me as a member of the 10th District
22 GOP.
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1 Q. Okay. And are you a member --
2 A. On the initial -- on the initial
3 request.
4 Q. And are you a member of the 10th

5 District GOP as well, Mr. Martin?

6 A. At the time I was the chairman of the
7 Taliaferro County GOP.

8 Q. And for how long were you in that

9 position?

10 A. Probably four years.

11 Q. And, you 'said "at the time." So, you
12 are no longer the chairman; 1is that correct?

13 A. That 1s correct.

14 0. And, when did that tenure end?

15 A. I guess it was February this year.
16 Q. Do you have any record of that

17 initial phone call you received from Mr. Cooper?
18 A. You mean did I record 1it? No.

19 Q. For example, did you take any notes
20 or did he send you any documents?

21 A. I believe we began corresponding by

22 E-mail after that.
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1 A. No.

2 Q. -- of issuing these challenges?

3 A. No.

4 Q. Did you discuss anything else in

5 general about -- about the issuance of these

6 challenges, aside from -- and, like I said, we'll get
7 into -- kind of the actions that you took on your own
8 afterwards. But, in this initial .time zone here,

9 where you agreed to serve as at the challenger, did
10 you have any other additional conversations with

11 Mr. Cooper, or anyone at True the Vote, about --

12 about the process, ¢r what it would entail?

13 A. Again, you're using the word

14 "conversations." I do not believe we had discussed
15 anything on the phone. And, all the written

16 documentation would be in the E-mail. And I believe
17 you have that E-mail traffic in its entirety.

18 Q. Okay. And just to be clear, when I

19 reference conversations, I'm including E-mail, any --
20 any kind of communication that you may have had with
21 anyone at True the Vote, or Mr. Cooper. Does that

22 make sense?
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1 A. I did not have any discussions with
2 anyone from True the Vote, except for James Cooper.
3 Are you done with the text over here?
4 0. Yes.
5 A. Good. Okay.
6 MS. TAYLOR: You can pull that down.
7 Thank you, Henry.
8 BY MS. TAYLOR:
9 0. So, can you walk me through the
10 process of issuing the challenges? And again, not --
11 not getting into, quite yet, the specific individual
12 actions that you tock. But, what it actually
13 entailed, as far<as submitting the challenges?
14 A. Please clarify. There's —-- are you
15 speaking of the challenges that True the Vote sent in
16 regarding to the December 13th letter, that you just
17 had up on the screen? 1Is that what you're referring
18 to?
19 0. Yes. Mr. Martin, I believe that was
20 dated December 17th, but --
21 A. I'm sorry, 17th.
22 0. -— Yes. I'm referring to the

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-8 Filed 05/16/22 Page 8 of 49

9/28/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Joseph Martin
Page 38

1 challenges that you agreed to submit, in your name,
2 in connection with True the Vote, on behalf of

3 Taliaferro County.

4 A. Okay. Now -- now let's go back to

5 your specific question. What specifically were you
6 asking regarding that list of 37 individuals?

7 Q. I'm -—— I'm asking if you could just

8 walk me through what the challenge process was. How
9 you would go about challenging those 37 individuals?
10 A. Yes. I did<rniothing, with regards to
11 the entirety of the list of 37 people. I believe

12 it -- it came to --<I attempted to validate that the
13 list was real. ‘And I took a different path to

14 challenge.

15 Q. Can you explain that a little bit?

16 A. Again, it's in the -- it's in the --
17 it's in the -- it's 1in the written documentation. I
18 was not comfortable that -- that the -- the list was
19 valid. How -- how did this list come about? Where
20 did this list come from? Who generated the list?
21 And, I asked an individual with the 10th District
22 GOP, I sent him the list and said: Can you help me
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1 out here; what's going on? And again, I believe you

2 have that E-mail.

3 At that point in time, that
4 individual said three of these people have already
5 voted, have sent in absentee ballots. Don't ask me

6 how they knew that. They just said three of these

7 people, which caused an urgency for me; that if it

8 was true that these people did not live in the

9 county, and that they were voting, that seemed to be
10 not right at all.
11 Q. And, just to clarify what you said
12 just then, who was it that you spoke with; who told
13 you that three of the people on the list had already

14 voted?

15 A. Again, I don't have his name right in
16 front of me. It's in the documentation that -- that
17 you should have there. If you don't have his name

18 there, then I'll have to go offline and try and dig

19 out -- I don't have a copy of the written
20 documentation, and I don't have a recollection of
21 specifically. I believe he was the treasurer of the

22 10th District GOP.
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1 Q. Okay. That's fair if you don't

2 recall --

3 A. Do you have that name in -- do you

4 have that name in the paperwork you have there?

5 Q. I'm not actually sure that we do.

6 And, we can go back and look. But, there's no need

7 for you to go back and look at everything. I'm

8 asking you today is just what you .remember sitting

9 here today about everything that I'm asking you about
10 today. So, no need for you to go back and look. And
11 we can certainly go back and look on our side.

12 MS. TAYLOR: Henry, can you please

13 pull up and mark<as the next exhibit the document

14 Ending in Bates 0052.

15 (Whereupon, Exhibit 2, E-mail String
16 beginning Bates No. OPSEC 0052 was marked for

17 identification.)

18 BY MS. TAYLOR:

19 Q. Mr. Martin, can you see this
20 document?
21 A. I can see it. Yes, yes.
22 Q. Okay. And, I know you're not on this
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1 E-mail thread. But, i1f I could turn your attention
2 to the -- to the second page.
3 MS. TAYLOR: Actually, Henry, if we

4 could. Yeah, right here.

5 BY MS. TAYLOR:

6 Q. So, this is an E-mail from James

7 Cooper at the bottom here. And he says, "I have one
8 chair in the 10th that wants the names of the folks
9 he will be challenging. He is the Taliaferro county

10 Chair. He said he wants to do it, but will not

11 unless he sees the names."

12 Did 1 'read that correctly?

13 A. Correct.

14 Q. And is that you referring to you,

15 Mr. Martin? Are you the Taliaferro County Chair?
16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Okay.

18 A. And you see please note -- please

19 note that that sign, the "3rd Vice Chair," the "10th
20 District Republican Party, GOP State Committee," Mr.
21 James Cooper.

22 0. Right. And so, just for the record,
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1 you're referring to James Cooper's signature in his

2 E-mail; is that correct?

3 A. In the E-mail where he indicates that
4 I want the list. Because -- yes.

5 0. And is that -- is this E-mail

6 address, jamescooper.gopl@gmail.com, 1is that the

7 E-mail you would have been corresponding with

8 Mr. Cooper on -- with? As far as .you can recall?

9 A. Yeah. Again, I°'d have to look at my
10 address book right here and see if I have another
11 address for him. But ves, I mean, I presume Sso.

12 Look at the E-mails‘that you have with my name

13 corresponding to<him. Again, you have that
14 documentation.: You're asking me to remember an
15 E-mail address from two years ago, and you have it

16 right in front of you.

17 Q. That's fair, Mr. Cooper. I'm just
18 asking what --

19 A. Martin.

20 Q. Sorry, Mr. Martin. I'm just asking
21 what you recall. And you pointed out that he has

22 that signature below his name in this E-mail. Why --
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1 why is it that of note?

2 A. Well, I'm reemphasizing that it's
3 not -- he didn't sign that as representing True the

4 Vote. He signed that as Republican Party. I'm just

5 em- -- just highlighting -- you've highlighted he was
6 referring to me and I said yes. And I'm saying he's
7 referring to me, but he's signing that as, you know.
8 MS. KRAMER: Counsel, do you mind if

9 we take a quick 5, 10-minute break.

10 MS. TAYLOR: < Yes, that should be
11 fine.

12 MS. KRAMER: Okay. Thank you.

13 THE TECH: All right. Stand by,
14 please. The time is 9:50 a.m., off the record.
15 (Recess taken.)

16 THE TECH: The time is 10:00 a.m.,
17 back on the record.

18 BY MS. TAYLOR:

19 0. So, Mr. Martin, before we went off

20 the record just then, we were looking at an E-mail in
21 which it indicated that you had asked to see the

22 names of the -- the folks you would be challenging,
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1 correct? Before you —--
2 A. Correct.
3 Q. Okay. And, did you ask to see that
4 list of names before you agreed to serve as the
5 challenger for Taliaferro County?
6 A. I believe so. This is dated the

7 leth. It would be the day before I signed the --
8 Q. And, you'll see herxe Mr. Cooper

9 writes, "He said he wants to do¢ it, but will not

10 unless he sees the names."

11 Does that sound right to you?

12 A. Say again.

13 Q. Mr. Cooper writes in this E-mail that
14 "He said he wants to do it, but will not unless he
15 sees the names."

16 I believe in reference to you?

17 A. Yes, yes.

18 0. That sounds accurate?

19 Okay. So, did you ask Mr. Cooper for

20 this list?
21 A. Yes. As I explained to you, he is

22 the only person that I communicated with that, vyes.
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1 Q. Okay. And, what was his response to

2 that request; when you asked to see the list of

3 names?

4 A. Well, I eventually got the list of

5 names. Because I sent 1t to the -- to the treasurer
6 of the GOP.

7 Q. Okay.

8 MS. TAYLOR: Henry, can we pull up

9 and mark as the next exhibit, .the document ending in
10 Bates stamp 257.

11 (Whereupcon, Exhibit 3, List of Names,
12 was marked for identification.)

13 BY MS. TAYLOR:

14 Q. Mr. Martin, do you recognize this?

15 A. Not yet, no. But I assume if we

16 count down there, and there are 37 names on it, that
17 would be the list that he sent me.

18 Q. Okay. And I'll -- I can represent to
19 you today, Mr. Martin, that I have counted. There
20 are 37 names on this list. So, is it fair to say
21 that this is the list of names that you received from
22 Mr. Cooper?
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1 A. Yes, in some form or other. It just
2 doesn't look familiar. But, yes.
3 Q. Okay.
4 A. Those are the names.
5 Q. Yes. I believe originally this must
6 have been an Excel spreadsheet of some sort. And
7 it's just been converted into a PDF here; so the

8 formatting might be a little bit different.

9 When did you see this for the first
10 time?
11 A. Sometime 'in December.
12 Q. And, “it was Mr. Copper that showed it

13 to you?
14 A. Again, Mr. Copper and I were
15 communicating by E-mail. So, it would have been sent

16 to me by E-mail.

17 Q. Okay. And you mentioned having some
18 questions about how this list was generated; is that
19 correct?

20 A. Yes. I wanted some, you know,

21 single-source documents are -- in my line of work,
22 when you only have a single source of validation,
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1 you —-- you —-- you want two sources. You want to know
2 that it's a good -- how it came about. Where is
3 the -- what do you call it? Providence, or how did
4 it come about? How was it generated? I didn't get

5 any of that information. I just got this list.

6 Here if you have somebody, for
7 example, Beatrice Davis Paterson, Passaic, New
8 Jersey. Where did that come from?

9 You know, Larry Ratliff, Grady,

10 Oklahoma. Well, I knew Larry. He had moved to

11 Oklahoma. So that valicdated -- well, that's somebody
12 that actually moved:. ' And the next question in my

13 mind was: Did any of these people vote? Or, what --

14 what's the process to see that they don't vote? If

15 they really don't live in Taliaferro County, Georgia.
16 Q. So, did you ask Mr. Copper how the

17 list was generated? Or was that something you looked
18 into on your own?

19 A. Again, I don't recall. You know --

20 my skepticism of wanting to have it validated and

21 wanting to know before I put my name on something,

22 was, you know, I may have asked him, you saw him ask
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1 somebody else for the list.

2 So, you know, I didn't know how this

3 was generated. I didn't know how you would get this

4 information. I know a lot more now than I did at the
5 time. But, at the moment when I got the list -- this
6 list, it was just a list.

7 Q. Do you recall sitting here today

8 whether or not you had a conversation, at any time,

9 with Mr. Copper, about how the list was generated, or

10 where the names came from?
11 A. Yeah. Acain, I'm -- I may have, it
12 would be in -- if I°“asked him that question, it would

13 be in the E-mail<traffic.

14 Q. But sitting here today, you don't

15 recall?

16 A. Well, I'm sure I asked him for the

17 list. And I'm sure in the process I said, where did

18 you get this? That may have been when he said, well,

19 he got it from True the Vote. I don't know. That

20 may have been when, you know -- that other -- the --
21 the document you just showed me, showed him asking
22 somebody else. It wasn't even True the Vote. Wasn't
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1 it -- was Phillips or somebody. And it was Austine

2 something. That other thing. So, I didn't know any
3 of that.

4 Q. You anticipated my next question a

5 little Dbit.

6 Were you told anything about who

7 generated the list? Were you told it was True the

8 Vote?

9 A. I would think so.
10 Q. Okay. And you mentioned recognizing
11 a couple of names on this list. Is that right?
12 A. Right.
13 Q. That you recognized at the time of
14 your initial.review of the list?
15 A. Correct.
16 0. Can you describe for me what other

17 independent research you may have done into the names
18 that appeared on this list, to the extent you did

19 any?
20 A. Yes. I sent the list to -- and I
21 don't have the name right off -- but I believe he was
22 the treasurer of the 10th District GOP. And he
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1 At that point in time, I thought it
2 was important to challenge those three individuals.

3 Because at that point in time, I had this list that
4 said they didn't live here. And I had the fact that
5 they had already submitted absentee ballots.

6 I believe you have in your package

7 three letters that I sent to both the superintendent

8 of elections, with a copy to the registrar,

9 identifying, I believe, the individuals' names from
10 this list; and, I believe, <the Georgia statute that
11 says that any voter can challenge any person.

12 At that point in time, as the

13 chairman of the G0P, I felt if these people didn't

14 live in Taliaferro County, they should not be voting
15 in Taliaferro County.
16 Let us call those challenges "the

17 three challenges," that I personally took.

18 0. Okay.

19 A. Okay. So, we have two sets of
20 challenges. 37 and three.

21 Q. Real quick, Mr. Martin. Just to

22 clarify. Those three that you took, they are a part
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of the 37; is that correct?

A. They are individuals that are on the
list of 37, yes.

0. Okay.

A. The information that they didn't live
in Taliaferro County came from the list of 37.

Q. Understood. So, you issued a
specific challenge to three of the voters that were
on the list of 37, apart from .the list of 37 names
that were being challenged fhat was issued by True

the Vote, with your name?

A. Correct.
0. Okay. And, you submitted the
names -- Or .&xcuse me. You submitted the challenges

to those three specific individuals before or after
True the Vote submitted the challenges with your name
for the 37 as a whole?

A. Yeah. Again you're asking me for a
timeline. To my knowledge True the Vote, James
Cooper, had not submitted 37 names. I did not find
out they actually transmitted that by E-mail at some

point in time.
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1 Again, you're talking about over two
2 or three days here, of a lot of activity. And I was

3 moving in one direction to make sure that illegal
4 votes weren't counted. Not to be -- and I did not

5 know what True to Vote was doing. So, and they did

6 not copy me on the -- on the E-mail where they sent

7 the 37 votes -- 37 names in. And you know, they --

8 and they -- again, it was -- it looked like, when I

9 looked at it in some package somewhere, it's some
10 funny number, 336 something. You know, it looks like
11 it's a generic E-mail that goes to every county or

12 something. I couldn't figure out how that worked.
13 Am I being clear or no-?

14 0. So you're not -- I think I'm

15 following. Just a follow-up to make sure that I'm

16 understanding.

17 You were not copied on the submission
18 of the challenges in your name --

19 A. Correct.

20 0. -— of the 37 voters?

21 A. Correct.

22 Q. Okay. And so, you're not sure
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1 exactly as to the exact date when that may have

2 happened?

3 A. Right.

4 Q. That makes sense.

5 A. I did not become aware that they

6 actually sent that in until we began the written
7 deposition; when I went back and asked the county
8 registrar under an Open Records Request for all

9 information related to this subject matter.

10 0. Okay.

11 A. And that ‘was way later than anything
12 that occurred.

13 At that point in time, you know, I

14 was sort of shocked that they had actually sent that

15 in.

16 Q. And, did Mr. Copper, at any point,
17 tell you that voters who were registered in

18 Taliaferro County but did not live in Taliaferro

19 County weren't eligible to vote there? Or, how did

20 you come to that understanding?
21 A. I mean is it not logical? I mean, if
22 you don't live -- if your -- don't live here, you
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1 shouldn't be voting here, should you?

2 Q. Okay. So, you came to that

3 conclusion logically on your own, would you say?

4 A. Well, I would think so.

5 0. Okay.

6 MS. TAYLOR: Henry, can we pull up

7 and mark as the next exhibits -- its actually three
8 documents, but we can look at them one at a time.

9 The ones that ends in Bates 0001, 0002 and 0003.

10 THE TECH: OKkay. So, should I bring
11 up one first.
12 MS. TAYLOR: You can bring up one

13 first. Yeah. And then we can just click through
14 them for Mr. Martin.

15 (Whereupon, Exhibit 4, Letter

16 beginning Bates No. Martin 0001, was marked for
17 identification.)

18 (Whereupon, Exhibit 5, Letter

19 beginning Bates No. Martin 0002, was marked for

20 identification.)
21 (Whereupon, Exhibit 6, Letter
22 beginning Bates No. Martin 0003, was marked for
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1 identification.)

2 0. Mr. Martin, let Henry know when

3 you've had a chance to look at this and we can click

4 to the next one.

5 A. Yep. You see this is dated the 18th.

6 You see the dates on these are -- see? 17th and then

7 this 1s dated the 18th.

8 Q. Uh-huh.

9 And, we'll go through these kind of
10 collectively. I just want o let you put your eyes

11 on them.

12 A. Yes.

13 MS. TAYLOR: Henry, could you go to

14 0002.

15 THE TECH: Got it.

16 MS. TAYLOR: And then 0003.

17 0. So, I assume the answer is yes. But,

18 you recognize these letters, Mr. Martin?

19 A. Yes. Absolutely.

20 0. Okay. And are -- these are the three

21 individuals that you challenged on your own, separate

22 and apart from the list of 37 that True the Vote
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1 challenged on your behalf. Is that correct?

2 A. Correct.

3 Q. Okay. And these are challenges that
4 you also withdraw later?

5 A. Correct.

o 0. Okay.

7 A. But they -- it was based on the

8 information that Mr. Cooper had provided me that they

9 did -- you'll see all the addresses are from the
10 list -- the previous list of 37.
11 Q. That's right.
12 So you got these three names from the

13 list of 377

14 A. Right. What was concerning me was
15 these people are already asked for absentee ballots
16 or had already submitted absentee ballots.

17 Q. Okay. And, is this your handwriting

18 at the very bottom of the document?

19 A. Which one?
20 0. Well, let's do both. The -- let's
21 start with the very bottom here. "I hereby retract

22 this challenge."
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1 Is that your handwriting and
2 signature?
3 A. Absolutely, vyes.
4 Q. Okay. And then, the handwriting
5 right above that, whose is that? Do you know?
6 A. The -- I believe that's Ms. Vivian

7 Miller, the Taliaferro County Voter Registrar.

8 Q. Okay. So, can you walk me through

9 the withdrawal process for these challenges?
10 Let's start with, how you came to the
11 decision to withdraw each of these three?
12 A. Let's ' go to 001 first. So, I gave it

13 to him on the 17%h.

14 0. Okay.

15 A. And it was my under -- I didn't know
16 who Beatrice Davis was. You know, I would never

17 recognize her. But the list said she was living in

18 Patterson, New Jersey. And, Georgia Code 22-230 says
19 any person has a right to challenge a person that is
20 not living in the county. So, I challenged it as

21 chairman of the Georgia Republican Party. I didn't

22 know whether she was a Republican or a Democrat or
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1 what.
2 0. Okay.
3 A. And that's my voter ID. Georgia code
4 says any registered voter -- I'm a registered voter.

5 And I sent it to the superintendent of elections --

6 it probably should have gone directly to the Voter

7 Registrar. Judge Stevens, who's the superintendent
8 of elections, called up Mrs. Davis. Said she lives
9 in Taliaferro County. Ms. Vivian Milner told me

10 that. You know, who was I<to disagree with a judge,

11 who was validating that 'somebody lived in Taliaferro
12 County. So I went,<oh, and -- and on the 18th

13 retracted the challenge.

14 Q. Okay.

15 A. So -- and that definitely made me

16 concerned about the list of 37.

17 0. And, at this time, Mr. Martin, you

18 still weren't aware 1f True the Vote had submitted
19 that list of 37 challenges with your name on it yet,
20 right?

21 A. I was not aware that True to Vote

22 submitted the list of 37 until an Open Records
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1 Request by me sometime in January. True the Vote
2 never CCed me on anything, nor informed me, to my

3 knowledge, that they had submitted it.

4 And, in the process of discussing
5 this with Mrs. Milner, she indicated to me, when they
6 received this, probably on the 18th, when -- when we

7 talked about this, she said they would schedule a

8 hearing and I would have to validate that she did not

9 live -- that these people did not live here. And I
10 said no, that's not what -+ then we read Georgia law.
11 Georgia law says it's the registrar's responsibility
12 to validate where scémebody lives. But, since Judge
13 Stevens, on this<particular case said they don't live
14 here -- I mean she said they live here. I was not

15 going to argue with the judge. Right? I mean, who's
16 going to argue with a judge. Right? So, I retracted
17 the challenge.

18 And then began to question, oh boy,

19 now what's the list of 37, the validation of the 37.

20 Do you want to go to 002? Or do you
21 have any questions about this one?
22 0. We can move on to 002. I have a

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-8 Filed 05/16/22 Page 30 of 49

9/28/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Joseph Martin
Page 64
1 couple of questions about the whole process, but

2 let's get through why you withdrew each of these,

3 specifically first.

4 A. Sure. Again, this is Simons and the
5 current residence was Greene County. So, I

6 challenged that. If you live in Greene County, you

7 ought to vote in Greene County. The Taliaferro

8 County tax commissioner, Ms. Milner went to the

9 Taliaferro County tax commissioner, and the tax
10 commissioner said that Mr. Clifford has a homestead
11 exemption on a house in this County.
12 Well, the law says if you have a
13 homestead exemption, that's your residence. Even
14 though they were living in and residing in Greene

15 County.

16 Well, I wasn't going to argue that

17 the homestead exemption was illegal or inappropriate.
18 So, how could I argue with that? Even though they

19 were living in a different county. They had claimed

20 a homestead exemption in Taliaferro County. The law
21 says that the homestead exemption makes them --
22 that's their residence. I don't have -- she didn't
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1 write down the law -- maybe she did. 21-217 of the

2 Georgia code.

3 So, again, here was information

4 provided by True the Vote, that -- okay, yeah, they
5 didn't live here, but -- gee. Legally you're not

6 going to win this case. So, I retracted the

7 challenge.

8 Q. Okay.
9 A. Are we on the third one?
10 MS. TAYLOR:< Yeah. Henry, can we

11 pull up 0003, please?

12 Q. And, <the third one.

13 A. And, I must say, through this process
14 Ms. Milner, .the registrar, you know, we were working
15 together. She was very proactive, you know. And we
16 were working -- it wasn't an adversarial

17 relationship, so to speak.

18 0. Okay.

19 A. Okay. Melba Carmichael, again -- the

20 list of 37 showed her living in Wilkes County. She
21 had actually asked for an absentee ballot in

22 Taliaferro County. She had lived in Wilkes County.
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1 Mrs. Milner called her. She asked that her name be
2 removed from the Taliaferro County list. And, at
3 this time, her ballot was rejected. Because she
4 lived out of county, tried to vote in the county
5 and -- but she lived -- she was a resident of Wilkes
6 County. So, therefore, I was happy with that. I
7 retracted the challenge.
8 Q. Just to be clear, you said she asked
9 for the name to be removed. Are you referring to
10 Ms. Carmichael or Ms. Milner asked --
11 A. I'm going to read what's -- what
12 Ms. Milner unsigned<says, "Voter requested name be
13 removed from Taldiaferro County voter registration
14 list. 21-2-232(a)." I believe that's the Georgia
15 code says if you don't live in the county, you can't
16 vote. "Ballot voted in 1/5/21 election rejected.
17 21-2-230(g) ."
18 So, I believe this is Ms. Milner's
19 writing. And I believe at that point in time,
20 undated, I withdrew the challenge. Because I was
21 satisfied that they had taken action, appropriate
22 action. So 33 percent of the test cases that I've

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.com Digital Evidence Group C'rt 2021 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-8 Filed 05/16/22 Page 33 of 49

9/28/2021 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Joseph Martin

Page 67
1 tested had voted basically illegally, in my mind.

2 And 66 percent of them, in my mind, were
3 questionable. Two-thirds of the -- of the test cases
4 -- looking at the three test cases, 66 percent of

5 them, in my mind, didn't live in the county, but had
6 voted in the county. 33 percent of them, one-third
7 of them, the ballot, at this point in time was

8 rejected.

9 Q. Okay.
10 A. Based on theose, not my -- my
11 challenge, but those laws, I believe 21-2-232 and

12 21-2-230, are Georgia laws. I believe that all that

13 was written by Mrs. Milner, the -- the Taliaferro

14 County voter: registrar, chief registrar.

15 Q. So it was your belief that 66 percent

16 of these three test cases, in other words, two out of
17 the three were people who voted in Taliaferro County

18 but were not residents of Taliaferro County, but the

19 votes were still legal; is that right?

20 A. No, no, no. 66 percent of the three
21 test cases, in my mind, had voted in Taliaferro
22 County. And, of those 66 percent -- 66 percent, a
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1 third of them, one of them was rejected. The other

2 one, in my mind, shouldn't have voted in Taliaferro

3 County. But, I didn't have grounds to argue that

4 point. Because the law says, if you have a homestead
5 exemption, that's your residence. So, I would have

6 to argue that they didn't have a legal homestead

7 exemption before I could argue that they voted

8 illegally. So, anybody that has =- say somebody has
9 a house here in Taliaferro County and they moved to
10 anywhere in Georgia; if they maintain a homestead
11 exemption in Taliaferrco County, they can vote in
12 Taliaferro County even if they never live here. The
13 homestead exemption may be inappropriate or illegal;

14 but the law.says that that's their residence, as I

15 understand 1it.

16 0. Okay.

17 A. So, you can see from these, as I call
18 them, test cases, there's a lot of nuances to all of
19 this. You know, it's not clear-cut. It's not, yeah,
20 you have an address out of -- you have an address

21 that's not in the county, but it's not clear-cut

22 that -- that the individual has a right to vote in
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1 from me to -- can you go —-- I can't see.

2 BY MS. TAYLOR:

3 Q. Are you able to see both pages of the
4 document side by side?

5 A. Okay. Let me -- okay.

6 Q. Okay. Mr. Martin, and would you

7 agree that this E-mail that you sent on December 20th
8 at 9:54 a.m. to Amy Holsworth copying James Cooper,

9 it's a version of the same E-mail we Jjust looked at
10 previously; 1is that correct?

11 A. Right.

12 0. Okay:’ And, if we could turn to 0187
13 now --

14 A. But -- but I do not recall -- I'm

15 certainly clear that it says it's from me; but I do
16 not recall who Amy Holsworth, Amy@truethevote is, or
17 was.

18 0. Okay. This is the next E-mail. Take
19 a look at it.
20 A. Right.
21 Q. Okay. And, is this also an E-mail
22 similar to the last two?
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1 A. Correct.
2 0. Okay. And this one is sent to
3 Catherine Engelbrecht, copying James Cooper on

4 December 20th at 9:45 a.m.; 1is that right?

5 A. That's what it looks like.
6 Q. Okay. So, these last two E-mails,
7 you sent within the hour of the first one that we

8 looked at. Do you know why you followed up with

9 these later two E-mails?
10 A. No.
11 Q. But you (see that they are sent to

12 different people; i5 that right?

13 A. Right, and I -- as I said earlier, I
14 was not -- I'm not aware -- I was not aware that T
15 sent anything to True the Vote.

16 Q. Okay. Do you know who Catherine

17 Engelbrecht 1is?

18 A. She's True the Vote.

19 Q. And when you say "she's True the

20 Vote," what do you mean by that?

21 A. Her name, you know, when you get

22 anything from True the Vote, her name is on it.
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1 Q. Okay.
2 MS. TAYLOR: Let's pull back up the

3 first one, if we could, Henry. It's 0005. Just --
4 we'll just go over that one.

5 BY MS. TAYLOR:

6 0. In all three of these, Mr. Martin,

7 you write, "Impact of challenges. Not good!"

8 What -- what did you mean by that
9 statement?
10 A. Well, you know, they were —--

11 supposedly didn't live dn the county. You know, the
12 data -- again, this‘“is the two-source validation of
13 the data. You had a list of 37 people. I tested

14 three of them. One of them sure didn't look like she
15 lived in Patterson, New Jersey. The other one didn't
16 live in the county, but she had a homestead exemption
17 here, so that was a little iffy. And then, the third
18 one, at this point in time, there was no resolution
19 yet. But in my mind, you know -- but then when we

20 got the resolution of the third one, one-third of the
21 people that were tested did not live in the county

22 but had voted in the county. So one-third, you know,
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1 I don't know if that's good or bad. You know, in

2 batting averages, that's pretty good. But, some

3 other averages, that's not very good.
4 So, I was just providing feedback
5 that, hey -- you know, I didn't want to be -- T

6 didn't know what the list of 37. And, after the

7 experience of working with the registrar, I didn't
8 want to put her through the painful process of

9 validating those 37 individuals.
10 0. Okay.
11 A. And believe me, at this point, I did

12 not know they had already submitted 37.

13 Q. Right.
14 A. This was my way of checking the list.
15 Q. Right. You highlight for Mr. Cooper

16 and Mr. Marsh here, that "Ms. Davis is 100 years old

17 and not living in Patterson, NJ."
18 And based on that, you retracted the
19 challenge. Can you just, I know this is very basic,

20 but state for me why that fact was important?
21 A. Well, the superintendent of elections

22 confirmed -- you know, she called up -- you know, she
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took it personal that I had challenged this lady.

And she called her up and said where do you live?
And the lady said, you know, I'm not living in
Patterson, New Jersey.

Q. Okay.

A. What would you do? I mean, I
retracted the challenge.

0. But the fact that she was not living

in Patterson, New Jersey, what did that mean to you?

A. Well, at thai point in time, it made
me question the list --_the list of 37.
0. Because it implied that she was, in

fact, living in Taliaferro County and was
appropriately registered there?

A. Right, the superintendent of the --
the first line, highlight the first line. Beatrice
Davis listed as out of state. But the superintendent
of elections confirmed Mrs. Davis is living in
Taliaferro County with a personal phone call to her
Taliaferro County address. How can you argue with
that? I wasn't going to call her up. I certainly

wasn't going to drive by her address to see if she
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1 was living there. But the judge did. The probate

2 judge did. How could you argue with that?

3 Q. And then you end that paragraph about
4 Beatrice Davis in parentheses, " (Not sure where the

5 out of state residence information came from. But it
6 appears incorrect) ."

7 Did I read that right?

8 A. You absolutely read that right.

9 Q. Okay. And then in the next
10 paragraph, this kind of sunmarizes what you found
11 out?
12 A. Now, “remember, these are all people
13 who have already<asked for an absentee ballot.
14 Q. Right, and who had voted, right? Or
15 had just asked for a ballot?
16 A. Again, I'd have to look at what

17 Mr. Marsh -- what Mr. Marsh's reply to me -- and I

18 don't know how -- I don't have a clue how he could

19 confirm either one of those. But, he said these
20 people -- I believe he said they had voted absentee.
21 Whether that meant they had asked for an absentee
22 ballot or they had filed an absentee ballot. It was
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1 obviously that Ms. Carmichael had already voted. The

2 other two, I -- you know.

3 0. Not sure.

4 But in this -- this next paragraph

5 about Clifford Simons, it says, "She is living in a
6 nursing home in Greene County, but still has a house
7 in Taliaferro County." And that she has a homestead
8 exemption; is that right?

9 A. Correct.
10 Q. And again, this is very basic, but

11 why were those facts important to you?
12 A. The 1ist of 37 said she lived in
13 Greene County. The registrar, we have a history --

14 Taliaferro Cocunty has history of people who do not

15 live here voting. Or let me use the word "local
16 lore."

17 Q. Okay.

18 A. That people and -- and I've been --
19 in a public hearing, a senior government official

20 told me that his sister lives in Augusta, but she
21 votes in Taliaferro County. This was a number of

22 years ago, when I first moved here. And he said
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1 that's her home place. You always vote at your home
2 place. And I was like, wow, that's something I never

3 heard of before. Maybe that's the way they do it in

4 Georgia. But, not where I'm from.

5 Q. Okay.

6 A. So, here we have a person who lives

7 in Greene County. And, you know, we had a

8 discussion, me and -- the registrar and I, whether or

9 not she can vote in Taliaferro County. And I said, I

10 don't think she can. So, the chief registrar went to
11 the tax commissioner; found out Ms. Simons has a
12 house, and is paying taxes, and she has a homestead

13 exemption. The ilaw states, again, 21-2-230, I

14 believe that's in the voter registration law, states
15 that a person who has a homestead advantage, that's
16 presumed to be their residence. So, I wasn't going

17 to go back and challenge the homestead exemption.

18 0. Fair enough. And then, at the end of
19 this paragraph, you write again, "Again not sure

20 where the out of county residence information came
21 from."

22 A. Yeah. Again, the first one was out
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1 of state. So this was a perfect test case. One was
2 out of state. It appeared to be incorrect. And, you
3 know, I'm kind of going, where did it come from? The
4 second one was out of county. Where did the

5 information come from?

6 Q. And, did you ever receive a response

7 from Mr. Cooper; where this out of state information
8 came from, and the out of county information?

9 A. Again, not to my recollection. But,
10 you may have something that will surprise me.
11 0. I'm not ©ure that I do, Mr. Martin.

12 But, after you submitted these first three, as
13 we're -- we've bheen calling them test challenges; did

14 you go back . to the list of 37 and check any more of

15 the names on the 1list?

16 A. No.

17 Q. And, why not?

18 A. What do I say? Burned once, your

19 fault; burned twice, my fault.

20 0. So, in other words, you identified
21 some concerning areas, or some concerns about the out
22 of state and out of county information already on the
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1 list; and you did not find it worth your time to --
2 to verify any of the other names at that point? Is
3 that right?

4 A. Right. And at this point in time, I
5 did not know that Carmichael was going to be

6 disqualified.

7 Q. Right. It says -- it says for --

8 A. This was written on the 20th of

9 December. We were batting 100 percent strikeouts.
10 Q. All right. <As you mentioned, it says
11 in this E-mail here, "No resolution as of yet," in
12 reference to Ms. Carfrmichael. Presumably, that was
13 resolved a couple of days later? Or?
14 A. Yeah, I believe it was resolved. If

15 you go back to 003, I believe it resolved later that

16 day --
17 Q. Okay.
18 A. -— but this was 9:00 in the morning.

19 I believe it was resolved. It's not dated. But, I
20 withdrew that challenge when her ballot was rejected.
21 Q. And she requested to be removed from

22 the voter rolls herself, too?
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1 A. Correct.
2 Q. All right. Okay. Aside from these
3 three E-mails now, where you have mentioned the

4 impact of the challenge is not good, that you sent
5 around 9:00, 10:00 a.m. on the 20th; did you tell
6 anyone else that you had withdrawn these three

7 challenges?

8 A. Not that I recall.

9 Q. Okay.

10 MS. TAYLOR:< And, Henry, if you could
11 zoom out of this cropped part of the -- yeah, that

12 would be great.

13 Q. And the bottom E-mail down here,

14 Mr. Martin, .2t looks like you write on the 17th

15 around 4:00 p.m., "I will be providing these three
16 letters to the Registrar and Superintendent

17 tomorrow."

18 Are those three letters you're

19 referring to the challenge letters for these three

20 individuals?
21 A. Yeah, I believe so. 001, 002 and
22 003, if you -- I believe you --
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1 Q. Okay. That makes sense.
2 MS. TAYLOR: All right. Henry, if
3 you could pull up 0181, which is another version of

4 this E-mail that we looked at, Mr. Martin. This one
5 was the one that you had send to Amy Holsworth

6 copying James Cooper.

7 BY MS. TAYLOR:

8 Q. In this E-mail, you write at the top,
9 "My experience that the True the Vote database has
10 not been good."
11 Again, cen you just explain to me

12 what you mean by that statement?

13 A. Yeah, I'll be honest with you, I have

14 no idea why . I“was communicating with Amy. I don't

15 know where I got her -- Amy Holsworth, I have no idea
16 where I got her name or -- or why I sent this; unless
17 James Cooper told me to tell her, you know, because

18 at this point in time on the 20th, three days later,
19 I was very concerned with them using my name on the
20 list of 37.

21 Q. That's all right.

22 A. So, I was trying to get my -- you
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know, I had given him my signature and said, yeah, go
ahead and submit it. I believe that was on the 17th.

But, at this point in time, I was uncomfortable.

0. And that would explain --

A. Hence, the first statement there.

0. Yeah --

A. "My experience with the True the Vote

data base has not been good."
0. And the next line that says, "Please

hold on to any challenge leiters to Taliaferro

County"?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay.
A. And, that's at 9 -- that's

December 20th, 9:54 in the morning.

0. That is right.
A. And I said, "Concerns with the
quality of your information. Submitted three

challenge letters Thursday evening for individuals on
the True the Vote list who had already asked for
absentee ballots."

See, that clarifies who had already
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1 asked for absentee ballots in Taliaferro County. So,
2 evidently the database was absentee ballots

3 requested, not submitted.

4 Q. Okay. As you read just there, it

5 says, "Concerns with the quality of your

6 information."

7 MS. TAYLOR: And then, Henry, if you

8 go to the next page, where his E-mail continues.

9 Q. At the top it says, "Indicates a
10 problem with data accuracy<and relevance."
11 What were you referring to, just to
12 be clear for the record, when you say "data"? Are
13 you talking about the names themselves and the
14 addresses?
15 A. Well, the addresses specifically.
16 The names -- you know, the names -- it appears the
17 names were all Taliaferro County names. At one point
18 in time they -- they were or are Taliaferro County

19 voters. But, the data I was referring to is the

20 reference to them being out of state or out of
21 county. And that reiterates the information -- you
22 know, I'm feeding back realtime data here. This is
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1 real -- you know, you sent me a list of 37 names, and
2 this is my results of the test cases; three test

3 cases. As you can see, I'm uncomfortable. Please

4 hold onto any challenge letters to Taliaferro County.
5 Q. Did you receive a response to this

6 E-mail?

7 A. You know -- if I did, it's in the

8 package that we provided to you. If not, then it

9 isn't. I don't -- I don't recall.
10 0. Okay.

11 A. Again, I'll repeat, I was not aware,
12 when True the Vote gent the list of 37 to -- to

13 Taliaferro County.

14 Q. And like you said, you write again

15 here, "Please hold on to any challenge letters to

16 Taliaferro County." Were you under the impression,
17 at the time, that your challenge letters to

18 Taliaferro County were being held after you sent this
19 E-mail?
20 A. I was aware that they had not been
21 sent. I was not aware -- let me put it the other
22 way. I was not aware they had been sent. And I was
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1 nuts.

2 0. Would you consider data

3 processing to be your strong suit?

4 A. Yes.

5 0. And why is that?

6 A. I've been admitted to testify

7 as an expert witness in data analytics 5

8 times over the last 20 years in various

9 disputed elections. I've been working with

10 voter data for longer than<nost people have.

11 I know it well. And I'm -- I've testified in
12 court over residency issues and redistricting
13 errors and things like that.

14 Q. And what happens if a client or

15 you try to perform a project without good

16 data processing?

17 A. I'm not sure I understand the

18 question.

19 0. Sure.
20 MR. SHELLY: Henry, can you
21 pull up Exhibit L.
22 (Davis Exhibit 1,
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1 Printout of Data Productions'
2 website, No Bates, was marked
3 for identification, as of this
4 date.)

5 BY MR. SHELLY:
6 0. Mr. Davis, do you recognize

7 this? This i1s the website for Data

8 Productions.

9 A. It appears to be.

10 MR. SHELLY: (Can you scroll
11 down to page 2, Henry?

12 BY MR. SHELLY:

13 Q. That paragraph right there, in
14 the middle, "Why Data Processing?" The

15 website says, "Data processing is the dull

16 older cousin to big data. But without good
17 data processing," it says, "big data is just,
18 well, a big mess."

19 Do you agree with that?

20 A. To a certain extent, that's

21 fluff that my web developer put in there.

22 But, in general, I would say that I agree
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1 that data processing is very important.

2 Q. Fair to say that the quality of
3 processing affects of validity of the

4 conclusions that can be drawn from the data?
5 A. Yes.

6 MR. SHELLY: Thank you. Henry,
7 you can take that one down.

8 BY MR. SHELLY:

9 Q. Mr. Davis, you mentioned that

10 you perform National Change of Address

11 processing as part of your data processing

12 services. Is that tight?

13 A. Yes

14 Q. And roughly how many times a

15 year would you say you perform NCOA

16 processing?

17 A. I don't know the answer to that
18 question off the top of my head, but it's

19 often. It's regular. I would say I probably
20 will process 50, 60 million records this
21 year.
22 Q. And when you say "process those
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1 records," can you describe a little bit about
2 what that process is?
3 A. I license software that allows
4 me to run CASS certification as well as
5 National Change of Address processing. And
6 I own -- I buy an annual subscription that
7 allows me to run up to a hundred million
8 records a year.
9 0. And so am I to understand that
10 you're matching the NCOA list against some
11 other file?
12 A. That's<rnot quite the way it
13 works. That's a‘bit of an
14 oversimplification.
15 The way it works is the
16 software —-- it refers to the needed fields
17 that are in a particular database --
18 transmits that data to an NCOA compiler
19 that's got a special license from the Postal
20 Service to provide those services.
21 They actually do the matching
22 according to very strict USPS compliance
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rules. And then the information comes back
to me, and it's merged back into the original
database.

Q. Okay. And is there one firm,
it sounds like, who performs the actual match
that you use?

A. In my particular case, it's
BCC. But there are a number of them.

Q. Okay. And where did you learn
to do the part of this process that you do?

A. I forget what year it was, but
at some point, the Postal Service mandated
compliance with ‘move update requirements for
First-Class lMail. Years later, they also
required compliance with move update
requirements for Presorted Standard or what
we commonly refer to as "bulk mail."

So I don't remember exactly

what years those were, but it was quite a few
ago.

Q. And does the NCOA processing

ever produce a false match, where there's --

Page 23
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1 So my objection stands.
2 MR. SHELLY: Okay. Well, how
3 about I get through a few more
4 qgquestions on a different subject, and
5 then depending on the one -- where
6 those lead, we can perhaps revisit
7 this in a bit.
8 MS. SIEBERT: That sounds good.

9 BY MR. SHELLY:
10 Q. Mr. Davis, youw mentioned at
11 this initial meeting with Ms. Engelbrecht --
12 well, let me first ask: Was that your only
13 conversations with Ms. Engelbrecht, the
14 initial discussion that you mentioned with

15 Gregg Phillips and Derek Somerville?

16 A. That was my initial

17 conversation with anyone with True the Vote.
18 As far as subsequent

19 conversations with Catherine, I don't recall
20 any in specifics. I do recall participating
21 in a Zoom call, or maybe two, that were

22 general, you know, "everyone's invited" kind
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1 of broadcast. And I tuned in to Jjust keep
2 current with what they were doing.
3 But I don't recall other
4 specific conversations. We may have talked
5 on other occasions. There was so much
6 activity in November, I just don't recall
7 specifics.

8 Q. When you say you participated
9 in these conversations where everyone was
10 invited, were those open to the public? Or

11 what did you mean by that?

12 A. I believe they were open to

13 basically anyone:on True the Vote's list.
14 They may have been open to the public, for
15 all T recall.

16 But it was not a two-way

17 conversation. I didn't speak in those

18 meetings. I just tuned in to see what they
19 were up to.

20 Q. Do you know why you were

21 invited or how you ended up on those calls?
22 A. I don't.
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1 0. You mentioned Derek Somerville

2 in this call.

3 How do you know him?

4 A. I met Derek, I believe, in

5 November. He expressed similar interests

6 about the quality of the voter file. And we
7 continued to kind of work collaboratively on
8 it.

9 He's a former investigator -- a
10 former special agent with tihie FBI, and

11 I thought it would be useful to have him dig
12 into some specifics<~-- specific sort of

13 random samples from the data to see if he

14 could sort of  independently verify whether or
15 not there was additional evidence or

16 corroborating evidence on these changes of

17 address that he could find. And he spent

18 quite a bit of time doing that.

19 0. Did you reach out to him in the
20 first instance?
21 A. No. We met on a conference
22 call -- I can't remember which conference
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1 call -- but we established a relationship

2 after that and began to work collaboratively.
3 Q. Did you discuss challenging

4 voters with him?

5 A. We did discuss the possibility

6 of doing it not affiliated with True the

7 Vote.

8 Q. And was that before or after

9 the call with Ms. Engelbrecht that you

10 mentioned?

11 A. I don't recall.

12 Q. Okay. “Did he ask for your

13 assistance chall=nging any Georgia voters?

14 A. Well, we did discuss creating

15 our own challenges, but not True the Vote's
16 challenges.

17 Q. And did you pursue that?

18 MS. SIEBERT: I'm going to

19 object to this question. Again,
20 beyond the scope.
21 This lawsuit 1s about the
22 challenges that were, quote, in
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1 concert with True the Vote. $So this

2 is beyond the scope of this lawsuit.

3 Mark, you can go ahead and

4 answer.

5 A. I did do data processing for

6 other people to file challenges, not in

7 coordination with True the Vote, not

8 affiliated with True the Vote. A . totally

9 different perspective than True the Vote.

10 I'll stop there.

11 BY MR. SHELLY:

12 Q. Okay. “And who were these other
13 groups?

14 A. Excuse me?

15 Q. What other group were you

16 providing -- were you assisting with voter
17 challenges?

18 A. No group in particular.

19 0. Are there other individuals?
20 A. They were created to permit
21 other interested individuals to file them 1f
22 they wished to file them.
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1 Q. And how did you provide your
2 analysis to these other individuals?
3 MS. SIEBERT: Again, I'm going
4 to object that this is beyond the
5 scope of the litigation. And same
6 objections as before.
7 Mark, you can go ahead and
8 answer.
9 A. I generated files for each
10 county and put them -- made them available on
11 the internet for interested parties who
12 wanted to file them<to download them.
13 BY MR. SHELLY:
14 0. And was that accessible to the
15 public?
16 A. No. It was only accessible to
17 people that we provided access to.
18 Q. And, just ballpark, how many
19 people had access to this?
20 MS. SIEBERT: Same objection.
21 Mark, go ahead and answer this.
22 But, again, I'm going to shut down
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this line of questioning pretty soon.

Beyond the scope.

A. I don't know the answer to that
question. In fact, I don't know who
specifically filed what where or anything
like that.

I did do the data processing.
I did create the data to do challenges, but
I did not organize them or recruit people to
file them or anything of that nature.
BY MR. SHELLY:

Q. You mentioned Gregg Phillips
was on this initdial call with
Ms. Engelbrecht.

How did you meet Mr. Phillips?

A. I actually did not say that.

I said that I had a conference call with him
and Derek.

I believe that Catherine and
Gregg had taken Derek out to dinner one day
previous to that and wanted to meet me. And

Catherine was not available for the call, but

Page 49
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1 Gregg was, so 1f I recall correctly, it was

2 just me and Derek and Gregg Phillips on that
3 call.

4 Q. And what did you discuss on

5 this call?

6 A. We compared our backgrounds in

7 data processing and data analytics and

8 working with voter data.

9 He, I believe, comes from

10 Texas, and I'm from Georgia. We talked about
11 how different states store data differently.
12 And I 9ust basically kind of

13 gave him a little bit of a primer on data

14 that's available from the state, where to get
15 it, what it looks like, what's in it, those
16 kinds of things.

17 They were looking to do their

18 own analysis of the Georgia Voter Database,
19 and I just basically gave them some
20 information about, you know, how to get
21 started.
22 Q. Did you recommend -- if T
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1 remember the acronym -- BCC to perform the

2 actual processing?

3 A. No. I left it up to them,

4 which provider they wanted to use. There's

5 several dozen of them.

6 0. And did you have any more

7 conversations with Mr. Phillips after this

8 one?

9 A. Not that I recall.

10 Q. How about: Did you communicate
11 with Mr. Mark Williams (lfast year about

12 perceived voting irregularities in Georgia?
13 A. Not< that I recall. But Mark

14 and I are old friends, and we've talked about
15 those kinds of issues over the years a number
16 of times. But I don't recall a specific

17 discussion with him last year about it.

18 Q. Do you recall any discussions

19 specifically about challenging Georgia voters
20 who were suspected of having changed their
21 address?
22 A. Not that I recall.
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way, I would hope that Mr. Davis would

answer.

MS. SIEBERT: All right. Mark,

go ahead.

A. I'm not aware of residency
challenges that were filed before the
general, but it wouldn't surprise me to learn
that there were. There weren't any that I
was involved with.

BY MR. SHELLY:

Q. Do I understand correctly that
filing these challenges were your idea in the
first instance? “Or did someone else first
provide that idea?

A. It certainly was not my
original idea. That's been a topic that's
been discussed for quite some time.

There have been previous
challenges in previous elections filed on
residency issues, as far as I'm aware. It's
not a new idea by any stretch.

Q. Did you support these

Page 58
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1 challenges —-- I'll make this one specific to
2 the post-November challenges that True the

3 Vote filed. Did you support those

4 challenges?

5 A. In general, I support any

6 effort to clean up the voter rolls and ensure
7 people don't vote with residency issues

8 because they're casting ballots for people
9 that don't represent them.

10 So to that extent, I would

11 support efforts to prevent people from

12 casting illegal ballots.

13 Q. And: what did you hope the

14 impact of these challenges would be on the
15 voters?

16 A. I hoped that the counties that
17 accepted challenges would simply give them
18 additional scrutiny to make sure that they
19 retained the eligibility to vote in a
20 particular election.
21 In other words, under Georgia

22 law, if they move from one county to another
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more than 30 days before the election, and
that is a permanent change of address, then
they lose their residency in their previous
county. And they must be registered in their
new county in order to vote lawfully in that
county.

Under Georgia law, outside that
30-day grace period, we're only permitted to

vote in the county we actually live in.

Q. Have you ever<filed a voter
challenge?

A. No.

Q. Why< not?

A. I've never felt the need to.

Q. But you supported the

challenges that True the Vote filed?

A. I took exception with some of
their logic. It's not the way I would have
done it, but I had no input into the criteria
used for their challenges or the data
processing they did for their challenges or

any of that kind of stuff.
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1 You know, that was their

2 project; it was not mine. And I did not

3 participate in it.

4 Q. What would you have done

5 differently than what they did?

6 A. I probably would have narrowed

7 the scope. But other than that, from what

8 I understand about what they did, .they

9 identified people they believed to have

10 potential residency issues<and wanted the

11 registrars to give them increased scrutiny

12 just to make sure that they did retain the

13 eligibility to vote in a particular election.
14 So in -- as far as that's

15 concerned, I'm all in favor of preserving the
16 integrity of the vote and making sure that

17 people who are properly qualified are able to
18 vote and vote lawfully.

19 Q. And what do you mean when you
20 say that you wished they had reduced the
21 scope?
22 A. They did a larger challenge
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than I thought was best. I would have
limited the scope to people that had voted in
the general election because, for example,
you know, there are over a quarter million
people who moved out of Georgia. And

I wouldn't have expected very many of them to
cast ballots here. Thousands of them did.

But, at the same time, if they
don't live here anymore, then . they shouldn't
be voting here. So it's not that I really
object to their criteria, but I probably
personally wouldn't<llave done it that way.

Q. And: you say you worked with
people who had a different perspective than
True the Vote.

Was that perspective -- are you
referring to the scope or were there other
areas where their perspectives differed?

A. I don't —- it wasn't my
intention to put it quite the way you just
did.

From what I have since learned

Page 62
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1 about their challenge, I would have done it

2 differently. I didn't have any input into

3 their challenge or the logic behind it or

4 their data processing criteria or the way

5 they did it. That was all up to them.

6 Q. Is there anything else you

7 would have done differently besides narrowing
8 it to people who had voted in the

9 November election?

10 A. Not that I can think of off the
11 top of my head.

12 Q. Did you ever urge anyone to

13 participate in the challenge process?

14 A. I did have a Facebook post

15 where I encouraged people -- where

16 I basically reposted a post from Derek

17 looking for volunteers. Other than that,

18 I don't recall urging any specific person.

19 Q. Did you ever talk with anybody
20 about the methodology for developing a
21 challenge 1list?
22 A. I did talk with people about
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1 the methodology that I used in my own, but

2 not True the Vote's, that I recall.

3 Well, in thinking about that,

4 it's entirely possible I did discuss the

5 differences between the two with people.

6 I just don't recall specifics of who and when
7 and all that kind of stuff.

8 Q. When you say "the differences

9 between the two," are you referring to the

10 difference between yours and SureBill's?

11 A. No.

12 Q. Between yours and True the

13 Vote's?

14 A. Yes.

15 0. And did you discuss those

16 differences with True the Vote?

17 A. I don't recall. Like I said,

18 I didn't have input or really attempt to have
19 input that I recall into what they were
20 doing. That was their business. I didn't
21 try to tell them what to do.
22 I may have told them what
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1 Normally, when I'm processing the voter

2 database, I'll run NCOA on the mailing

3 address and the physical address. So when
4 you're talking about 7.6 million records,

5 you're talking about double that in an NCOA
6 run.

7 Q. How long does that process

8 take, from start to finish, to do.it right?
9 A. It really depends on the

10 workload that my compiler has at the time.
11 I will typically kick it off on maybe a

12 Friday afternoon and then just forget about

13 it for a day. When I come back the next day,

14 it's usually - done.

15 I don't know about -- exactly

16 how many hours. It's not like I'm sitting

17 there at my computer having to watch it.

18 Once I start the process, it just runs.

19 Q. Okay. Okay. Returning to this

20 document in paragraph 7, you say you've been

21 brought in as an expert witness in a total of
22 five election disputes, which I think you
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1 mentioned earlier.

2 Can you tell me about those

3 five cases?

4 MS. SIEBERT: Again, I'm

5 objecting to relevance.

6 A. Well, I can't tell you what

7 those cases were off the top of my head. I'd
8 have to research that. But off the top of my
9 head, I couldn't tell you the.exact document
10 name.

11 Two of them related to a

12 dispute election in<House District 1 back in,
13 I believe it wasy; 2002; two them were related
14 to a dispute in House District 28, I believe
15 in 2018 or 2019, or both -- there was two

16 cases surrounding that one as well; and then
17 the fifth case was in Long County, Georgia,
18 just after the primary of 2020.

19 BY MR. SHELLY:
20 Q. And was any of your testimony
21 about data processing related to the address
22 of potentially ineligible voters?
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1 A. Yes.

2 0. In how many of them?

3 A. All of them.

4 Q. And were those conclusions as a
5 result of the same processing you've been

6 describing here?

7 A. Yes and no.

8 Some residency issues are

9 caused by redistricting or districting

10 issues. Usually those are<errors made by the
11 county. And some are caused by people

12 moving. Some are caudsed just by people

13 straight up being assigned to the wrong

14 county. Some people claim to live somewhere
15 that they don't.

16 There's any number of issues

17 that can cause residency- or districting-type
18 issues, so I can't really give you a pat

19 answer for all circumstances.
20 Q. Okay. Let's skip down to
21 paragraph 14. I read it to say, "Although
22 our state laws on residency appear to be
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1 clear, there is obvious conflict between the
2 effective implementation and administration

3 of those laws and the 1993 National Voter

4 Registration Act, as well as some existing

5 Georgia case law which has only made the

6 situation worse."

7 Can you tell me what you meant
8 by "obvious conflict"?

9 A. Well, as you may. e aware, when

10 a Secretary of State gets ain NCOA match,
11 they're required to contact the voter to

12 investigate that NCOA match. Basically ask

13 the voter: Do you still claim residency at
14 the current address you're registered at or
15 have you moved?

16 You have to send out those

17 letters and investigate that. And the

18 Secretary of State is prohibited by the
19 1993 National Voter Registration Act from
20 doing so-called list maintenance within
21 90 days of a federal election.

22 And here, in Georgia, 21-2-233
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1 permits a Secretary of State to run that
2 National Change of Address processing, it
3 appears, pretty much at its discretion. 1In
4 fact, I believe that term "discretion" 1is
5 used. Yet the 1993 NVRA prohibits what it
6 can actually do with that information.
7 So our Secretary of State is on
8 record blaming the 1993 National Voter
9 Registration Act and its prohibitions,
10 preventing him from preventing some of these
11 votes that have been cast with residency
12 issues.
13 He ‘and his staff have admitted
14 on multiple o©ccasions that such errors do
15 happen, but they claim that the NVRA
16 prohibits them from being able to address
17 them in a meaningful way.
18 Q. And so you say that voter
19 challenges then is as a way to get around
20 those NVRA restrictions?
21 A. It's not really —--
22 MS. SIEBERT: Objection --
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those are going to be valid. And, of course,
certainly not anywhere close to that number
actually cast ballots in the election.

Q. Do you have any idea how many
of those 267,255 voters may have been
military or student voters?

A. No, I do not.

Q. In paragraph 24, you.calculate
122,231 voters who moved across state [sic]
lines but within Georgia.

Would your methodology have
identified all of the registered voters who
submitted NCOA riotices for an address outside
of their county but within Georgia?

A. Well, to start with, as
I mentioned earlier, I completed this
analysis just before testifying. And after
that testimony, I realized some of those had
changed their addresses to P.0O. Boxes. So
I would revise that number of 122- to
approximately 110-.

But, vyes, the USPS data shows
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that they moved from one county to another
county in Georgia. And based on the move
effective date they gave the Post Office when
they filed their change of address, that move
effective date was more than 30 days in
advance of the election. But, of course, not
all those people cast ballots.

Q. True the Vote calculated this
figure in their challenges within state
movers to be 124,114.

Do you know why there would be
a discrepancy?

A. I wasn't involved in their

(]

processing. couldn't tell you.

I would imagine they would have
done different dates. That might be one
possible explanation. Because, as I
mentioned earlier, NCOA is a window. It's
either looking back 18 months or it's looking
back 48 months.

So when you process NCOA, it's

a particular snapshot at a particular moment
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1 in time. So that, alone, could easily

2 account for the disparity.

3 I just recently ran NCOA again,
4 and, you know, the numbers had gone up

5 considerably as far as the number of hits

6 statewide. So it's really a moving target.

7 And that's part of the reason

8 for the certification, is one of the primary
9 reasons for the certificationsg, is in order
10 to be in compliance with United States Postal
11 Service move update regulrements, the

12 processing has to beée done within a certain

13 amount of time of when you do the mailing or
14 you can risk losing your postage discounts.
15 0. And then can we look at

16 paragraph 36. You refer to the antiquated

17 Voter Registration Act.

18 A. Yes.

19 I believe the 1993 National
20 Voter Registration Act should be amended so
21 that it's more helpful in keeping our
22 nation's voter rolls cleaner.
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1 I would advocate for the use of
2 a national voter data clearinghouse, not

3 federalized elections or federalized voter

4 registration but something similar to or

5 perhaps even ERIC, E-R-I-C, the Electronic

6 Registration Information Clearinghouse.

7 Somewhere in the neighborhood

8 of half of our states are participating

9 states. My understanding is it's an NGO, and
10 that each state sends a designee to

11 participate in the governance of ERIC.

12 And the states will submit

13 voter data with ‘a hatched version of the full
14 date of birth and Social Security number so
15 that that information remained confidential,
16 but at the same time can be matched against
17 other member states.

18 It's very useful in determining
19 if a voter is registered in more than one
20 state, which happens often. As an example,
21 the 267,000 that moved out of Georgia, some
22 large number of them probably are registered
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1 in other states.

2 I'm not privy to the results of
3 the analysis that ERIC does, but I would

4 imagine that they routinely find people who

5 have moved from one state to another. And

6 when they move to their new state, they got a
7 driver's license and registered to vote and

8 never cancelled their voter registration in

9 Georgia.

10 So, yes, I do<obelieve that, you
11 know, in this day and age, that's nearly a

12 30-year-old law there. And technology has

13 advanced considerably since those days.

14 Yes, I do believe that we can

15 do better and that we can keep our voter

16 rolls cleaner and we can help ensure people
17 are able to vote and vote lawfully and vote
18 for people who actually represent them.

19 MR. SHELLY: Henry, can we look
20 at Exhibit C now.
21 (Davis Exhibit C,
22 Mark Davis Facebook Post, May 7 at
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1 I've asked everything that I have on
2 my list?
3 MS. SIEBERT: Sounds good.
4 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is
5 11:49 a.m. Going off the record.
6 (Recess taken.)
7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is
8 11:54 a.m. Back on the record.
9 BY MR. SHELLY:
10 Q. I do have just a few final
11 questions for you, Mr. Pavis. I want to make
12 sure I understand the mechanics of this
13 matching, as I'micalling it, the best I can.
14 Another example: If a person's
15 last name is hyphenated in one file but not
16 the other, would that show up as a match?
17 Or, my understanding, that that would depend
18 entirely on the algorithm that is being used?
19 A. It depends on the matching
20 algorithm used by the Postal Service.
21 If there 1s -- 1f there's not a
22 match, then I would not be provided with a
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1 new address, so they wouldn't be on the list
2 to begin with.
3 Q. Okay. Your list of
4 approximately 40,000 names that you
5 identified of people who voted in the general
6 or otherwise you were concerned about their
7 eligibility to vote, did that include anyone
8 who was registered or moved to a military
9 base?
10 A. Derek is also<a former Marine,
11 and we did the best that we could to scrub
12 military bases out of there.
13 But; again, as I mentioned
14 earlier, when someone files a permanent
15 change of address when they really intend to
16 go away temporarily, that is something that
17 needs to be addressed with some sort of
18 investigation, either mailing them a letter
19 or a notice, as the Secretary of State does,
20 or sending an investigator to ask that
21 person, you know: Did you move from this
22 address to that address? Was it a temporary
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1 move or a permanent move? Or an
2 investigation by a county that accepts a

3 challenge.
4 There's additional data to be
5 gathered. This is a place to begin the

6 process, but it's not the be all end all of

7 any of these processes.
8 Q. You mentioned -- did
9 Mr. Somerville remove the military names, or

10 is that something that you<did yourself?
11 A. I had him o it because he's
12 aware of where the big military bases are and

13 did his best to ‘scrub any of them out of the

14 data.

15 Q. Okay. Do you have -- do you

16 know how many names that removed?

17 A. I don't recall.

18 Q. And did you do any similar

19 scrubbing for other reasons? A person could
20 be in a similar situation? For example,

21 people who are registered and on a college
22 campus?
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1 A. Not that I recall. I know

2 there's a very low number of college-age

3 voters on the list. But, again, those issues
4 are basically the subject of the inquiry,

5 whether that's done through the mail by the

6 Secretary of State or done by the county

7 board of elections in reviewing a challenge

8 or done by the Secretary of State's office as
9 they continue to investigate these issues.

10 Q. And do you think that the

11 county boards of election could do the proper
12 investigation for 40,000 names before the

13 runoff election?

14 A. Well, that's a statewide

15 number. No county has near that total.

16 Q. But -- so did you think that

17 each county could perform all the

18 investigations they needed to do before the
19 election?
20 A. I don't know. That's for the
21 county to determine. 1It's up to the county
22 to accept or reject a challenge. And, as
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1 you're aware, many of them did reject them.
2 You know, that was part of the
3 reason that I, you know, limited the scope of
4 the challenges, 1s because, A, since they had
5 already voted in the general and many of them
6 already with potential residency issues, I
7 felt like that was on stronger footing, as
8 far as the counties go, in their ability to
9 process a challenge as well as and the
10 strength of the challenge itself.
11 So, yeah, (I would agree that
12 the larger the number is, the more difficult
13 it is on the counties. And, in part, I think
14 that may be part of the reason that some of
15 the counties rejected challenges, because
16 they just didn't want to deal with it.
17 And then part of the other
18 reason 1s the threat of a lawsuit backed by
19 an organization with millions of dollars
20 behind them. A lot of voters were
21 intimidated and a lot of counties were
22 intimidated.
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1 0. Do you intend to file any
2 challenges in the future?
3 A. I hope that I don't have to.
4 I hope that these issues will be addressed by
5 our elected officials.
6 I do intend to keep researching
7 these issues in the future and identifying
8 and calling attention to these issues as I've
9 done for 20 years. I intend to remain an
10 advocate for election integrity, yeah.
11 I don't think it's okay for
12 people to vote in districts they don't live
13 in for people who don't represent them.
14 I think all Americans should view it that
15 way. Voting for our representatives is the
16 bedrock of our Constitutional republic.
17 I don't think it's acceptable that we have
18 people casting unlawful ballots.
19 Q. A second ago you mentioned that
20 this process has resulted in the intimidation
21 of a lot of voters.
22 Can you elaborate on what you
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1 But I would hope their motivation was
2 to create a buffer so that we don't see

3 brinkmanship within the electoral process

4 inadvertently permitted by federal statute.

5 So I think the process that requires a
6 significant amount of due diligence, significant
7 amount of interaction with the voter, and

8 provides for some blackout periods within

9 certain proximities of elections is a very, very
10 good thing.

11 Q. Okay.

12 And just to put a fine point on that,
13 so I am sure <that I understand you, is the point
14 of that need for interaction with the voter a

15 fact that just appearing on the NCOA list does
16 not mean that someone is ineligible to vote?

17 And that investigation is needed?

18 A. Yeah -- that's a very -- very specific
19 fine point that you have put on there, but it's
20 one of many points. There is a number of
21 variables that could influence why an individual
22 may or may not be an eligible voter.
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1 So my assumption is that that's a

2 process to ensure that we are not wholly relying
3 on any one piece of information.

4 You know, my understanding and my

5 belief that the NCOA is -- it is an indicator

6 that there may be an anomaly, but then that

7 needs to be substantiated through subsequent

8 diligence.

9 That's my understanding of how it

10 works in the state -- that at no point would any
11 of these challenges prevent an eligible voter

12 from voting. That's not the intent.

13 The )intent is to identify if there 1is
14 a data ancmaly, then put in motion a process

15 that ultimately, when fully adjudicated,

16 identifies whether or not an individual -- with
17 their participation, hopefully -- whether or not
18 they are eligible or not.

19 I firmly believe -- and I -- I don't
20 mean to go long here -- that there are
21 individuals that are unaware that they are still
22 registered at their own county. So this is a
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good process to notify people that there is a
process 1in place to ensure that you can vote and
vote eligibly.

Q. Okay.

MS. FORD: Can we please pull up
Exhibit I and mark it as Exhibit I?

(Exhibit I, Single-page document
bearing heading: Jim Flenniken-{no Bates No.),
marked for identification)

(Pause)

MS. FORD: (Could we make the comment
by Mr. Somerville a little bit bigger so we all
can read, please?

BY MS. FORD:

Q. This is a comment from your Facebook
page in which you appear to write: There are
literally thousands of individuals that
legitimately used NCOA to forward their mail out
of the county/state but remain legal residents.

Did you write this?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. I assume you believed that to be true
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1 at the time you wrote it?
2 A. I believe that to be true at the time,
3 and I believe that to be true now.
4 Q. Here you write back to Mr.
5 Flenniken -- I believe his name is -- that there
6 is a process in place to make sures his wife
7 wasn't taken off the rolls improperly, as he had
8 noted in his comment to you.
9 You say: At some point if your wife
10 filed an NCOA, the state will send her a note
11 and ask her to verify if she is still a
12 resident. She wguld, of course, indicate she is
13 and the matter would end there.
14 But since that process hasn't been run
15 by the state since early 2019, and given the
16 unprecedented reliance on -- this cycle on
17 mail-in ballots, our challenges sought to force
18 that verification.
19 And I assume you wrote this as well?
20 A. I did.
21 Q. Were you speaking about the challenges
22 that you helped organize in December when you
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1 said, "Our challenges sought to force that

2 verification"?

3 A. Well, I think I was speaking more

4 broadly on the data integrity effort. I think

5 the word "challenge" just became common

6 vernacular.

I As 1t turned out, not that many were

8 ultimately submitted.

9 But I think this .captures well the

10 point, which was that there is a process to

11 protect voters, but that process needs to be

12 undertaken in order to identify those votes that
13 are not eligible and would otherwise

14 disenfranchise the very voters that we're trying
15 to protect.

16 Q. Here you seem to be recognizing that
17 the NVRA traditional NCOA process was not going
18 to occur 1n the few months or weeks before the
19 runoff election.
20 Is that correct?
21 A. I don't -—- I don't know if that's what
22 I was acknowledging.
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1 I think -- I think what I was trying

2 to indicate here is that there is a process and
3 we should follow it; and that our data file,

4 based on our estimation from looking at it, had
5 not been maintained in a very long time; and

6 that that was creating a significant number of

7 anomalies.

8 But those people that were eligible

9 voters are well-protected under the current laws
10 and current processes; gnd I didn't see a high
11 probability that anybody that -- that appeared
12 on an NCOA file but did not, in fact, legally

13 change a resident would be prevented from

14 voting. I still confidently believe that.

15 And I think --

16 0. Okay.

17 A. -- and to go further -- I know you

18 didn't -- well, that's okay.

19 Q. I'm sorry. I don't mean to cut you
20 off.
21 A. Well, I guess my point is I think the
22 thrust of this response was to also make a
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MS. KRAMER: Counsel, I would ask that
we have the witness be in a room by herself, just for
the purposes of the deposition --

THE WITNESS: Okay.

MS. KRAMER: -- if possible.

MS. FORD: Jocelyn, is it easy enough
to ask your friend to go to a different room?

THE WITNESS: Yeah; they can go to a
different room.

MS. FORD: Okay«

THE WITNESS:< They're working from
home, so give me one second.

REPORTER: Did we want to go off the
record, or just stand by for a second?

MS. KRAMER: I would just stand by for
a second, unless it takes longer than, you know, 30
seconds.

REPORTER: Okay.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

BY MS. KRAMER:

0 Thank you. And since I'm not in the actual
room with you, I'm not able to see what you have in
front of you or if someone else enters the room. Can
you let me know if someone does enter the room at any

point during this deposition?

Veritext Legal Solutions
800.808.4958 770.343.9696
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A Yes. I can.

0 Thank you. And then, Ms. Heredia, do you
understand that you cannot ask your attorney's help to
respond to a particular question that's asked?

A I understand.

o] Okay. And your attorney may object to a
question that I ask, but you should still respond
unless your attorney instructs you not to respond.
Does that make sense?

A That makes sense.

0] Okay. And finally, <if at any time you need
a break, just let me know, ‘and we can go off the
record for five or ten minutes if that's needed.
Hopefully it won't take too long, so that won't be
necessary, but if“you need a break, just let me know.

A Sounds good.

0 Okay.

MS. KRAMER: And at this time, can we
please put up what is marked as Exhibit A?

TECH CONCIERGE: Please stand by. This
is Exhibit A.

(Exhibit A was marked for

identification.)
BY MS. KRAMER:

0] Ms. Heredia, can you see this document?
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A Yes.
0 Do you recognize this document?
A Yes, I do.
Q Okay. I just want to confirm that you

understand that you're appearing today pursuant to
this Notice.

A I understand.

o) Great. Okay. So I just have some
background questions I want to start-with.

MS. KRAMER: Bailey, you can take the

exhibit off. Thank you.

0 Ms. Heredia, where is your current address
in Georgia?

A It is in Banks County. It is -- the actual

address is 304 Rorders Road, Commerce, Georgia 30530.

0 And how long have you resided there for?

A That's a tough question. Approximately four
years.

Q And are you registered to vote from this
address?

A Yes.

o) How long have you voted from that address?

A So I can't recall, but I did vote from that
address for the presidential election and the -- the

special election.
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0 Okay. So the November election -- the 2020
election -- and the January runoff?

A That's correct.

0] Okay. Great. And what is your current
occupation?

A I am a remote worker, and I'm a researcher.

0 For what company?

A For AT&T.

Q What kind of research do yeu do for AT&T?

A User experience research.

0] And that's the only<company that you
currently work for?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. And how long have you worked there
since?

A Approximately -- less than two years.

Q Okay. Great. When did you live in Atlanta,
Georgia?

A I lived in Atlanta in January and February
of 2020.

o] And why did you live in Atlanta during those
two months?

A Sure. For this job, the AT&T job, I -- so
I -- I got the job, and it was a temporary position at

the time, so I moved to Atlanta for the job.
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0] Okay. And when you moved there for your

job, did you change your mailing address to reflect

where you lived in Atlanta for that job?

A I did.

0] And it was just a temporary job?

A Yes. At the time it was.

0 So you changed your address with the Postal

Service. And did you change it back once you moved
from Atlanta?

A I did not. Because I still had access to
the apartment, so, you know, i¥ I needed the mail, I
could get it. And to be hcnest, I don't even get that
much mail.

0] Did you have intentions of moving back to
that address, if . you kept your mailing address in
Atlanta?

A That's hard to say. So in March, the
COVID-19 pandemic hit, and we were told that we would
be remote. And we were told that we -- that they
weren't even sure when we would go back to the office.
So, you know, I would be remote until my job told me

that I had to be in person.

o] Have you been in person with that job yet?
A In February, yes.
o] Of this year?

Veritext Legal Solutions

800.808.4958 770.343.9696




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-11 Filed 05/16/22 Page 6 of 24

Jocelyn Heredia October 15, 2021

Fair Fight, Inc., Et Al. Vs. True The Vote, Et Al

Page 14
A Oof 2020.
Q So -- sorry; I guess I'll clarify. You're
working remotely right now; is that what you --
A Correct.
0 Okay. And so, since February of last year,

have you gone back to working in person in Atlanta?

A No.

Q Okay. And is your mailing address still in
Atlanta?

A It's not.

0] It's not. Okay. Whken did you change your
address?

A I changed it =- I can't recall the exact
date, but I -- so wa were supposed to be back into the

office in Octobeyr; and then our job told us that we
would have to -- oh. And then in September, our job
told us that we would not go back into the office for
the rest of this year, and we would be remote
indefinitely, until they let us know otherwise. So
recently I changed my address back to Banks County,
because I don't know where I'll be. But ...

o) Okay. Okay. Thanks for clarifying that.
Okay. Let's start with a few questions just about the
2020 election. Did you vote in the 2020 primary

election?
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A That's correct. I did not see her seal the
ballot.

0 Did you see any other people at the polling

location that day, while you were there, have to fill
out a paper ballot?

A Yes. I did, actually. A lady behind me.
She was, I believe, of Asian descent; I can't confirm.
She looked Asian -- of Asian descent. She also had to
fill out a paper ballot.

0 And when she finished £filling out that
ballot, did you see where her ‘ballot was placed?

A I did not. So I“was in line before her, so,
you know, I -- I gave mv ballot with the envelope to
the worker, and sheosaid that I would need to provide
two forms of identification with my mailing address in
order for my vote to count. And then that's when she
went to the hallway, into a room.

And then at the same time, I could see that
this lady that was behind me was filling out a paper
ballot. But then at that point I left to go to
find -- either go home to find two forms of
identification, or -- I was going to -- I was going to
check my car to see if I had two forms of
identification there. So I didn't actually see what

happened to her ballot.
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0 Okay. And I just want to clarify that
before you gave your ballot to the election worker, or
who you believe was the election worker, you did place
it in the envelope. Right?

A No. I did not place it in the envelope.

0 Okay. So you gave her the open ballot and
then the envelope in the other hand? Or did she have
the envelope? I'm just trying to figure out how --

A Yeah. So I provided the envelope, and then
I provided my ballot. But I can't remember if I
folded it or I just gave it teo her. But I do remember
that I did not put it inside the envelope. And I did

not seal it --

0] Okay.
A -- I pirovided both.
0 Okay. Thanks for clarifying that. And then

I just want to touch real fast on the lady behind you.
You said she was filling out a provisional ballot. Do
you know why she was?

A I don't know.

o] Okay. So you don't know if the lady behind
you was a voter being challenged or if she chose to
vote on a paper ballot?

A I -- I don't know. Yeah. I -- I wasn't --

like, they would talk to the people individually. So
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I -- I don't -- I don't know. I didn't overhear
anything.

0 Okay. So they talked to her individually.
So when the election worker told you that your vote
was being challenged, did they talk to you
individually about that as well?

A Yes, they did. And it wasn't, like,
individually, like, in a room or anything. It was --
you know, people are around; there's:-people close by
submitting their ballot in -- on @ machine; there's
people in line. But she would keep her voice down
when she was speaking to -<- to certain people.

0 Okay. So she<didn't, like, raise her voice
when she was telling you that you were being
challenged. It wasn't some announcement to the
polling location.

A Right. It wasn't an announcement. But
whoever was voting by paper ballot, they would make --
you know, they made me and the other woman step aside
as other people were able to cast their ballot on the
machine.

Q Okay. But it was not public why people were
voting by paper ballot, based on your experience?

A While I was there, it was not public. But I

do know that my name, along with other challenged
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voters' names, were published on the Banks County
website. And it was public information for six
months.
0] Okay.
MS. KRAMER: Bailey, can we please pull
up Exhibit E?
TECH CONCIERGE: This is Exhibit E.

(Exhibit E was marked for

identification.)

BY MS. KRAMER:

0 Ms. Heredia, does this look familiar to
you -- this PDF of the websgite of Banks County?

A Yes. That's familiar. That's what I was
referencing --

0 Okay.

A --4in my previous question.

o] Okay, perfect. §So can you tell me who -- or

I guess can you clarify: This is obviously the Banks
County website, and not another organization's website
that has, I guess, the challenge list that you're
referring to?
A Correct. This is the Banks County website.
o] Okay. And was this challenge list published
on any other website, to your knowledge?

A To my knowledge, no. But anything that's on
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the internet can be downloaded, replicated, put
elsewhere. So it could be anywhere else.

0 I understand that. But I'm just kind of
more asking that to your knowledge, that you know of,
you have not seen this challenge list any other place
but the Banks County website?

A Correct.

0 Okay. Give me one second, Ms. Heredia. On
this website, did you personally ever click or

download the challenge list?

A I clicked on it, but ' I did not download
it -- downloaded it for my reference.
Q Do you know o%f anybody that did download it?
A I'm not.
Q Okay. 80 to your knowledge, this hasn't

really been put elsewhere. Like I said, to your
knowledge, this list hasn't been put elsewhere but
just this website.

MS. FORD: I'm going to just object
that it calls for some speculation.

THE WITNESS: Right.

MS. KRAMER: I understand. I'm just
asking the witness just to her knowledge, just right
now, if she knows of it being published anywhere else.

THE WITNESS: I don't know.
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BY MS. KRAMER:

0 Okay. And I just want to clarify that what
you're viewing, and also to your knowledge, this
website's not operated by True the Vote; correct?

A That's correct.

Q And it doesn't appear to be operated by any

of the defendants, in your opinion?

A That's correct. To what I can see on
this -- until "Banks County, Georgia;" until the
"Resources" line, I -- I don't remember --

0] We can scroll.

A -- recently.

MS. KRAMER: Thank you, Bailey.
0 So, Ms. Hearedia, did you see any of the
defendants' names on this website?
A I did not.
Q Okay. Thank you.
MS. KRAMER: Bailey, can we please pull
up Exhibit F again?
TECH CONCIERGE: This is Exhibit F.
MS. KRAMER: Perfect. Perfect.
BY MS. KRAMER:
o] Okay. Ms. Heredia, I just want to go back
and just kind of discuss the basis of the challenge,

from what's in the complaint and from what you
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VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 15:09; we're
back on the record.

MS. KRAMER: Great. Bailey, can we
please pull up Exhibit L?

TECH CONCIERGE: Please stand by. This
is Exhibit L.

(Exhibit L was marked for

identification.)
BY MS. KRAMER:

0 Ms. Heredia, does this document look
familiar to you?

A Yes. I provided'this document.

Q And was this what you received from U.S.P.S.
when you changed your mailing address?

A That's correct.

0 And just so I know, because I don't believe
it has it on this document, this was when you changed
your mailing address from Banks County to Atlanta
during 2020; right?

A That's correct.

0] Okay. And you have not submitted another
one of these forms until September of 202172

A Actually, I submitted another one previously
to September of 2021.

0 When did you submit another one of these?
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A I believe it was March of 2021, because
the -- this mailing -- this mailing -- this forwarding

mailing address was set to Decatur, Georgia, and the

contract for the apartment for this -- for
Decatur -- expired. So I wanted to have another, you
know -- I -- so because the contract expired for the

Decatur apartment, I then got another apartment in
West Midtown. So I submitted a change of address to
West Midtown in March of 2021. And then I submitted
another change of address for Banks County in --
around September 2021.

o] Okay. So just t& clarify, you had not
submitted a change of address form -- let me rephrase
that. To clarify, during the 2020 election cycle,
this was the only change of address form that you had

filed with U{S.P.S.?

A Yes. That's correct.

0 And this is what they had on file -- the
Atlanta address -- as your mailing address. Right?

A Yes. That's correct.

0] Okay. And from March 2021 to September of

2021, your mailing address was then West Midtown?
A That's correct.
0 Okay. And it wasn't until recently -- I'm

just trying to get these dates right. And it wasn't
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until recently that you submitted another change of
address form to have your mailing address be in Banks
County?

A Correct. I don't know the exact date, but

it was around September.

o] So fairly recently.

A Fairly recent; correct.

Q Okay. Okay. Just wanted to clarify that.
Great.

MS. KRAMER: Bailey, we can take this
exhibit down.

0 So Ms. Heredia, /£ want to discuss with you
next kind of like the kasis for this lawsuit under
which you felt as though you were being intimidated
and targeted. What made you feel intimidated?

A So<when I went to go vote, I -- you know,
I'm relatively new to voting. And I thought it would
be a super-easy process; you know, just get in line
and you cast your vote. But it ended up being a
longer process for me.

I -- I learned that my vote was being
challenged as I was there, and I actually didn't know
what that even meant. And -- and when I was
challenged, I was the only Hispanic there voting. And

I noticed that the only other race besides white who I
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believe was also challenged -- well, she casted a
paper ballot -- was Asian.
I put it -- you know, I connected the two,
and I thought that they were -- people of color were

being challenged. And that made me feel intimidated.
And like I said, I didn't know what that even was, and
I didn't even know if it was legal. So that made me

feel intimidated.

0 But to clarify what you testified earlier,
you don't know if the lady that was behind you -- the
Asian lady -- if she was being challenged or not. You

just know that she was voting by provisional ballot.

Right?
A That's coxrect.
0 Okay. And while you were at the polling

location, you said that you voted via provisional
ballot and this other lady. About how long would you

say that you were at that polling location for?

A Maybe three to four hours. So I -- when I
went to vote, I think I voted early -- actually, I
can't remember. But there was a line and, you know, I

got in line to vote; and then when I casted my vote
through the paper ballot, I was told that I would have
to provide two forms of identification saying that I

do live in Banks County.
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And so because of that, I either had to go
all the way home and find, you know, the forms of
identification; or, you know, at the time, I decided
to search my car. ©So I searched my car for those two
forms, and then I had to get back in line -- like, the
back of the line -- and wait in line again. So it
took longer than I expected.

0 I understand. Just a guess: How long were
you actually inside the physical polling location for?
Not the line, but where you go tc actually vote and
give the election worker your <ID and things like that.
How long would you say you were in that room for?

A Twenty minutes, roughly.

0 Okay. And - you don't remember if you voted
early or if you voted on election day?

A I «- I don't remember.

o] Okay. So you were inside that room where
the voters are for about 20 minutes, and you were the
only Hispanic person that you saw, being challenged
during that time. Are you aware that there were
multiple days to go vote in person in Georgia?

A Yes. I'm aware.

0] Okay. So there could have been other people
being challenged on different days, but you didn't see

any of them.
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MS. FORD: Objection. Calls for
speculation.

MS. KRAMER: I'll rephrase.
BY MS. KRAMER:

0] So you say that you felt intimidated because
you were the only Hispanic person there that was being
challenged, that you saw. I'm just clarifying that
that you were only in that room for a period of
approximately 20 minutes out of the entire time of
early voting and election day voting. And that's that
time period in which you felt < <intimidated.

A So the Banks County -- where you go vote in
Banks County, it's a very, very small room. I believe
there's only two machines, and they were only letting
two people vote, ' and then one person who was in line,
in the location.

So in that little tight space, I was only
there for 20 minutes; but actually at the location
where, you know, the line -- the line actually wrapped
around the building, because there was just not enough
space to be inside the voting -- like, inside the
actual building, which -- so I was actually there for
around three to four hours. And that's the period
that I felt very intimidated. Like, even when I went

home, I was still shocked.
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whether my vote was counted, and it was on the Banks
County website -- the phone number. And I called
several times, and nobody picked up.

0] When was the last time that you called Banks
County to figure out if your vote was counted?

A Maybe February of 2020. So like, within the

same time frame; not recently.

0 Do you mean to say February 20217?
A Oh, sorry. February of 2021.
o) That's okay. And so at. what point -- about

when did Fair Fight reach out<io you?

A I don't remember ‘the exact date, but I
remember it was months - later.

0] Months later. So like, months had passed
since the last time you had tried to call the
elections office to figure out if your vote was
counted?

A It was so long ago that I don't remember the
exact date. But it could have been a month later,
months later -- I can't -- I can't say when it was. I
just don't remember.

Q Okay. That's fine. When you tried to reach
the elections office in Banks County, did you ever
leave a message with the County?

A I don't remember if that was possible.

Veritext Legal Solutions

800.808.4958 770.343.9696




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-11 Filed 05/16/22 Page 20 of 24

Jocelyn Heredia October 15, 2021

Fair Fight, Inc., Et Al. Vs. True The Vote, Et Al

Page 60

0 Did you ever file a complaint with the
County?

A No.

0 Did you ever email the County?

A No. I don't -- I don't even know where --
like, who to email about it.

Q Okay. So who did you call at Banks County,
if you went to the website?

A At this point in time, I den't remember. So
on the website, there was just --_ it said, like, you

know, polling hours; you know, information on how to
vote; and then it was, like, if you have any
questions, issues, whatever, the number was there.

0] Okay. Dooyou have a guess of about how many
times you called that number -- just a rough guess?

A Maybe, like, five times.

Q Okay. But you didn't try to reach out to
the County another -- or did you look through the
County website to find if there was an email address?

A I was looking for, like, any type of contact
information. So I feel like if there was an email, I
would have found it. All I remember was there being a
phone number.

0 Okay. Besides calling the elections office

and the voter rights hotline, did you call any
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other -- well, I guess you talked to the Secretary of
State, you said. Did you talk to any other hotlines

or people, officials, about your concerns about your

vote?

A I just talked to Christina when -- I just
talked to the hotline, and then Christina contacted me
from Fair Fight. So just them and the Banks County
contact.

Q Okay. Have you talked to anybody from Banks
County up to this point?

A No.

o] Were you ever ncotified that you had been

removed from the voter Iist?

A I have not been -- have I been contacted?

o) Correci.

A I have not been contacted.

o] So to your knowledge, you are still on that

voter list in Banks County?

A To my knowledge, I could still be on that
challenged voter list.

o] Okay. I'm just clarifying that no one's
contacted you, and that you haven't received anything
notifying you, that you're in jeopardy of being taken
off the list.

A You say in jeopardy of being taken off the
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list of challenged voters?

o) No; not of challenged voters. Of being
taken off the list of registered voters for Banks
County.

A Correct. I have not been contacted by
anyone from Banks County.

0 Okay. And just to clarify, since February
of this year, you haven't tried to reach back out to

Banks County to find out if your vote was counted?

A That's correct. I haven't contacted Banks
County. But I did -- I don't < <know, I guess
recently -- look at the voter registration page to see

if there was anything that would say if my vote was
counted or not.

0 Okay. And you're still able to log into the
Banks County‘-- are you still able to log into your

voter registration page for the State of Georgia?

A Yes.

Q And it still says that you're a registered
voter?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Just making sure. So after Fair
Fight reached out to you -- or I guess -- who from

Fair Fight reached out to you?

A The only person I remember is Christina.
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0 You haven't talked to anybody else involved
with Fair Fight about this?
A My lawyer, Uzoma; and that's all, I believe.
0] And did she approach you, I guess, about

being a plaintiff in this lawsuit?

MS. FORD: Objection to the extent this
is going to get into attorney-client, confidential
conversations.

MS. KRAMER: 1I'll rephrase.

BY MS. KRAMER:

0 Did you ask to be aplaintiff in this
lawsuit, or did someone ask you to be a plaintiff in
this lawsuit?

MS. FORD: Jocelyn, I'm just going to
object and instruct you not to answer, to the extent
that you're doing to reveal any conversations that you
had with me or Uzoma.

o] Who all did you communicate with regarding
your concerns about being intimidated as a voter?

A The hotline and Christina.

o] When you called the hotline, did they have
you fill out any kind of complaint or form or
documentation describing your experience?

A They took my story and what happened, and

that was all.
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o] And did they only communicate with you via

phone, or did they ever communicate with you in other

ways?
A Just phone. Oh -- yeah; just phone --
Q Do you know --
A -- the hotline.
Q Oh, sorry.
A So for the hotline, it was just phone. And

then I've communicated with Christina through email.

0 Okay. I understand that. I was just more
trying to verify for the hotline that you called. And
do you recall the name of that hotline or where you
found that phone number?

A I don't remember the phone number; don't
remember, like, the actual name of the hotline. I
just know it <was a voter rights hotline.

Q Okay. I'm trying to figure out where you
found that number. Did you Google it? Did you ask a
friend? How did you come across -- how did you know
to call this hotline?

A I'm pretty sure I Googled it.

o) Do you recall what you Googled when you were
trying to find out who to call?

A I think I -- so before I even called the

hotline, I did research on what being a challenged
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1 Of course, we'll instruct him to

2 answer, but if okay with you, I'd like to just

3 lodge a continuing objection for the record.

4 MS. MENG: Thank you, Melena, that's
5 noted. And I would say that these questions are
6 based off of documents that were produced, and

7 SO ——

8 MS. SIEBERT: ©No, of c¢ourse. Of

9 course.

10 BY MS. MENG:

11 Q So Mr. Davis, could you just take a

12 moment a take a look at this document in front of
13 you. I believe “it's an email chain, and it may be
14 multiple pages, but I'd like to just focus you on

15 the first page for now.

16 A Sorry, did you ask for a response?
17 Q Oh, no. I just wanted you to review
18 it, and let me know when you've had a chance to
19 look it over.

20 A I recall this email.

21 Q Okay. And do you agree that this 1is
22 an e-mail chain between you and Mr. Somerville
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1 about some efforts to begin analyzing data?
2 A Yes. A discussion was had early on
3 about replicating my work elsewhere, which is hard

4 to do because not a lot of people do the kind of
5 voter data analytics that I typically get involved
6 with, but this effort was basically to try to

7 replicate the NCOA processing that I did from

8 another source just to give it added credibility,
9 and this I believe was one of .the initial emails
10 where that was discussed.
11 Q Great. Soat the bottom of the first
12 page, in the last two paragraphs, you write, "Our

13 purpose here is to identify voters who moved

14 across county’  lines."

15 And then in the paragraph following,
16 you say, "This investigation has also revealed

17 many out of state voters, presumably mostly

18 students, military, but some of those are probably

19 also illegitimate."

20 Did I read that correctly?
21 A Yes.
22 Q Okay. And Mr. Davis, why did you
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1 single out military voters here?
2 A Well, when you file a National Change

3 of Address with the Postal Service, you have the

4 option of classifying it as temporary or

5 permanent, and when you're going to the beach for
6 the summer or something like that, you know, say

7 for six months, you can file a temporary change of
8 address, and when you do that, they will forward

9 your mail to the beach for you, but they won't

10 turn around and tell the folks sending you that

11 mail to update their database to your new address

12 because it's filed as a temporary change of

13 address.

14 50 what tends to happen is, because

15 you can't file a temporary change of address for
16 longer than one year, people who are moving

17 temporarily for longer than one year end up filing
18 those changes of address as permanent changes of

19 address when they leave, and then typically they
20 will file another permanent change of address when
21 they come back.

22 So a student going away for four years
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1 of college or a member of the military going away

2 for a tour of duty likely would file permanent
3 changes of address when they leave and permanent
4 changes of address when they come back, which

5 makes them difficult to distinguish in the data.

6 Q Okay. And you mentioned students as

7 well, so --

8 A I'm sorry?

9 0 You mentioned students as well in this
10 sentence and the answer that you just gave, so

11 could you just clarify?  When you noted that,

12 presumably, mostly Students and military are

13 out-of-state voters, but some of those are

14 probably also illegitimate, were you trying to

15 convey that these student and military voters

16 would be legitimate voters despite them being out

17 of state?

18 A No. In the situation where a person

19 leaves the state temporarily, even if it does

20 exceed the one year allowed by the Postal Service
21 to file as a temporary change of address,

22 a student or a member of the military who leaves
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1 for some period of time intending to return,
2 there's no issue with them voting.
3 Q Okay. So in the eventual list of

4 about 40,000 voter challenges that you and

5 Mr. Somerville pulled together, were the names of

6 voters who forwarded their -- were the names of

7 voters who forwarded their mail to an address on a
8 military base therefore excluded?

9 A Well, the number vou're quoting --

10 based on the number you're<guoting, I think I need
11 to draw some distinctions here.

12 That initial list that I output of

13 40,100 something; I'd have to look at the count,
14 that list I gdon't think is really relevant to this

15 case. That list was produced basically for the

16 Trump attorneys and for me to continue as a

17 starting point to work with. That was not used to
18 challenge voters in the runoff election.

19 The selection criteria for that file,

20 and the processing that I did for that file, were
21 different. So I just want to draw that

22 distinction.
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1 Q Sure. Thank you for that
2 clarification.
3 So in the list that you eventually did

4 pull together for voter challenges, did you

5 exclude names of military voters?
6 A Well, in the absentee voter database,
7 there are UOCAVA voters in there, and those are

8 military typically, or subject to.the Act, so

9 basically military and their families, so those

10 were dropped.

11 And Derek Scomerville, being

12 ex-military, 1s pretty familiar with where

13 military bases are, so to what extent we could, we
14 did attempt to suppress as much as possible what
15 could likely be members of the military. But at

16 the end of the day, ferreting out those kinds of

17 issues is what investigations are for.
18 So, you know, the number of records
19 was quite large, wasn't really possible for

20 private citizens like us to do those kinds of
21 investigations, so it's up to our county elections

22 officials or state elections officials, whatever
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1 Q Okay, that's helpful. Thank you,
2 Mr. Davis.
3 And just to ask a follow-up gquestion

4 to your point about this list that was provided to
5 the Trump attorneys, when was that list put

6 together, or when did that analysis begin?

7 A Well, the NCOA run that I did I

8 believe was November 25th, if I'm.not mistaken,

9 and an initial copy of that analysis would have
10 gone to them in some period not long thereafter.
11 Had that case continued, I certainly
12 would have revisited that file and refined it
13 more. That was “Just an initial draft, an initial

14 look, but iti'ended up not going farther, so that's

15 where 1t sat.

16 Q And when you say "case," can you

17 clarify what you mean by that? Was 1t a lawsuit
18 or -—-

19 A Well, there was a challenge filed by
20 the Trump attorneys and Republican Party Chairman
21 David Shafer that I had been in communication with
22 a number of attorneys about that case, and they
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1 had asked for my analysis.
2 There were a number of analysts that
3 they were in discussions with at the time
4 regarding various 1issues that different people had
5 raised.
6 Residency issues are in my lane, so to
7 speak, so I was asked to submit what I was aware
8 of that were issues with regard to those as they
9 related specifically to the general election.
10 Q Okay. And you<iiad said before that
11 that list was about 40,205 voters, correct?
12 A The initial version of it was roughly

13 40,000 voters, a<little more than that.

14 0 Ckay.

15 A You have a copy of it, by the way.
16 Q Okay, thank you.

17 So, Mitch, if you could pull up

18 Exhibit E for us and label it as Exhibit 5.

19 (Davis Exhibit 5 was marked

20 for identification.)

21 BY MS. MENG:

22 ) Mr. Davis, could you take a moment
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1 just to take a look at this email communication,
2 and let me know when you've been able to skim it
3 over.
4 A Yeah, I think -- I do recognize this,

5 and I think we basically just went over that.

6 Again, we had assumed that changes of
7 address that the Secretary of State likely picked
8 up when they did their list maintenance activities
9 in 2019, we didn't want to reccver that same old

10 ground.

11 O0.C.G.A. § 21-2-234 requires the

12 Secretary of State €0 do list maintenance in the
13 first six months:of every odd year, so they would
14 have done list maintenance activities, unless

15 prevented by some sort of special election or

16 something like that.

17 They would have done their list
18 maintenance activities in the first six months of
19 2019, so I recall limiting our challenged voters

20 to the period beyond that.
21 Q Okay. And at the top here, you see a

22 message that Mr. Somerville sent you that said,
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1 "Done. No way to catch them all, but I'm sure I
2 removed a few thousand records."
3 Do you see that?
4 A I think he's talking about the

5 military scrub I asked him to do.

6 Q Okay. And just to clarify the time
7 frame here, these e-mails were sent in the middle
8 of December, so based on what you.were saying with

9 the previous list that you did for the general

10 election, would this list have been for -- this
11 analysis have been for (the runoff election; 1is
12 that correct?

13 A Yes.

14 Q Ckay. And what did you believe

15 Mr. Somerville meant by there's no way to catch

16 them all?

17 A Well, the scrub he did would have been
18 military bases, people living on base, but there's
19 also people who live off base, some closer than

20 others.

21 So I think what he was saying is he

22 did his best effort to suppress as much military
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1 as possible, but there's no way to catch them all.
2 At the end of the day, as I said, you
3 know, that's what investigations are for, and so
4 it's a best efforts kind of situation. We made a

5 good-faith effort to do what we could with regard

6 to the military.

7 Q Okay. And how confident were you in

8 how accurate your analyses were in capturing or

9 removing the data that you were seeking to remove?
10 A As far as the military or --

11 Q Military, or any other type of

12 category, like student voters, et cetera.

13 A Well; I have a lot of experience doing

14 this kind of work, and I gave my best efforts to

15 the cause as well.

16 Our goal was to produce legitimate

17 challenges as much as possible. We didn't want to
18 inconvenience people unnecessarily, but at the

19 same time, it appears to me, or at least the data

20 indicates, that there likely were a lot of
21 unlawful votes that were cast in the general

22 election, and because we were seeing that, we were
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1 making an effort to try to prevent the same from

2 happening in the runoff.

3 So I have a lot of experience doing

4 this kind of stuff, and I gave it my best effort,
5 so I'm confident that I did the best that I could.
6 Q Okay. Mitch, do you mind pulling up

7 Exhibit F, and we can mark that as Exhibit 6.

8 (Davis Exhibit © was marked

9 for identification.)

10 BY MS. MENG:

11 Q Mr. Davis, (if you could take just a

12 moment to look over<this email communication.

13 A I recognize 1it.

14 Q Ckay. And this appears to be an email
15 sharing an analysis of challenged voters by

16 categories related to votes in the presidential

17 election, partisan affiliation, and I believe

18 geographic proximity to Atlanta; is that correct?
19 A I don't think it has to do with

20 partisan affiliation.

21 There was an email, I believe -- well,

22 not an email, but a text message from Derek asking
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1 if T happened to have a count by county, and I
2 just did a quick SQL query and generated one and

3 sent i1t to him because he had asked for it. And

4 then, of course, the count by county was based on
5 our final challenge 1list for the runoff.

6 And so having that, for whatever

7 reason, this is an analysis that he did. I didn't
8 particularly see the reason for ift, but apparently

9 he did, so, you know, it would probably be best to
10 ask him about it.

11 Q Okay. And  this grand total number of
12 39,941, would you say that's the number of voter

13 names that you had put together for challenges

14 related to the runoff election?

15 A I'd have to look for the exact number,
16 but it was in that range for sure. That more than
17 likely is the correct number. I don't have it in
18 front of me, so I can't --

19 0 Sure.

20 A I can't say that definitively.

21 Q So I guess posed another way, is the
22 county count and the number -- the analysis that
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1 0 Sure. Let's take a five-minute break

2 and come back at around 11:05, 11:06.
3 A Thank you so much.
4 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the

5 record. The time is 11:01.

o (A break was taken.)

7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going back on
8 the record. The time is 11:08 a.m.

9 BY MS. MENG:

10 0 So Mr. Davis, I'd like to ask you a

11 couple of questions about your interactions with

12 True the Vote.

13 How ‘many times would you say you've
14 been on calls with True The Vote or any

15 representative from True the Vote?

16 A I recall two. It's been a while.
17 I had just met -- well, I've never

18 actually met True the Vote people in person, but I
19 had been introduced to True the Vote shortly

20 before all of this started following the general
21 election. I had not known them for very long.

22 Q So sorry, Jjust to clarify that
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1 timeline, you said that you met them before the
2 general election; is that correct?
3 A I had a phone call with Gregg Phillips
4 following the general election; and then there was
5 a —-- 1t was a Zoom meeting that Catherine

6 Engelbrecht had hosted; and then I think there was
7 one occasion where I ended up speaking with her on
8 the phone at one point that I had.forgotten about
9 until recently when it came up.

10 Q Okay. And so you'd say that you've

11 communicated directly with Ms. Engelbrecht on the

12 phone about one timé that you can recall; is that
13 correct?

14 A I“recall one. I'm not discounting the
15 possibility there could have been others. There

16 was so much activity going on following the

17 general election, it's kind of a blur, but my best
18 recollection is one, but I'm not going to sit here
19 and say there might not have been others.

20 Q Okay. And do you -- have you ever

21 texted, messaged, or contacted Ms. Engelbrecht

22 directly in a non-phone conversation context?
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1 A There was a message that I sent her

2 during a Zoom call that she hosted, and then there

3 was another occasion that I recall texting her

4 with a concern about some activity that they were
5 going to be -- or they had proposed doing on the
6 web.

7 Q Okay. And have you ever had any

8 disagreements with anyone at True.the Vote?

9 A Quite a few.

10 Q Okay. Can you<just briefly describe

11 what some of those are? We may get into some

12 detail about that later, but if you could just

13 give a brief overview.
14 A I“was not on board with the philosophy
15 surrounding their challenge. I felt it was too

16 broad. From my own perspective, I wanted mine to
17 be more legitimate, more smaller. I wanted our

18 challenge to be focused.

19 As I think I mentioned before, I think
20 our average number of challenged voters per county
21 was under 250. Of course, the larger counties
22 with larger staffs would have received larger
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1 challenges, and some of the smallest counties
2 might have received very, very few. So I had a
3 disagreement in terms of the scope.
4 One of the issues that popped up early
5 on was my desire to make sure everyone was aware
6 that our challenge was not True the Vote's, and
7 vice versa, and I wanted people to be aware of the
8 difference in the philosophies suxrounding the

9 challenges.

10 And then the other instance that I
11 recall was there was some talk about publishing
12 voter data on the website, and I think I may have

13 misunderstood what they were doing, and I had
14 expressed a.concern about what I thought their

15 plans to be, but I think it turns out some of my

16 concerns were unfounded.

17 Q Okay. And you had referred to,

18 you know, wanting your challenges to be more

19 legitimate. Can you elaborate on what you mean by
20 "legitimate"?

21 A I don't mean to imply that theirs were
22 illegitimate. Theirs was broader than the one
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1 that I contemplated.

2 I felt like my approach was the
3 correct approach. I mean, obviously, that's why
4 we pursued ours the way that we did and with the

5 philosophy that we pursued it.

6 Does that answer your question?
7 0 Sure, it does.
8 So, Mitch, can we pull up Exhibit N?

9 And this will be labeled as Exhibit 12, please.
10 Mitch, are you<there? Oh, okay.

11 Thank you. Sorry about ‘that.

12 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: I'm sorry, N or M?
13 MS. MENG: N as in Nancy.

14 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: I gotcha. My bad.
15 There you go.

16 MS. MENG: And we'll mark this as

17 Exhibit 12.

18 (Davis Exhibit 12 was marked

19 for identification.)

20 BY MS. MENG:

21 Q So Mr. Davis, are you familiar with
22 this document?

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.comDigital Evidence Group C'rt 2022 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-12 Filed 05/16/22 Page 19 of 29

1/19/2022 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Mark A. Davis
Page 127

1 there was something either he or I wanted to

2 discuss in depth and didn't want to sit there and

3 type it all into a text message. There's a lot of

4 that all the way through these text messages.

5 I would assume we spoke. I don't

6 recall specifically if we spoke. I can't

7 really —--

8 Q And do you recall -- okay.

9 And do you recall .the content, if you
10 had had a call, what that would have been about?
11 A I don't. I'm sorry.

12 Q At the top of the screenshot on

13 page 173, there's a text message from

14 Mr. Somerville referring to a call scheduled for
15 10:00 a.m. that was postponed.

16 Were you on that call?

17 A I don't know what call that

18 references, or who 1t was with, or really anything
19 about it.

20 Q Okay. Mitch, can you go to page 180
21 and 181? So Mr. Davis, you'll see at the bottom
22 of 180, extending onto 181, you say, "Derek, I am

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.comDigital Evidence Group C'rt 2022 202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-12 Filed 05/16/22 Page 20 of 29

1/19/2022 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Mark A. Davis

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

Page 128

telling you you need to send me Catherine's
contact info and get us on a cal [sic] ASAP."
Do you see that?

A Did you have a question or --

Q Yeah. I just wanted to see if you had
located the text message I was speaking about.

A I see it, vyes.

Q Okay. Why did you urgently need

Ms. Engelbrecht's contact information?

A I don't remember. It may have been
about my concerns about ‘the website. I just don't
recall specifically“what that was about. It's

been quite some ‘time.

Q And you refer here to a call that you
were requesting between the three of you ASAP.

Do you remember if a call ever
resulted from your text message here?

A I don't recall having a call. I
suppose it may have been possible that we did, but
I don't recall any specifics about any call.

Q Mitch, can you go to page 189 and 1907

Actually, Mitch, can you just scroll up a little
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bit on 189 to the previous page to get a time and
date stamp? Okay, perfect.
So Mr. Davis, you see this a text
conversation starting on December 30th?
A Okay.
Q Okay. And you send Mr. Somerville a
text that reads, "Derek we need to stop this. 1If

they publish they will be flooded . with defamation

complaints." Do you see that.on page 1897
A I do, yes.
Q So when did you first hear about this

publishing effort that you referred to?

A I don't remember when or where or what
the context was, but I had heard there was going
to be a website launched that voter data was to be
loaded into that was going to collect information
from the public to be used for challenges, and my
perception at the time was that the complaints for
the public were going to be public as well.

Since that time, I've actually gotten
on that website, and they have a flowchart on

there about how it works, and I believe I may have
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1 misunderstood what they were doing.
2 It does not appear that -- while it
3 does appear publicly available voter data is being
4 used, 1t doesn't appear to indicate that
5 complaints from the general public are going to be
6 published to the public. It indicates instead
7 that those concerns would be compiled into
8 challenges for elections officials, which would be
9 the proper venue for those concerns.
10 So my panic, if you will, over that
11 may have been misplaced. My concerns may have
12 been misplaced.
13 Q And ‘so who did you hear about this
14 publication. effort from in the first instance?
15 MS. SIEBERT: And I'm just going to
16 object again to this line of questioning as
17 irrelevant.
18 Mark, you can go ahead and answer, but
19 I just wanted to assert that objection over this
20 line of questioning.
21 THE WITNESS: I honestly don't
22 remember. I think you asked that previously, and
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1 I don't remember where I heard about 1t. It's

2 been quite some time, and I just can't recall.

3 BY MS. MENG:

4 Q And you previously stated that you've
5 been on this website before.

6 Do you know the URL address or the

7 name of the website?

8 A I went just the other.day on the

9 True the Vote website, and it . was under one of the
10 categories, and I had found it, and I read the

11 information that was contained on the website, and
12 I saw their flowchart, and I was definitely very
13 concerned about ‘the approach that they were taking
14 when I first heard about it, but I may have

15 misunderstood what their intentions for the

16 website were.

17 Q So I think you previously stated the
18 website would publicize names and information of
19 voters; 1is that correct?
20 A My understanding is that they intended
21 to load the voter file in there, and of course,
22 the voter database is public record. So if that's
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1 that she waived whatever privileges applies.

2 A I recall her assuring me that their

3 plans had been vetted with legal counsel.

4 Q Sure, but did she say anything about

5 the motivations or the purpose of the website?

6 A Well, my understanding generally of

7 the purpose of the website was that it was to help
8 make voter data public so that it.could be easily
9 accessed by the public and reviewed by the public,
10 so that if the public saw issues with the voter

11 rolls, they could provide comments to

12 True the Vote that ¢ould be compiled together and
13 used to file challenges with the local elections
14 officials, if there were issues that needed to be
15 addressed.

16 That was my general understanding from
17 the get-go. I don't recall specifics of the

18 conversation, but I would imagine she reiterated
19 those goals.
20 Q Mitch, if you could scroll and put 190
21 and 191 on the screen.
22 So Mr. Davis, do you see here you, in
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1 relaying a copy of a text message to
2 Mr. Somerville, you say, "You can do it after the
3 election with a short list of guaranteed
4 defensible examples. I can help with that."
5 Do you see that?
6 A Yes.
7 Q So can you elaborate on what you meant
8 by a short list of guaranteed defensible examples?
9 A Well, if she, through the website,
10 identifies voters that may<ihiave voted illegally,
11 and those voters get referred to the Secretary of
12 State's office for arn investigation, and that
13 investigation concludes that they did vote
14 illegally and they're referred to the
15 Attorney General for prosecution, that's public
16 record. That's what I had in mind in those
17 comments.
18 Q Okay. And can you give us a little
19 bit more detail on your offering to help with
20 that?
21 A Well, I assume that she knows how to
22 submit a challenge, and she knows that she can
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1 also request an investigation from the Secretary
2 of State's office, and if she needed to contact
3 people to do that with, I could have given that to
4 her.
5 I didn't mean that I was going to get
6 involved and do all the heavy lifting, but I
7 certainly could offer her some of my advice on how
8 to proceed on those things.
9 But I think the point I was trying to
10 make there is that it's important to be pretty
11 careful before you start making public allegations
12 against any particular individual voter, and it's
13 best not to do that. As we've discussed
14 previously, .the appropriate venue for those
15 complaints would be our elections officials rather
16 than taking it public.
17 Q Okay. And on page 191, that text
18 message states, "But if you do it now you're
19 literally making good on one of the 'Threats'
20 alleged in their complaint."”
21 Do you see that?
22 A Right.
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1 Q What complaint are you referring to?

2 A Yours.

3 0 The one in this case, correct?

4 A Yes.

5 Q Okay. And did you believe the

6 publishing of voter challenge or allegation

7 information would be threatening?

8 A Well, we did not publish challenge

9 information on particular voters. That

10 information went to the appropriate venue.

11 Now, the public can request -- you

12 know, file an Open Records Request and obtain that
13 information, but<that's not us publishing it.

14 ) Ckay. And so, therefore, you had no
15 concerns 1f that information ended up being

16 public, as long as you yourself was not publishing
17 it?

18 A I don't have any control over Open

19 Records Requests to county governments.
20 I don't know what else to say.
21 Q And so in this message when you're
22 referring to the threats and the public
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1 information, you're referring to what exactly?

2 The information that you believed at the time

3 would be revealed on this website?

4 A Well, your organization has alleged

5 that True the Vote and myself has intimidated

6 voters. I'm not aware of any contact that we've

7 engaged in that would constitute intimidation of

8 any particular voter.

9 Challenging a voter on its face I

10 don't think is voter intimidation. That is a

11 First Amendment petition to your government for

12 redress of grievanceés, and it is specifically

13 protected under ‘Georgia law in 21-2-230. A

14 challenge isa lawful vehicle for petitioning your
15 government for redress of grievances. I don't

16 believe that constitutes voter intimidation. I

17 guess we're going to see what the court system

18 believes on that.

19 But as long as challenges are handled
20 appropriately, and we're not publishing them to
21 the public or trying to intimidate voters, I don't
22 see any issue with them. It seemed perfectly
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1 lawful to me.
2 Q And so just focusing on -- putting
3 aside challenges and just focusing on what at the
4 time you had described your understanding of what

5 would be made public on this particular website,

6 what information specifically did you perceive to
7 be making good on the threats in the Complaint in
8 this case that would have appeared on that

9 website?
10 A I feel like we've been over this
11 repeatedly, but I'll state it again.
12 My initial understanding of the
13 website was thatiit was going to be publishing
14 voter data, .which is public record, and collecting
15 allegations against individual voters from the

16 public, and my fear was that those were going to
17 be published on the website as well.

18 Since that time, I've come to believe
19 that my concerns were misplaced and that's not
20 actually going to be happening because the website
21 seems to be indicating that those issues with any

22 particular voter are going to be gathered and
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1 A. Yeah. I'm trying to remember.
2 So is the blue me and -- or is the blue Mark?
3 Q. The blue -- I believe you

4 produced this, so the blue should be you and

5 the black should be Mark.

6 A. Okay. I got it. I see the

7 word "dude" in blue. That is most certainly
8 me.

9 Well, let me read this again.
10 One moment.
11 (Document [s] reviewed.)
12 Yeah, again, so if this is me,
13 I don't recall what we're talking about
14 investigating. But at this point, we would

15 have brought a lot of attention to the data
16 issues in the voter file, most certainly,
17 which were, frankly, not flattering on the
18 performance of the Secretary of State's

19 office.

20 And through the same process,
21 we would have drawn attention to
22 registrations at places I mentioned; for
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1 example, commercial mail-receiving agencies
2 that are forbidden by law and those kind of
3 conditions underneath Georgia law. We would
4 have drawn a fair amount of attention to
5 that.
o So, again, this is recollection
7 that I'm trying to develop while we're
8 speaking, but I suspect what I'm talking
9 about 1s just the attention that we were
10 trying to bring to this isgsue, which I feel
11 we did a fairly good job of bringing
12 attention to, to thé issues in the voter
13 file.
14 Q. Okay. Thank you.
15 MS. FORD: And, Mitch, can we
16 go to page 137 and 138 of the same
17 exhibit.
18 (Complied.)
19 BY MS. FORD:
20 Q. Mr. Somerville, I realize we're
21 skipping around, so I do want to orient you.
22 We're back in December 2020, December 15th
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1 specifically.

2 A. Right.

3 0. And here, Mark says, "The

4 challenge files are out there."

5 And you respond, "10-4. I have
6 had no luck with our election super. What

7 was the total count for all the challenge

8 files?"

9 Mark responds, "39,141."

10 And you respond, "10-4. Let's
11 touch when you're able (to discuss next steps,
12 sharing with the public, et cetera."

13 And: just to clarify: This is

14 talking about”the challenges that you and

15 Mr. Davis prepared; correct?

16 A. Correct.

17 Q. Okay. Can you explain what you
18 meant by discussing next steps and sharing
19 with the public?
20 A. Well, again, this is looking
21 back on a conversation in December. So
22 I don't have a specific recollection of what
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1 was precisely on my mind at the time, but,
2 you know, we were sharing publicly, you
3 know -- I say "publicly," through social
4 media, that this effort was underway, which,
5 again, I know you're well aware of, as we've
6 produced all of those -- all of that
7 information.
8 And so I suspect that just is
9 how do we -- you know, how do.we -- again, at
10 that time -- so we have to<remember the
11 context, too; right?
12 So there's a tremendous amount
13 of noise regarding the election at that time.
14 How do we properly frame our effort, if asked
15 about it? You know, how do we equip others
16 who are engaged, again, like the folks that
17 volunteered, to properly discuss 1t?
18 I suspect that that's what
19 I intended by that.
20 Q. And just to --
21 A. Christina, if I can Jjust add.
22 0. Sure.
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1 A. You know, we can't overstate

2 how much vitriol was being spewed at that

3 point in time. And I know Mark didn't, and

4 I certainly didn't, want our effort to be

5 looped into any of that.

6 So all of our conversations

7 about this in the public, you know, I think

8 needed to be subject to the same level of

9 discipline as the work itself.

10 Q. To follow up o1 that --

11 I completely understand, you know, you —-- you
12 were trying to make<sure you were not part of
13 the vitriol.

14 Did you have a concern that

15 someone would take this and run with it and
16 it would become part of that narrative?

17 A. No, no, because I didn't think
18 that we left any room for that. But, again,
19 there was so much -- it was such a loud
20 period, if that makes sense.
21 And I'm cognizant of the forum
22 here, so I'm trying to be very specific. But
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1 start outing these -- I said, "Perhaps we

2 should start outing these abusers by name?"

3 I think what's instructive is

4 we've never outed anybody by name. So this

5 is back-and-forth banter, the tone of which

o it's hard to determine, at what time of day,
7 what was going on, what was happening.

8 Obviously we didn't helieve in

9 outing people by name because . we never outed
10 anybody by name. It's also posed as a

11 question. So I don't - I don't believe it's
12 anything.

13 Q. So ‘=-

14 A. Banter on Facebook.

15 Q. At the end of the day, do you

16 think it would be inappropriate to out voters
17 by name?

18 A. Well, I think my actions have

19 answered that question already. We'wve never
20 done it; we never intended to do it.
21 Q. So why publish this, then?
22 A. Publish what, Christina?
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1 Q. Publish this comment, which, in
2 my interpretation, at least, is not to one
3 person, but it's just you elaborating on your
4 initial post.
5 A. Well, the abusers, number one,
6 that I think I'm referencing are the ones
7 that are specifically manipulating the
8 system. And that's with reference to those
9 commercial mail-receiving agencies. So
10 that's number one.
11 Number two ‘i1s it's posed as a
12 question; it's not posed as a statement. I'm
13 not saying we should. I'm simply saying
14 perhaps we should.
15 Again, this is -- there's a lot
16 of context here. There are a lot of things
17 that you say in those contexts that don't
18 necessarily reveal a fundamental base
19 opinion.
20 We've got thousands upon
21 thousands upon thousands of lines of material
22 out there. You've drawn attention to one
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line in, literally, tens of thousands of
pages of context, I'm sure, that posed as a
rhetorical gquestion of: Should we out these
abusers by name?
We've never done it, not once.
So clearly we didn't think that was the right
thing to do. It's just a rhetorical question
in a stream of comments in Facebook.
Obviously didn't guide our process because we
never did that, nor would we.
MS. FORD: ¢ Can we please scroll
to the next page, Mitch.
(Complied.)
MS. FORD: Sorry. Actually,
can we scroll up just a little bit
more?
BY MS. FORD:
Q. Mr. Somerville, I know you say
you were being hyperbolic here and it was a
rhetorical question, but, you know, a
response from someone named Kristel Kretchmer

is, "Yes! Out the abusers by name."

Page 84

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.comDigital Evidence Group C'rt 2022

202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-13 Filed 05/16/22 Page 9 of 35

2/20/2022 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Derek Somerville

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

Page 85

Do you agree it seems that some
people took that suggestion seriously?

A. Well, based on what I'm looking
at, three people did. And that's one
person's opinion that -- I don't doubt that
there's plenty of people that think that all
these people should be -- that -- I don't
doubt there are people throughout.the state
that have any myriad of opiniocns on how
things should be handled. <That's not what
guided our effort.

So I, frankly, don't put a
great deal of weight in that exchange. But
I certainly.don't know who Kristel is. And
I don't agree with outing the abusers.

What's -- at the end of the
day, that's not what we did, that's not what
we would have done.

0. Okay.

A. It's hyperbolic. Exactly.
That's exactly what 1t is.

Q. And, Mr. Somerville, further
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1 down, about the middle of the way down, you

2 respond to someone named Brandon.

3 And you say, "As Mark states, I
4 would anticipate formal challenges being

5 filed in all counties for those voters who

6 appear ineligible. If that happens as

7 planned, all documentation will be public."

8 So did you think there was

9 value in publicizing voter information

10 through formal challenges?

11 A. Well, I'm ot sure how you're

12 interpreting that statement.

13 So what I intended by that, and
14 how I interpret it now, is that any challenge
15 that we do -- anytime you engage the

16 government, that material is going to become
17 public record.

18 Now, how the government treats
19 that is beyond our purview, it's beyond our
20 influence. But I would imagine that any
21 challenge that was filed, obviously that data
22 has to be made public, at least be made
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1 accessible to people who want it.

2 Certainly I didn't think that

3 the Boards of Elections were going to nail

4 these lists on the front door, and I don't

5 know that they did that. But I think all

6 exchange with the government ultimately needs
7 to be public.

8 Q. Did you have any congcerns that

9 once these lists became part of the public

10 record, that some of the individuals who

11 engaged in more of the (vitriol that you've

12 talked about would take some of these names
13 and run with it?

14 A. No. Maybe I'm giving too much
15 benefit to humanity.

16 But, no, I -- number one 1is

17 what's being -- what's being communicated to
18 the Board of Elections in these challenge

19 files is that an individual has a National
20 Change of Address record. That's —-- that
21 doesn't indicate anything other than there's
22 probable cause to believe that they may have
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1 moved.

2 So I don't think, number one,

3 that being on that list is inflammatory or

4 incendiary or would incite any type of

5 punitive response, because it's simply -- you
6 know, as much as these proceedings try to

7 have -- you know, use the word "targeted"

8 over and over and over again, thexe's no

9 people targeted here.

10 Data conditions are targeted,

11 and that is that there's probable cause to

12 believe, as provided for under the NVRA and
13 in our state cods, that the individual may

14 have moved.

15 And we have a very, very

16 balanced and very measured process for the

17 Board of Elections to use to follow up with
18 those individuals and determine whether or

19 not they have, in fact, moved.
20 So I've never viewed the
21 Section 230 challenges as an incendiary
22 process, if you will. And, in fact, I'm not
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1 quite certain how anybody would know, nor

2 care to know, why somebody was on a challenge
3 list, because the process is benign.

4 It's —-- you know, they don't

5 throw people in jail for being on that list,
6 that I'm aware of. You get a card from the

7 Board of Election that asks you whether or

8 not you moved.

9 So -- and, you know -- and I

10 want to make sure we're not conflating two

11 different issues. There's the CASS

12 certification that identified addresses that
13 were not legal addresses in Georgia.

14 That's different than the NCOA
15 list that indicated that people had moved on
16 the challenge list, which I believe is the

17 sole basis for the 39,000 individuals that we
18 challenged.

19 But, again, to conclude on this
20 piece: Going in, finding an individual line,
21 reasonably, you know, as you say, hyperbolic
22 exchange with a complete stranger on
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1 Facebook, I don't think that's demonstrative
2 of our intent or expectations of outcome.

3 I think our work product speaks for itself.

4 Q. Okay. Thank you.

5 MS. FORD: Mitch, we can take

6 this down. We finally won't have

7 exhibits for a minute.

8 BY MS. FORD:

9 0. Mr. Somerville, I*d like to ask
10 you a couple of gquestions about your

11 interactions with True (the Vote.

12 How many times would you say

13 you've been on calls with True the Vote or

14 any representatives from True the Vote?

15 And I should clarify. By

16 "calls," I mean a Zoom call, a -- you know...
17 A. If you will permit me just to

18 think, here.

19 0. Sure.
20 A. It's an impressively low
21 number.
22 (Pause.)
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1 I can't imagine I've had more

2 than a dozen calls, per se. And likely much
3 less. Very limited interaction, in my

4 definition.

5 Q. And how many times have you

6 directly communicated with Ms. Engelbrecht?
7 A. Again, an impressively low

8 number of times.

9 I've met once with her in

10 person. I believe in terms of conference

11 calls, which include related to these

12 proceedings, three <~ two or three, maybe.
13 Very few. And then in terms of one-on-one
14 conversations on the phone, half a dozen,

15 maybe.

16 Q. And I just want to clarify

17 that.

18 You're not speaking about

19 talking to her in the context of this
20 specific lawsuit; right?
21 A. No. I mean at one point, she
22 called and said, you know, "You're going to
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1 see that you've been named in a lawsuit."

2 You know -- so prior to these proceedings

3 going underway.

4 Q. Right.

5 Have you spoken with her one on
6 one since then?

7 A. I don't believe I have, no.

8 Q. Okay. Have you ever had any

9 disagreements with anyone at True the Vote?
10 A. Well, can we c¢larify "anyone"?
11 Or would you like me to?

12 I'm aware of two people at True
13 the Vote.

14 0. S50 I would include

15 Ms. Engelbrecht in this category. I would

16 include Ms. Holsworth in this category. And
17 I guess I can separately ask about Gregg

18 Phillips, who was affiliated but, my

19 understanding is, not officially.
20 A. Okay. So, for the record, I do
21 not know that second name. It's not familiar
22 to me at all.
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1 So the only interactions I've
2 had with anybody at True the Vote -- and I'm
3 now learning that Gregg is affiliated with
4 but not part of -- is I've spoken with
5 Ms. Engelbrecht and I've spoken with Gregg
6 Phillips.
7 In terms of disagreements --
8 and I'm not trying to be difficult here --
9 can you further qualify here what you mean by
10 "disagreement"?
11 Q. Sure.
12 Did youw ever have differences
13 of opinion on things they did or approaches
14 they were taking, I would say, specifically
15 about the voter challenge effort, you know,
16 starting in the fall/winter of 2020 and
17 onward?
18 A. Okay. Thank you for that.
19 You know -- well, I think,
20 first, as is evidenced by our work, we took
21 fundamentally different paths in our approach
22 to the NCOA effort.
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I think prior testimony,
I indicated that we were unaware that True
the Vote was engaged in the effort in
Georgia, and learned about it kind of at the
last minute. And if my memory serves me
correctly, literally maybe the day before the
press release.

So we did not have the benefit

of understanding nor influencing their

methodology.

So that said, with specific
kind of regard to your question: I felt at
the time -- I've<indicated it in prior

testimony and I shared with Catherine, I'm
sure —-- that I thought that their strategy
was broad, in terms of the record count.
Obviously we started with,

I think, you know, 580,000, or north of half
a million hits on the NCOA, and we whittled
that down to 39,000. And I believe that our
approach was the right approach for what we

were trying to accomplish.
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1 It's not the approach that True
2 the Vote took. So -- but I'm not also

3 privileged to what they were trying to

4 accomplish.

5 So I guess that's a roundabout

6 way of saying that had we to do this effort

7 over again, we would employ the same level of
8 discipline and same process. We would not

9 have adopted the approach that ‘True the Vote
10 took.

11 Q. Okay. And I guess separate

12 from the challenge 1ists, in terms of, you

13 know, a strategy: for publicity or media, did
14 you ever have any disagreements with them?

15 A. The only conversation we ever

16 had about media was the press release that

17 they were -- that Mark and I were included

18 in. But "disagreement" is probably strong.
19 It was just the -- well, let me answer your
20 question first.
21 So other than that press
22 release where Mark and my name appear, we
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1 never had any discussion around any other

2 press activities, to my recollection.

3 Q. Okay. Thank you.

4 MS. FORD: Mitch, could we

5 please pull up Exhibit [sic] N.

6 THE STENOGRAPHER: This will be
7 marked Exhibit 12.

8 (Somerville Exhibit 12,

9 E-mail string, was marked for

10 identification, as of this

11 date.)

12 BY MS. FORD:

13 Q. Mr.< Somerville, this appears to
14 be an e-mail you sent to Mr. Davis. And

15 I just want you to take a few seconds to

16 refresh your recollection. And let me know
17 when you're finished.

18 A. (Document[s] reviewed.)

19 Okay. For the parts that I can
20 see, I'm good.
21 Q. Okay. Great.
22 So this appears to me to be --
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let's start with the first e-mail that you
sent on December 16th at 10:22 p.m.

It appears to be an e-mail that
you sent to -- we actually don't -- the
recipients are blocked out, but it's a
message about thanking people for helping
with the elector challenges and giving some
instructions.

And it appears to me that you
forward this to Mr. Davis.< And you said,
"FYI, this went out to a few key people to
start getting it into the broader networks."

Do ‘you agree with that summary?

A. I do.

Q. Okay. Can you elaborate on who
the few key people were?

A. I'm sorry. I don't recall who

those would have been, nor is there any

reason —-- I must have just cut this into that
document. I don't -- I don't know who those
would have been. I apologize. It may come

to me as we discuss, but I don't recall.
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1 Q. Okay. And what did you mean by
2 "getting it into the broader networks"? What
3 networks was that in reference to?
4 A. Again, this is, you know,
5 over—a-year-old recollection. I suspect "the
6 broader networks" means the individuals
7 within the counties that intended to
8 volunteer to conduct a challenge.
9 Q. Okay.
10 A. Yeah, that "networks" is not
11 media. Let me be crystal clear, if that's
12 where you're headed. "The broader networks"
13 would be just the network of, largely,
14 grassroots individuals that wanted to
15 participate in the challenge process.
16 Q. Okay.
17 MS. FORD: Mitch, we can take
18 this down. And if we could pull up
19 Exhibit [sic] 0 and mark this as
20 Exhibit 13.
21 (Somerville Exhibit 13,
22 E-mail string, was marked for
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1 identification, as of this

2 date.)

3 BY MS. FORD:

4 Q. Mr. Somerville, 1f you could

5 Jjust take a few seconds to review. And let

6 me know when you've at least skimmed it.

7 A. (Document[s] reviewed.)

8 Okay. Thank you.

9 Q. Okay. This appears to be an

10 e-mail conversation between you and Mr. Davis
11 about an upcoming True (the Vote Zoom call.

12 Do you<agree with that summary?
13 A. I do.

14 0. Okay. And in this e-mail, you
15 state to Mr. Davis that the call is to talk
16 about next steps.

17 And what next steps were you

18 referring to?

19 A. Well, I don't know that I would
20 have actually known what specific next steps.
21 I think, literally, it would have meant
22 learning about what the next steps were.

www.DigitalEvidenceGroup.comDigital Evidence Group C'rt 2022

202-232-0646



Case 2:20-cv-00302-SCJ Document 156-13 Filed 05/16/22 Page 24 of 35

2/20/2022 Fair Fight, Inc. et al. v. True the Vote, et al. Derek Somerville
Page 100

1 So I'm not entirely certain

2 that we knew what those next steps were.

3 Q. Okay. That makes sense.

4 That's a fair point.

5 A. And, I'm sorry, that sounds

o like an -- evasive, but it's not. I don't

7 know. I think that's probably why we wanted
8 to be on that call.

9 And if my memory. serves me

10 correct, I don't know that<we were on the

11 original -- again, we may have learned about
12 the call late. I just don't recall. I do

13 recall the call,“but I don't recall this

14 specifically.

15 Q. And here, you say, the call

16 will be attended -- "Will be largely attended
17 as they invited all of their volunteers (many
18 of which were also our volunteers) ."

19 I understand that to mean, at
20 the point of going into the call, you already
21 had some visibility into the fact that the
22 two groups shared at least some volunteer
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1 looking at the first page here -- "...it's

2 why I was so pissed when I saw their press

3 release and it's also why I was concerned

4 when they shared with me their numbers."

5 And I would just ask you to

6 elaborate on what you meant by why you were

7 concerned when they shared numbers with you.

8 A. Yeah, sure.

9 And obviously in . that post, I'm
10 sure there's -- in that same message, there's
11 other context with respect to Mark and how he
12 felt. But the initial press release that I
13 received did not<acknowledge Mark at all.

14 S50 that was issue number one,

15 because, again, it's -- it is -- this is

16 Mark's -- I know I stressed this already, but
17 this is Mark's life passion. This is what he
18 does. He's incredibly good at it.

19 And I was highly sensitive to

20 the idea -- and it's not necessarily True the
21 Vote's fault. They would not have known

22 that. But they met with me, so I become the
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face of the effort. And that was not my
intent. And I was very concerned about that.

And I was probably using a
little bit of heightened language here to
show Mark empathy. But I was certainly
concerned -- I mean, not upset. I'm a combat
veteran. I don't upset the way most people
upset. But I was concerned about.the press
release mentioning -- excuse me —-- me and not
Mark.

And, of caolrse, we've never
adopted the methodology that everybody should
have been includ=d in the challenge list that
showed up on the NCOA, although I don't
know -- I mean, so many of those are inactive
individuals, to begin with, that haven't --
you know, again, so I don't know the
consequence of that.

It just wasn't the methodology
that we would have implemented, and obviously
not one we agreed with or we would have done

that ourselves.
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1 But I think, if you don't mind,
2 as you read into that same text bubble, if

3 you will, meaning that's the same context

4 that I shared with those two messages, is

5 making sure that -- as I say here, that I've
6 been a good vehicle to work that he's done.

7 So, you know, this is really

8 kind of an effort to empathize with Mark, to
9 calm him down and let him know that, Hey,

10 I appreciate what you do. <I appreciate your
11 expertise. They may not have understood that
12 or recognized that,“and it upset me as well.
13 Q. That makes sense.

14 A. And if I may, Christina, I know
15 I'm -——- I hate to continue to add to this.

16 I don't think that that was --
17 I think that was entirely inadvertent, that
18 Mark was -- felt -- you know, that I think

19 Mark was not permitted to speak.
20 So I don't believe that that
21 was deliberate, by any stretch of the
22 imagination. I think these are individuals
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1 that, you know -- that all of us had known
2 each other, literally, for a couple days at
3 that point.
4 So I do want to go on record as
5 saying I don't think that was deliberate.
6 Q. And by that, you just mean
7 Catherine allowing Mr. Davis to speak on the
8 call, or acknowledgment of his woxk?
9 A. Yeah. Correct. I don't
10 believe that was deliberate.
11 Q. Okay. And can you explain what
12 you meant at the very end of this text when
13 you say, "We're ‘simply pawns to them here in
14 Georgia"?
15 A. Yeah. You know, there is a
16 feeling, especially in the -- when you
17 initially meet organizations that come in
18 from out of town, that -- and this is not
19 specific to True the Vote. I need to stress
20 that.
21 This 1s the general feeling
22 that I had about this time, where we had all
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1 of these actors coming in from out of state

2 telling us about our data, telling us about

3 our problems.

4 And I was reasonably suspicious
5 of anybody and everybody that was popping

6 into Georgia all of a sudden to have

7 conversations about the integrity of our

8 elections, when we've been mindful of those

9 for years and years. And, indeed, Mark has
10 for three decades.

11 And so, you know, there's very
12 much a sense -- and<that comment isn't

13 necessarily directed at True the Vote, but

14 just the broader sense of organizations

15 coming in. They're going to do their thing,
16 they're going to leave, and we're going to be
17 left behind. And that's just how it is.

18 So that's the spirit in which

19 that was shared. And I'm probably -- again,
20 you know, I'm taking a bit of a poke at them
21 to empathize with Mark, to get him talking,
22 because he was pretty upset.
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1 Q. Thank you.

2 MS. FORD: And, Mitch, can we

3 please go to page 192 and 193.

4 BY MS. FORD:
